University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Spring 2021

Association of NSAIDs and Acetaminophen Prescriptions During Pregnancy With Autism Spectrum Disorders in the Child

Mohiuddin Ahsanul Kabir Chowdhury

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd

Part of the Epidemiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Chowdhury, M.(2021). Association of NSAIDs and Acetaminophen Prescriptions During Pregnancy With Autism Spectrum Disorders in the Child. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/6350

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact digres@mailbox.sc.edu.

ASSOCIATION OF NSAIDS AND ACETAMINOPHEN PRESCRIPTIONS DURING PREGNANCY WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS IN THE CHILD

by

Mohiuddin Ahsanul Kabir Chowdhury

Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery University of Chittagong, 2004

> Master of Public Health BRAC University, 2014

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Epidemiology

Arnold School of Public Health

University of South Carolina

2021

Accepted by:

Suzanne McDermott, Major Professor

Anwar Merchant, Major Professor

James W. Hardin, Committee Member

Bryan L. Love, Committee Member

Tracy L. Weldon, Interim Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

© Copyright by Mohiuddin Ahsanul Kabir Chowdhury, 2021 All Rights Reserved.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my family including my parents, my wife, and kids. My father, Late Dr. Bodiuzzaman Chowdhury, has been an inspiration for me though I lost him at a very early age. However, I have always tried to be like him and whenever I am demoralized during my PhD journey, I have been reenergized by the reminiscences of my father. Being widowed at the age of 33, my mother, Mrs. Rokeya Zaman, has been holding our family together for the last 40 years. She is the iron lady who made all her three sons well educated, well mannered, and better human beings. It is my mother for whom I am what I am. No word will be sufficient to express my gratitude to her. My wife, Salma Morium, has supported me in all sorts of issues during my stay in the USA, and was beside me whenever I needed her. She provided me with mental strength and taught how to focus and persevere. Finally, my kids, Ayaan and Alayna, were the windows through which I could have the refreshing air. They were my cheerleaders and I want to dedicate my dissertation to them as well.

Acknowledgements

I will always cherish the care and support I have received from the department of Epidemiology of Arnold School of Public Health, University of South Carolina. I want to acknowledge the contribution from Arnold Fellowship that has made my journey easier, smoother, and hassle free. The department chair, Dr. Anthony Alberg, has always been supportive to all the students and our graduate director, Dr. Linda Hazlett, was there to help whenever any issue arose, be it academic, social, or psychological. Another person, Ms. Emily Tedesco, the Program Coordinator, has been ever helpful to all the students. I would like to thank Dr. Suzanne McDermott for becoming my dissertation chair. I have never heard of a thesis supervisor who has been so prompt to provide feedback on one's works. I would also want to acknowledge the knowledgeable supports from my dissertation committee members, Drs. Anwar Merchant, James Hardin, and Bryan Love, without whom my journey would have been incomplete. The review of Dr. Nansi Boghossian on my proposal has helped me to open my insight to the data analysis for my manuscripts. Finally, I want to thank two graduate students who were beside me during my dissertation, Samuel Godfrey and Rajat Das Gupta. Samuel and I started this project in Summer 2019 together and performed the primary data linkage and cleaning. I will be ever grateful to him for his cooperation in this project. Rajat Das Gupta was a co-reviewer of the systematic review I have conducted.

Abstract

Neurodevelopmental disorders in children including Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) and Intellectual disability (ID) are the topics of growing concern and recently many studies looked for the risk factors of these disorders. Although antidepressants and antiepileptics consumption during pregnancy have been reported to be associated with ASD, the effect of NSAID or acetaminophen, two most common drugs used during pregnancy, have been under researched. We conducted a prospective cohort study linking data from Medicaid, Department of Education, and Department of Disabilities and Special Needs with birth certificate data from mothers and children between 2010-2017. Beside exposure variables, NSAID and acetaminophen, and outcome variables, ASD and ID, other covariates included were maternal age, race, BMI, preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, smoking, and infection which were ascertained using causal diagram. Later. we measured the direct and indirect effects of NSAID use on ID. For acetaminophen, we conducted systematic review and meta-analysis because of underrepresentation of acetaminophen prescription in our data sources. There were 153,562 mother-child pairs of whom 3859 mothers were exposed to NSAID prescription during pregnancy, and the rest were unexposed. Regarding the outcome variable, 1018 children were flagged as ASD only, 6300 as ID only, and 1939 children had ASD with ID. Our main exposure variable, NSAID prescription was associated with ID with an adjusted odds ratio of 1.52. The sensitivity analysis also gave us similar findings. We found a significant mediation effect of birthweight on ID. Very low birth weight mediated the association of NSAIDs on ID (OR:1.21, 95% CI: 1.06 - 1.40) when 40.9% of the effects of NSAIDs on ID was mediated through very low birthweight. When we categorized birthweight as low birth weight versus others, the direct effect was 1.42 (95% CI: 1.03-1.96) and the indirect effect was 1.10 (95% CI: 1.06-1.15) and 27.1% of the effects were mediated. The systematic review included 67,319 mother-child dyads in total. There was heterogeneity among the studies (I²: 94%). The pooled odds ratio for the association between acetaminophen exposure during pregnancy and ASD in the child was 1.29 (95% CI: 1.17, 1.41). Our findings warrant further research on the research question and inform the scientific community and the relevant stakeholders regarding the risks of taking NSAIDs and acetaminophen.

Preface

I have been a physician since 2004 in Bangladesh, a country from South Asia. After working as a clinician for about 8 years, I decided to switch my career to a public health professional to work for mass population, rather treating individual patients. To fulfil this goal, I got my MPH from James P Grant School of Public Health, BRAC University in 2013. Since then, I have been involved in public health research. I have been interested in autism research because the prevalence of autism has been increasing for the last few decades both in the USA and Bangladesh, my home country. I found it very interesting to look for the relationship between Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAID) intake during pregnancy by the mothers and development of autism in their offspring.

Table of Contents

Dedicati	oniii
Acknow	ledgementsiv
Abstract	v
Preface	vii
List of T	ables xi
List of F	igures xii
List of A	bbreviationsxiii
Chapter	1: Introduction
1.1.	Background 1
1.2.	Highlights of the dissertation
Chapter	2: Literature Review
2.1.	Factors associated with ASD
2.2.	Individual risk factors for ASD
2.3.	Proinflammatory conditions during pregnancy15
2.4.	NSAIDs
Chapter	3: Objectives and Methodology
3.1.	Objectives
3.2.	Methodology
3.3.	Methods used for systematic review

Chapter	4: Relationship of NSAID prescription during pregnancy among Medicaid insured mothers with autism spectrum disorders and intellectual disability among their children:	
1	findings from a prospective cohort study	28
4.1.	Abstract	29
4.2.	Introduction	30
4.3.	Methods	31
4.4.	Results	36
4.5.	Discussion	43
4.6.	References	46
4.7.	Supplementary material	57
Chapter	5: Prenatal exposure to acetaminophen and risk of autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis	58
5.1.	Abstract	59
5.2.	Introduction	60
5.3.	Methods	61
5.4.	Results	65
5.5.	Discussion	73
5.6.	References	76
Chapter l	6: NSAID usage during pregnancy, mediated through birthweight, is associated with the development of intellectual	0.4
(disability: findings from prospective data	84
6.1.	Abstract	85
6.2.	Introduction	86

	6.3.	Materials and Methods	88
	6.4.	Results	94
	6.5.	Discussion	97
	6.6.	References 1	.00
Cl	hapter	7: Discussion and Conclusion 1	10
	7.1.	Summary of results 1	.10
	7.2.	Discussion 1	.13
	7.3.	Limitation of the study 1	.17
	7.4.	Strengths of the study 1	.18
	7.5.	Conclusion 1	.19
R	eferenc	ces	20

List of Tables

Table 4.1: Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the study participants 38
Table 4.2: Adjusted and Unadjusted odds ratios 41
Table 4.3: Sensitivity analysis with 'alcohol use' as the unmeasured confounder
Table 4.4: Supplementary table presenting sub-group analysis
Table 5.1: Findings from risk of bias assessment 67
Table 5.2: Glossary of the selected articles 69
Table 5.3: Measures of association, analysis strategy, and variablesadjusted for in the final model in the selected articles
Table 6.1: Characteristics of the study participants [N = 153,562] 94
Table 6.2: Factors associated with Intellectual Disability (Adjusted Odds ratios)
Table 6.3: Total, direct, and indirect effects of NSAID prescriptionand intellectual disability mediated by preeclampsia andbirthweight using SAS mediation macro (Odds Ratio scale)97

List of Figures

Figure	3.1: Strobe flow chart for the study population	22
Figure	3.2: Directed acyclic graph showing the relationship among the variables	23
Figure	4.1: Study participants of the study analyzing the relationship of NSAID prescription during pregnancy with ASD and ID	33
Figure	4.2: Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) to ascertain the relationship among the variables	35
Figure	5.1: PICO framework for the systematic Review	52
Figure	5.2: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews (PRISMA) flow diagram for selecting the articles published to ascertain the association between acetaminophen intake during pregnancy and autism in the children through cohort study till September 2020	65
Figure	5.3: Forest plot showing Risk ratios (RRs) and confidence intervals (CIs) from a random effects meta-analysis of 3 cohort studies on the risk for autistic spectrum disorder after exposure to acetaminophen during pregnancy	73
Figure	6.1: DAG for the effect of NSAID on ID mediated by preeclampsia) 2
Figure	6.2: DAG for the effect of NSAID on ID mediated by birthweight) 2

List of Abbreviations

ADHD	Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
AIC	Akaike Information Criterion
ANC	Ante Natal Care
APA	American Psychiatric Association
ASD	Autism Spectrum Disorders
BIC	
BMI	Body Mass Index
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CNS	
COX	Cyclooxygenase
DSM-III	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Edition
DSM-IV	.Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition
DSM-V	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition
FHDR	Finish Hospital Discharge Register
GDM	Gestational Diabetes Mellitus
HR	

ID	Intellectual Disability
IDEA	Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
IL	Interleukins
INF	Interferons
IRB	Institutional Review Board
NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
NIDDK	National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases
NSAIDs	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory drugs
OCD	Obsessive Compulsive Disorder
OR	Odds Ratio
ОТС	Over the Counter
RR	Relative Risk
PDD-NOS	Pervasive Developmental Disorder – Not Otherwise Specified
SC	South Carolina
SCAN	South Carolina Community Assessment Network
SCDDSN	South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs
SCDE	South Carolina Department of Education
SCDHEC	South Carolina Department and Environment Control
SCDHHS	South Carolina the Department of Health and Human Services

SCRFA	South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs
SGA	Small for Gestational Age
TNF- α	Tumor Necrosis Factor- alpha
USPSTF	US Preventive Services Task Force

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Background

Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) comprise a set of early-onset neurodevelopmental syndromes which are characterized by difficulties in social communication and unusually restricted repetitive behavior and narrow interests.(1-3) The American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder, Fifth Edition (DSM-5) describes ASD as having two main areas of impairment: "social communication" and "restrictive, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests and activities" where the differences in sensory perception are included in the latter domain.(4) In 2012, the global prevalence of ASD was estimated to be 0.62% although the data were not available from many underdeveloped countries; (5) whereas, in the developed world, the prevalence has been estimated to be at least 1.5%.(6) Studies conducted in Asia, Europe, and North America reported prevalence of ASD between 1-2%.(7) In United States, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimated prevalence of ASD among children aged 8 years was 1.69% in 2014 which was about 2.5 times higher than the prevalence in 1990.(7-9)

The risk factors associated with ASD include both parental characteristics, and prenatal and perinatal exposures.(8, 10-25) Some old studies identified mothers with higher income and more education as high risk groups which might be caused by ascertainment bias or reporting bias since the more educated segment of the society seem to be more

concerned about the health related issues.(24, 25) Among the prenatal risk factors, the notable ones are advanced maternal or parental age,(11, 13, 16) prenatal medication use by the mother,(11, 16) parental psychiatric history of schizophrenia or psychosis,(14) prepregnancy overweight or obesity,(24, 25) presence of maternal hypertension or diabetes,(11, 12, 16, 24, 25) maternal fever during pregnancy,(26) short interval between pregnancies,(24, 25) excessive weight gain during pregnancy,(24, 25) preeclampsia,(15-17) and some genetic, inflammatory, and environmental factors.(18, 20-23) The perinatal factors related to ASD include maternal hemorrhage,(11, 12) preterm birth,(12-14, 16) abnormal presentation,(12, 14, 16) low Apgar scores,(12, 14) low birth weight,(12, 13, 16) induced labor,(24, 25) delayed labor,(24, 25) and major central nervous system (CNS) anomaly.(24, 25)

Although the etiology of ASD is still ambiguous, the studies suggested that the susceptibility to ASD could be partially attributable to genetic and familial factors.(27-29) Some familial diseases that have also been cited as risk factors for ASD include thyroid problems, diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, depression, anxiety, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), Obsessive Compulsive Disorders (OCD) or speech and language problems in one or both of the parents.(29) However, some studies suggested that children exposed prenatally to antidepressants are at higher risk of ASDs.(30-34) At mechanistic level, inflammatory and apoptotic mechanisms have also been reported to be responsible for ASD since inflammatory mediators like Interleukins (IL), Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF- α), and Interferons are found at higher levels and Tryptophan is found deficient among children with autism.(35-43) Maternal intake of Vitamin D, Vitamin B, and Folic Acid during pregnancy has been shown to be moderately protective against

ASD.(44-50) Prenatal antibiotics exposure was found to be a mild risk for ASD in a few studies, however it was not possible to distinguish between the infection associated with the antibiotic use and the antibiotic alone.(51) Higher concentration of umbilical cord acetaminophen metabolites has been reported to be significantly associated with higher odds of ASDs in comparison to lower concentrations in a recent study,(52) although the half-life of acetaminophen is 2-3 hours after therapeutic dosage.(53) Perinatal induction of labor and postnatal exposure of anesthetics and antibiotics are also associated with higher ASD risk.(51, 54)

Recent literature and systematic reviews in the past five years suggest proinflammatory conditions during pregnancy including diabetes,(55-57) hypertension/pre-eclampsia,(17, 19, 58, 59) pre-pregnancy obesity,(56, 57, 60) and infections,(61-63) are associated with ASD.(64) Since proinflammatory conditions of the mothers are associated with higher risk, it is plausible that anti-inflammatory drug intake during pregnancy could have protective effects. However, despite having evidence of association of proinflammatory conditions with ASD, there have been limited research on the impact of maternal intake of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on ASD of the offspring. Hence, this study aims to assess the relationship between NSAIDs intake during pregnancy and ASD of the children.

1.2. Highlights of the dissertation

This dissertation is presented in eight chapters. Chapter 1 contains a brief background and notion of the contents of the whole paper. Chapter 2 presents the literature review conducted in preparation for this dissertation. The 3rd chapter delineates the objectives of the study along with the detailed methodology the author utilized to answer the research questions. Chapter 4, Chapter 5, and Chapter 6 presents three manuscripts developed for this dissertation. In Chapter 4, we looked for the relationship of NSAID prescription during pregnancy among Medicaid insured mothers associated with ASD and ID among their children. Chapter 5 is a systematic review and meta-analysis that explored the prenatal exposure of acetaminophen on ASD. We found an association between NSAID with Intellectual disability and in Chapter 6 we looked for the mediation effect of preeclampsia and birthweight between our exposure and outcome. Chapter 7 includes a overall discussion that ties all the three papers together and finally, Chapter 8 contains the bibliography. In this paper, we utilized the Vancouver style for referencing.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1. Autism Spectrum Disorders: Definition and diagnostic criteria

In 1943, after careful and systematic observations on 11 children with a previously unrecognized syndrome, Leo Kanner described their specific characteristics, later termed as autism, to differentiate from children with other psychiatric disorders.(65) Despite providing vivid description of the characteristics, this paper did not operationalize the diagnostic criteria. Later, in 1956, Kanner and Eisenberg, identified five diagnostic features of which they selected two criteria, a profound lack of affective contact, and repetitive, ritualistic behavior, as essential.(66) This reduction of essential symptoms to two led to much confusions and arguments among the clinicians, diagnosticians, scientists regarding defining autism.(67, 68) After a couple of decades, Rutter (1978) suggested four criteria for defining childhood autism with many examples from his own research and clinical experiences.(67-69) These were -(a) Impaired social development which has a number of special characteristics out of keeping with the child's intellectual level; (b) delayed and deviant language development that also has certain defined features and is out of keeping with the child's intellectual level; (c) 'insistence on sameness' as shown by stereotyped play patterns, abnormal preoccupations or resistance to change, and (4) onset before 30 months.(67) The American Psychiatric Association (APA) used 'pervasive developmental disorder' for the general category of autism in Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Edition (DSM-III) and defined 'infantile autism' as lack of responsiveness to others; language absence or abnormalities; resistance to change or attachment to objects; the absence of schizophrenic features; and onset before 30 months.(65, 66) APA revised the criteria in 1987 and 1994.(66, 67) Most recently in 2013, the American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V) describes autism as having two main areas of impairment: "social communication" and "restrictive, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests and activities" where the differences in sensory perception are included in the latter domain.(4) In DSM-V there were some key changes to ASD diagnosis the most important of which was the single diagnosis of ASD that replaced the different subdivisions in the earlier versions – autistic disorder, Asperger's disorder, and pervasive developmental disorder – not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS).(4)

2.1. Factors associated with ASD

2.1.1. Risk groups

The children of the mothers of advanced age group were found to be more susceptible to ASD in different studies.(11, 13, 16, 24, 68-70) One of those studies also reported high maternal parity as a risk factor for ASD of the children although this has neither been supported nor rejected by other studies.(24) A few studies suggested that genetic changes responsible for ASD have been correlated with paternal age.(13, 71-73) According to some studies, women from higher income groups are more likely to have a child diagnosed as ASD.(24, 25) A number of studies postulated air pollution as an risk factor for ASD, suggesting that urban population are more prone to have ASD.(6, 74-79)

2.1.2. Familial or genetic factors

It has been evident that there is a huge genetic heterogeneity in ASD, involving both a locus heterogeneity and an allelic heterogeneity.(80, 81) The concordance in ASD diagnosis is observed in identical twin pairs at rates of 60-90%, whereas rates among nonidentical twins are estimated at 3-31%.(82-88) Besides, specific genetic syndromes like Tuberous sclerosis, epilepsy, Rett syndrome, Fragile-X syndrome, or cytogenetic abnormalities are found to be associated with ASD.(89-94) Overall, it has been suggested that genetic factors play an important role in causation of ASD.

2.1.3. Prenatal factors

Several studies have been done to identify prenatal risk factors associated with ASD. Some factors like maternal place of residence like geographic areas with cooler climate,(11, 13, 16) pre-pregnancy overweight,(24, 25) presence of pre-pregnancy hypertension or diabetes,(11, 12, 16, 24, 25, 95) history of multiple pregnancy,(69) and parental history of psychiatric illnesses, especially schizophrenia and bipolar disorder.(14, 95, 96) These factors can be termed as pre-pregnancy or general risk factors for ASD which may also include short interval between pregnancies,(24, 25) and previous fetal loss.(11, 97) On the other hand, there are some factors which are experienced by the mothers during the pregnancy period. These factors are prenatal medication use,(11, 16) maternal fever,(26) excessive weight gain during pregnancy,(24, 25) gestational diabetes,(11) and preeclampsia.(10, 11, 13, 15-17, 50, 69, 95) Other prenatal risk factors are maternal exposure of second-hand smoke and air pollution,(6, 69, 77, 78, 95, 98) gestational respiratory infections,(68) and fetal distress.(68) Conversely, maternal intake of folic acid, vitamin D,(99, 100) and Vitamin B complex(101) have been associated with reduction in

ASD risk.(6, 102-104) Moreover, several of these vitamins and minerals are found in lower concentrations in children with ASD compared to their peers.(101, 105)

2.1.4. Perinatal factors

Several research activities identified a number of perinatal and postnatal factors associated with ASD. Among the maternal perinatal factors, maternal hemorrhage,(11, 12, 69, 98) induced, obstructed, or delayed labor,(24, 25, 68, 69) and breech presentation(24) have been reported. The perinatal factors related to the children include preterm birth and prematurity,(12-14, 16, 68-70) abnormal presentation,(12, 14, 16) low Apgar scores,(12, 14) low birth weight,(12, 13, 16, 69) being male in sex,(70) intrapartum hypoxia,(13, 68, 69) delayed crying,(68) major CNS anomaly,(24, 25) macrocephaly,(94) and neonatal jaundice.(68)

2.2. Individual risk factors for ASD

2.2.1. Maternal age

There have been different studies that put forth evidence of an association between advanced maternal age and ASD of their children.(11, 13, 16, 24, 68-70) Yaniv et al. (2010) conducted a retrospective cohort study among 45,033 nulliparous women with singleton gestation and found a significant linear association between maternal age and adverse perinatal outcomes.(106) A case cohort study with 1994 birth cohort in the US documented a 30% increase in odds of having ASD among the children of mothers aged \geq 35 years in comparison to mothers aged 25-29 years.(107) Another cohort study using Danish National Psychiatric Register found that maternal age was associated with a greater risk of ASD (hazard ratios ranging from 1.21 (1.10-1.34) to 1.65 (1.09-2.48) depending on combinations of different age categories.(108) A systematic review and meta-analysis, conducted by Sandin et al. (2012), included 16 epidemiological studies with 25,687 ASD cases and 8,655,576 controls. This study reported an adjusted relative risk of 1.52 (1.12-1.92) comparing mothers \geq 35 years with mothers aged 25-29 years.(109) A relatively recent systematic review found that the lowest maternal age category was associated with a reduced risk of ASD in the offspring and an increased risk among the older age categories.(110) A paper by Lee et al. (2014) suggested that the increased risk of ASD in the offspring of older mothers probably involves the interaction of multiple risk factors.(111)

2.2.2. Maternal race

Maternal race is reported to be associated with ASD in offspring in many studies conducted in different parts of the world, although the results are not consistent. A population-based study in the US found that white children had a lower risk of having ASD in comparison to foreign born black mothers, central/south American, Filipino and Vietnamese, US born Hispanics and African American children.(112) In a retrospective cohort study in Australia indigenous women were 50% less likely to have a child with ASD than Caucasian, non-immigrant women. Conversely, the black women had 3.5 times the odds of having a child with ASD than Caucasian women.(113) However, in a secondary data analysis from the Pennsylvania Autism and Developmental Disabilities Surveillance Program reported, the authors reported a higher prevalence of ASD diagnosed among the white children compared to African American children using DSM-IV criteria (92% vs 81%; p = .005).(114) Overall, among hundreds of reports there are few differences in the prevalence of ASD by race, however diagnosis in African American children occurs later

than in White children.(115, 116) These differences are likely caused by racial disparity in detection or identification of ASD among children.(115, 117)

2.2.3. Preeclampsia

Clinically, preeclampsia is defined by hypertension and proteinuria during pregnancy, with or without pathologic edema. However, pathologically, it is a disorder of widespread vascular endothelial malfunction and vasospasm that occurs after 20 weeks of gestation and can present as late as 4-6 weeks postpartum.(118) As mentioned earlier, preeclampsia is an established risk factor for ASD.(10, 11, 13, 15-17, 19, 50, 58, 64, 69, 95) The Childhood autism risks from Genetics and the Environment (CHARGE) study, a population based case-control study, found that children with ASD were more than twice as likely to have been exposed to preeclampsia in utero in comparison to control children.(19) Dachew et al. (2018) conducted a meta-analysis of 10 epidemiological studies and concluded that the risk of ASD was 32% higher in offspring of the mothers having preeclampsia in comparison of the children whose mothers were not preeclamptic.(58) An analysis of 87,677 births insured by South Carolina Medicaid program between 1996-2002 found maternal preeclampsia to be significantly associated with higher odds of ASD.(17) A very recent meta-analysis of relevant case-control and cohort studies revealed that the pooled estimates of ORs and RRs for association between preeclampsia and ASD are statistically significant [OR:1.36 (1.12-1.60) & RR: 1.30 (1.20-1.41)].(119) A population based cohort study in Sweden involving all singleton live births between 1982-2010 reported that preeclampsia was associated with a 25% increase in likelihood of ASD [HR:1.25 (1.19-1.30)].(59) This same group conducted a cross-family analysis to examine the intergenerational association between preeclampsia and ASD and reported a 25% increase in the likelihood of ASD of the children if the mothers had preeclampsia.(120)

2.2.4. Gestational diabetes mellitus

According to National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK), gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) develops during pregnancy and is usually diagnosed in the 24th to 28th week of pregnancy.(121) A retrospective longitudinal cohort study including 322,323 singleton children found that maternal GDM diagnosed by 26 weeks' gestation was found to be significantly associated with ASD in offspring.(55) A study with a subset of Boston birth cohort involving 2734 children who completed at least one postnatal study visit between 1998 and 2014 found that GDM, when combined with obesity, significantly increased the risk of ASD [HR: 3.04 (1.21-7.63)].(57) Sacks et al. (2016) conducted a population based cohort study with 231,271 deliveries and found a possible association with GDM and ASD.(122) A systematic review and meta-analysis of 16 epidemiological studies examining the association between GDM and ASD demonstrated a significant association with 48% increase in risk of ASD in offspring if the mothers had GDM.(123) A recent meta-analysis looking for prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal factors associated with ASD also endorsed GDM as a potential risk factor for autism.(124) Another meta-analysis that looked at the risk of ASD in the offspring among mothers with diabetes both before and during pregnancy found that the risk of ASD among mothers with GDM was 48% more in comparison to the mothers without GDM.(125) Thus, an increasing body of evidence has been being generated in favor of GDM to be a risk factor for ASD.

2.2.5. Infection

The relationship between prenatal infections and ASD is complicated by the numerous types of infectious agents, body system infected and severity of the infection. A study was conducted using the Danish Medical Birth Register and was restricted to infections requiring hospitalizations only. This study documented a three-fold increase of ASD risk for mothers hospitalized due to viral infection in the first trimester, and a 42% increase of risk for mothers hospitalized due to bacterial infection in the second trimester.(126) Goines et al. (2011) found that increased mid-gestational IFN- γ , IL-4, and IL-5 were associated with increased risk of ASD which is suggestive of the association between maternal infection during pregnancy and ASD.(127) There are additional studies that report an association between maternal infection and ASD risk.(128, 129) A population based cohort study in Taiwan found a significant association of visits for genital infection and bacterial infection in the third trimester with ASD.(130) As a potential indicator of inflammation, maternal fever has also been found to be associated with ASD in offspring.(131) And in terms of infectious agents influenza(26) and cytomegalovirus (132) have been associated with risk factors for ASD. A meta-analysis involving more than 40,000 ASD cases from 15 epidemiological studies showed that maternal infection during pregnancy was significantly associated with the increased risk of ASD and the risk was modulated by the type of infectious agent, time of exposure, site of infection, and hospitalization.(133)

2.2.6. Obesity

Despite the fact that there are mixed reports about the association of maternal prepregnancy obesity and ASD, a meta-analysis found an increased risk of ASD in children of women who were obese during pregnancy with the pooled adjusted OR of 1.47 (95% CI: 1.24-1.74).(134) The CHARGE study also reported similar results [OR: 1.67(1.10-2.56)].(56) The Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study, a prospective population based study involving 92,909 children, reported 73% increased risk of ASD in children of obese parents in comparison to normal weight ones.(135) Many other studies identified maternal obesity as a potential risk factor for developing ASD or other neuropsychiatric disorders in the offspring.(136-141) Some other studies documented similar results by describing the association of ASD with maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index.(142-144)

2.2.7. Smoking and air pollution

Several studies examined the association between maternal smoking during pregnancy and ASD risk, but the results have been equivocal.(145-150) A number of metaanalyses and other studies were performed that found no association between smoking and ASD in offspring.(145, 147, 149) A case-control study conducted with 3,958 ASD cases and 38,983 controls reported the association was confounded by sociodemographic characteristics of parents such as education, income, and occupation.(146) A populationbased nested case-control study from Finish Hospital Discharge Register (FHDR) documented 20% higher risk among the children whose mothers smoked throughout the pregnancy period in comparison to those whose mothers were non-smokers. However, they found that smoking exposure limited to the first trimester was not associated with ASD.(150) An interesting study by Golding et al. (2017) found an association between maternal grandmother smoking in pregnancy and granddaughters having adverse scores in Social Communication and Repetitive Behavior measures were independently predictive of diagnosed autism.(151) In addition, a meta-analysis utilized 'population smoking metrics' (*population smoking prevalence to include second hand smoke*) as moderators and found significant results using World Health Organization data suggesting the importance of investigating this research question more rigorously.(148) Second-hand smoking exposure of the mother during pregnancy and air pollution have also been suggested as a risk factor for ASD in a number of studies. (6, 69, 77, 78, 95, 98)

2.2.8. Gestational age and birthweight

A retrospective cohort study, conducted in California USA, found increased ASD risk in preterm Small for gestational Age (SGA) infants.(152) Lampi et el. (2012) conducted a population-based case-control study in Finland and found increased risk for childhood autism among very low (<1500 g) and moderately low (<2500 g) birthweight, very low gestational age (less than 32 weeks), and SGA infants.(153) A retrospective cohort study in Atlanta, Georgia demonstrated two-fold increased risk of ASD for infants with birthweight of <2500 g and preterm birth at <33 weeks' gestation.(154) Another large study in Canada with a total of 218,110 singleton births observed a gradual increased risk of ASD with shorter gestation.(155) A prospective multi-center birth cohort study of 10-year-old children born at 23-27 weeks' gestation found that low gestational age and very low birthweight are strongly associated with ASD.(156) Thus, through the evidence generated from different types of epidemiological studies, it can be inferred that both gestational age (low) and birthweight (low) are important risk factors for development of ASD in children.

2.2.9. Drugs

Different drugs and pollutants have been reported as risk factors for ASD. A large population-based cohort study in Denmark following 655615 children reported that

maternal use of valproate during pregnancy, even after adjusting for maternal epilepsy, was associated with a significantly increased risk of ASD.(157) Similar results were found in many other studies regarding the relationship of antiepileptic drug use during pregnancy and ASD.(158-161). A population-based nested case-control study in Sweden reported the association of in-utero exposure to both selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) and non-selective monoamine reuptake inhibitors (tricyclic antidepressants) with the increased risk of ASD.(162) This finding was supported by a cohort study conducted in Quebec, Canada where they found that SSRIs, taken during second and/or third trimester, increase the risk of ASD in children, even after controlling for maternal depression.(30) However, some other studies nullified this finding which warrants further studies.(31, 34, 163) Maternal use of acetaminophen was suggested to be related to ASD in offspring through empirical data and ecological studies.(52, 164-168) As mentioned earlier, perinatal induction of labor and postnatal exposure of anesthetics and antibiotics are also associated with higher ASD risk(51, 54).

2.3. Proinflammatory conditions during pregnancy

A proinflammatory condition is a phenomenon which triggers the immune cells to be active and thus promotes inflammation(169-171) and a stress response(171). The pregnancy period is proinflammatory since it is associated with immunosuppression especially in the first trimester(172, 173). The literature has identified a few proinflammatory conditions which are associated with ASD and those are preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, infection, and obesity. It has been found that the inflammatory cytokine production is increased by pro-inflammatory T-cells along with a decrease in regulatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines among preeclamptic women resulting in a proinflammatory state(174-176). Gestational diabetes has also been reported to increase the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1(177, 178). Any infection during pregnancy is also regarded as proinflammatory since it is associated with increased production of TNF- α and IL-1 and oxidative stress(179-182). Maternal obesity, is also associated with increased secretion of chemokines such as leptin, IL-6, TNF- α , monocyte chemoattractant factor-1, and resistin(183). Cytokines also reduces production of adiponectin, and thus is likely to be increased in pro-inflammatory state and oxidative stress(184). All those proinflammatory conditions have been cited as risk factors for ASD in different studies as mentioned above in the prior sections.(10, 11, 13, 15-17, 50, 69, 95)

2.4. NSAIDs

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are a class of analgesic medications that are widely used globally to reduce pain, fever, and inflammation(185). Most NSAIDs are over the counter medications that do not require a prescription, however some NSAIDs are combined with prescription drug. NSAIDs have several effects including anti-inflammation, analgesic, antipyretic effects and inhibition of thrombocyte aggregation(185). They are also known as cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors since they work by inhibiting the activity of COX-1 and COX-2 enzymes(186). Most NSAIDs are non-selective inhibiting both, whereas some others are selective to COX-2 only and are known as COX-2 inhibitors(187). Non-selective NSAIDs include salicylates (Aspirin), Propionic acid derivatives (Ibuprofen, Naproxen, Ketoprofen, Oxaprozin), Acetic acid Ketorolac, Diclofenac, Aceclofenac), derivatives (Indomethacin, Enolic acid derivatives/Oxicams (Piroxicam, Tenoxicam, Phenylbutazone), Anthranilic acid derivatives/Fenamates (Mefenamic acid, Meclofenamic acid). On the other hand selective COX-2 inhibitors/Coxibs are Celecoxib, Rofecoxib, and Valdecoxib.(188) In some states over-the-counter medications are covered by Medicaid plans and thus there is a record of their dispensing in the Medicaid Prescription file.

NSAIDs, if given in high doses during pregnancy, are potential risk factors for adverse maternal and fetal effects like prolongation of labor in mothers, spontaneous abortion/miscarriage, low birth weight, constriction of the ductus arteriosus, renal dysfunction, congenital cardiac malformations, orofacial clefts and hemostatic abnormalities in the fetus and neonates.(189-193) However, despite these adverse effects, US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends 81mg of Aspirin daily, which is an NSAID, as preventive medication in women at risk for pre-eclampsia.(194) However, we could not find any literature that described the effect of Aspirin, or any other NSAID intake during pregnancy on the brain and behavioral development of the offspring.

Chapter 3: Objectives and Methodology

3.1. Objectives

The main goal of this study was to ascertain the relationship between NSAIDs and acetaminophen exposure during pregnancy and development of ASD among the offspring. The specific objectives were:

Specific Aim I: To measure the prevalence of ASD and ID among the 3-7 years' children of Medicaid insured mothers in South Carolina during 2010-2017

Specific Aim II: To measure the association of NSAIDs and acetaminophen prescribed for the women during pregnancy and development of ASD and ID among their children in South Carolina during 2010-2017

Specific Aim III: To measure the direct and indirect effect of NSAIDs on ASD considering the birthweight and preeclampsia as potential mediators

3.2. Methodology

3.2.1. Data Sources

Primarily the study has been conducted utilizing four different South Carolina public data sources that were linked through a unique identifier. The data sources included South Carolina Medicaid individual billing files from 2010-2017, South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (SCDDSN) service files, South Carolina Department of Education SCDE) school records, and South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (SCDHEC) Vital Records from 2010-2017.

Medicaid data has been commonly used as an administrative database in health services research.(195) In South Carolina the Department of Health and Human Services (SCDHHS) is the Medicaid agency and the data are shared between SCDHHS and the SC Revenue and Fiscal Affairs (SCRFA) office that is the repository of numerous state health and social service datasets.

Medicaid data files contain information that is used for billing including diagnosis and procedure codes from hospital, outpatient and community health services utilization, long term care, and pharmacy/medication claims.(195) The Medicaid dataset allowed us to link mothers to their children using unique identifiers for the individuals and the motherchild pairs. This same data source allowed us to identify children with ASD using the billing claims, which used ICD9 and ICD10 codes for diagnosis and treatment services. According to ICD-9 criteria, autism was assigned to the code 299.00 for current or active state, and code 299.01 for residual state. We also looked for other components of ASD that include Asperger syndrome (299.80 to 299.81) and pervasive developmental disorder, not otherwise specified (299.90 to 299.91). For the datasets after 2015, we used ICD-10 codes to identify children with ASD and looked for codes F84.0 to F84.9. Each claim record had either an ICD-9 or, an ICD-10 code to justify the service provided and we required that an inpatient hospital stay had an Autism code or there were at least two Autism codes used in the outpatient setting at least 10 days apart. The requirement for two codes in the outpatient setting allowed excluding children who had the code for evaluation, but the child tested negative.

The second data source was the SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (SCDDSN) which provides direct services to children and adults with qualifying disabilities. In the SCDDSN dataset there is an indicator variable that is used to identify children who have been tested and diagnosed with ASD, including those who are receiving early intervention autism services through the SCDDSN Autism Division.(196)

We also used the SC Department of Education (SCDE) dataset to identify additional children who were receiving either Part B or part C 'Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA)' early intervention and school based special education services for Autism in public schools. Autism, as defined by IDEA, refers to "a developmental disability significantly affecting verbal and nonverbal communication and social interaction, generally evident before age three that adversely affects a child's educational performance".(48)

Birth certificate data has been available at South Carolina Department and Environment Control (SCDHEC) where all births of SC residents are documented.(197) We obtained information related to child's year of birth, birthweight, sex, estimated gestation, Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) admissions, pregnancy complications, and the number of mother's prenatal visits, BMI, and presence of infection from this dataset.

3.2.2. Study setting

The study has been conducted in the context of South Carolina since the data sources utilized are of this state. South Carolina is a state in the southeastern United States bordered to the north by North Carolina, to the southeast by the Atlantic Ocean, and to the Southwest by Georgia across the Savannah river. According to United States Census Bureau estimation of July 1, 2018, the population of South Carolina was 5,084,127 which
was 9.92% higher than that of 2010.(198). Of the population of SC, 68.5% were White, 27.3% were African Americans, and the rest comprised American Indian, Asian, Alaska native, Hawaiian, or Pacific Islander.(198) The median household income was \$51,015 and the population living in poverty was 15.3%.(198) In South Carolina, health insurance coverage is provided to pregnant women with low income through Medicaid which continues for 60 days after the baby's birth and the infant is covered up to age one. To qualify for this program, a woman must be pregnant, a South Carolina resident, a US citizen or lawful permanent resident alien, a Social Security Number holder, and having individual annual income up to 194% of poverty level(199-201) although it was 185% before 2014.(201-203)

3.2.3. Study population

According to South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (SCDHEC) birth certificate records, the number of babies delivered between 2010 and 2017 in South Carolina was 242,510. However, we included children at least 3 years of age in the study because it has been reported that although autism can be detected as early as 18 months of age, it is usually diagnosed at or around the age of 3 years.(204-206) After adequate data cleaning and implying the inclusion criteria, the final sample size was 153,562. Figure 3.1 illustrates STROBE flow chart for our study population.



Figure 3.1: Strobe flow chart for the study population

3.2.4. Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG)

To address Objectives 2 and 3 we developed directed acyclic graph (DAG) to ascertain the confounders we need to adjust for (Figure 3.2). We utilized the DAGitty software version 3.0 to illustrate the causal diagram and to determine the confounders. From the causal diagram, we identified that minimal sufficient adjustment set contained maternal age, race, preeclampsia, infection, gestational diabetes, smoking, body mass index, and Kotelchuck index. The Kotelchuck index is also called the Adequacy of Prenatal Care Utilization (APNCU) index that uses two crucial elements from birth certificate data related to initiation and utilization of prenatal care services.(207)



Figure 3.2: Directed acyclic graph showing the relationship among the variables

3.2.5. Variables

The main exposure variable was 'NSAID prescriptions during pregnancy' which was recorded as 'YES' if the observations were found to have a Medicaid pharmacy entry for the receipt of a supply of any Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs) during the pregnancy period. The other exposure variable, Acetaminophen prescription, was also obtained from Medicaid dataset. From the same dataset, the categorical outcome variable was determined through International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes. ASD was determined from ICD-9 codes of 299.0 and 299.1 and ICD-10 codes of F84.0 to F84.9. On the other hand, Intellectual disability (ID) was determined from ICD codes 317.0-319.0 and ICD-10 codes of F70-F79. The outcomes were also flagged in SCDDSN and SCDE datasets. The categories of outcome variable were ASD only, ID only, ASD with ID, and neither ID or ASD.

The other variables were maternal age, maternal race, Children's age, children's gender, body mass index (BMI), birthweight, gestational age, preeclampsia, gestational diabetes (GDM), infection, smoking, Kotelchuck index, and plurality. Among these, preeclampsia, GDM, infection, and smoking were binary variable delineated as either presence or absence of these (YES/NO). Maternal age, BMI, and children's age and birthweight were continuous variables. However, later, maternal BMI was categorized into 4 categories, which were Underweight (<20kg/m²), Normal (20-25 kg/m²), Overweight (25-30 kg/m²), and Obese (30 kg/m²), and children's birthweight was also categorized into 4 categories: Extremely Low birthweight (<1000gms), Very Low Birthweight (\geq 1000 & <1500gms), Low birthweight (1500-2500gms), and Normal (\geq 2500gms). The other categorical variables were maternal race (White, Black, and others), Children's gender (Male, Female), gestational age (<32 weeks, 32-37 weeks, and more than 37 weeks), Kotelchuck index (Inadequate, Intermediate, Adequate, and Adequate+), and plurality (Singleton, Twin, and Triplet).

3.2.6. Data analysis

The prevalence of ASD and ID among the children of Medicaid insured mothers between 2010-2017 were measured by frequency distribution. The baseline characteristics of the study participants were discerned through descriptive statistics. Any significant difference between the exposed and unexposed group regarding those characteristics was determined by the chi-square test or t-test. Some variables underwent Fisher's exact test when the sample subset was small. Since the outcome variable was categorical (ASD only, ID only, and ASD with ID), we conducted multinomial logistic regression for unadjusted and adjusted analysis. In the final model, we adjusted for the confounders identified from the DAG. To measure the direct and indirect effects, we used SAS macro by L. Valeri and TJ Vanderweele.(208, 209) All data linkage and analysis will be performed using SAS[™] version 9.4. The details of the methods are outlined in the following chapters.

3.3. Methods used for systematic review

We conducted a systematic review to see the effect of acetaminophen exposure during pregnancy with ASD since in our datasets, acetaminophen exposure was underrepresented.

3.3.1. Registration of the review

We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) 2009 framework guideline and checklist to conduct this systematic review.(210) Our PROSPERO registration number was CRD42020213917.(211)

3.3.2. Eligibility criteria

We reviewed all the scientific articles, published in English, up to September 2020. Although the preferred study type was Randomized Controlled Trial (RCTs), we found no RCT of acetaminophen in pregnant women. Therefore, we only included cohort studies in our final selected articles. The exposure and comparison ascertainment did not consider the usage of any concomitant NSAID. There was no age, ethnicity, or socio-economic status preference for the study population.

3.3.3. Data sources and Search strategy

The databases we used for our systematic review were MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Cochrane Reviews to identify all the available manuscript that studied the association between in-utero exposure of acetaminophen and risk of ASD irrespective of study types. We identified the studies using the keywords and appropriate Medical Subject Heading (MeSH) terms: "autism", "ASD", "autism spectrum disorder", "acetaminophen", "paracetamol", "Tylenol", "pregnancy", and "prenatal" in different combinations. We also searched published systematic reviews, other online resources, and conference abstracts to identify all relevant studies and also contacted the authors of the final selected articles for clarification about methods through personal correspondence.

3.3.4. Study selection and data extraction

Two investigators (MAKC and RDG) independently searched the databases for the selection of the articles. Although they independently screened titles, abstracts and full texts, any disagreement was resolved by consensus, or by consultation with the study supervisor. After finalizing the articles, a standardized data extraction form was developed and piloted, based on the Cochrane data abstraction template.(212) The extractable data items were study title, publication year, population description, study setting, inclusion and exclusion criteria, methods of participant recruitment, study objective, study start and end date, study design, outcome measures, exposure, data analysis, bias assessment, and results.

3.3.5. Risk of bias assessment

The risk of bias was assessed both within and across the studies using utilized "Tool to Assess Risk of Bias in Cohort Studies" from Evidence Partners contributed by the CLARITY group at McMaster University and published by Evidence Partners(213) where we assessed the risk of bias analyzing 8 different questions.

3.3.6. Synthesis of results

Primarily, the findings have been described as narrative synthesis with the explanation of the summary measures (Hazard ratios, Risk ratios, or Odds ratios). We conducted the meta-analysis to get the pooled estimates using the Microsoft Excel 2016 as suggested by Neyeloff et al. (2012).(214) Heterogeneity was assessed using the I² statistics, when I² values of 75%, 50%, and 25% represented high, medium, and low heterogeneity, respectively. Forest plots were generated from the same software to illustrate our findings. Random effects models were used since there was high heterogeneity. Statistical significance was defined using a 2-sided alpha level of 0.05.

More detailed description of the methodology is provided in Chapter 4, 5 and 6.

Chapter 4: Relationship of NSAID prescription during pregnancy among Medicaid insured mothers with autism spectrum disorders and intellectual disability among their children: findings from a prospective cohort study¹

¹ Chowdhury, MAK. To be Submitted to Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders.

4.1. Abstract

Introduction: Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) and Intellectual disability (ID) may occur individually or concomitantly, but their relationship with NSAIDs intake by their mothers during pregnancy is not well understood.

Methods: We conducted a prospective cohort study linking data from Medicaid, Department of Education, and Department of Disabilities and Special Needs with birth certificate data from mothers and children between 2010-2017. Our main exposure variable was NSAID prescription, and the outcome variables were ASD, ID, and ASD with ID. The other covariates included in the model were maternal age, race, BMI, preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, smoking, and infection. The confounders were ascertained using causal diagram. We conducted multinomial logistic regression since our outcome variable was categorical. We also conducted sensitivity analysis considering 'alcohol use' as an unmeasured confounder and calculated E-value.

Results: Of 153,562 study participants, 3859 mothers were exposed to NSAID prescription during pregnancy, and the rest were unexposed. Regarding the outcome variable, 1018 children were flagged as ASD only, 6300 as ID only, and 1939 children had ASD with ID. The identified risk factors for ASD were mothers' age, race, BMI, preeclampsia, and gestational diabetes Whereas for ID only, NSAID prescription, mothers' age, race, BMI, preeclampsia, and smoking were the risk factors. Our main exposure variable, NSAID prescription was associated with ID only with an adjusted odds ratio of 1.52 (p-value:<0.0001). The sensitivity analysis also gave us similar findings.

Conclusion: Our findings identified a 52 percent higher risk for ID among children whose mothers took NSAIDs during pregnancy, however, demonstrate the need for more specific research on both the biologic plausibility using animal models and the generalizability to other maternal-child populations using other data sources, are needed to validate the effect of NSAIDs prescription during pregnancy on ASD and ID disability among children.

4.2. Introduction

Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) and Intellectual disability (ID) may occur individually or concomitantly, but in varying rates.(1-3) ASD comprise a set of early-onset neurodevelopmental syndromes which are characterized by difficulties in social communication and unusually restricted repetitive behavior and narrow interests.(4-6) The American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder, Fifth Edition (DSM-5) describes autism as having two main areas of impairment: "social communication" and "restrictive, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests and activities" where the differences in sensory perception are included in the latter domain.(7) On the other hand, IDs are characterized by social, cognitive, and adaptive skill deficits which is often accompanied by stereotypies and challenging behaviors.(1, 8-17)

In 2012, the global prevalence of ASD was estimated to be 0.62% although the data were not available from many underdeveloped countries;(18) whereas, in the developed world, the prevalence has been estimated to be at least 1.5%.(2) Studies conducted in Asia, Europe, and North America reported prevalence of ASD between 1-2%.(19) In United States, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimated prevalence of ASD among children aged 8 years was 1.69% in 2014 which was about 2.5 times higher than the prevalence in 1990.(19-21) Similarly, a systematic review of US studies on the prevalence of intellectual disabilities reported that the prevalence of ID among children

ranges between 1.1% to 1.34%.(3) A study in Finland reported the prevalence to be 1.17%.(22)

A study conducted among 2,208 children with both ASD and ID identified through the South Carolina Autism and Developmental Disabilities Network reported that the prevalence of ASD in people with ID to be 18.04% while the ASD rate in the general population was between 0.60% and 1.11%.(23) Other studies have reported ASD cooccurring with ID,(1, 24-26) although there are numerous reports of ASD in people with normal intelligence.(1, 27) The needs for the persons with co-occurring ASD and ID are different from individuals with ASD or ID alone.(28, 29)

Thus, three distinct groups prevail related to these disorders - persons with ID, persons with ASD, and persons with both ASD and ID.(30) Many studies have explored the risk factors for ASD and ID.(20, 31-40) however, no study explored the relationship between Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAID) prescription during pregnancy associated with ASD or ID of the offspring. Our study aimed at identifying any association of NSAID prescription with three distinct groups of ASD alone, ID alone, and ASD with ID.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Study design and data sources:

We conducted a prospective cohort study utilizing four different South Carolina public data sources that were linked through a unique identifier. The data sources included South Carolina Medicaid individual billing files, South Carolina Department of Education (SCDE) school records, South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) and South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (SCDHEC) Vital Records of 2010-2017. Medicaid supported pregnant women up to 185% of poverty and children who were identified at high risk for disability during that period.(41, 42) Children are covered by SC Medicaid, without consideration of parental income, under the Katie Beckett Medicaid waiver if they have long-term disabilities or complex medical needs.(43, 44) Thus, some children with ASD and ID are identified in Medicaid, which is an entitlement program, even when they are not served by SCDE or DDSN. SCDE is also an entitlement program; however, not all children in our study were old enough to qualify for school services, beginning at 3 years of age for children with disabilities and special needs, or they were schooled in settings, such as private schools or home schools, which are not captured by SCDE data.(45, 46) DDSN is a state service program that provides services and supports for citizens of all ages with ASD and ID. Nonetheless, DDSN is not an entitlement, thus some children are on waiting lists for ASD and ID services.(47)

4.3.2. Study participants:

According to South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (SCDHEC) birth certificate records, the number of babies delivered between 2010 and 2017 in South Carolina was 242,510. However, we included children at least 3 years of age in the study because it has been reported that although autism can be detected as early as 18 months of age, it is usually diagnosed at or around the age of 3 years.(48-50) After adequate data cleaning and implying the inclusion criteria, the final sample size was 153,562. The study participants included the Medicaid insured mother/children pairs who gave birth to their children between 2010-2014. In total, there were 153,562 children. Of the study participants, 3859 mothers were exposed with NSAID prescription during

pregnancy and the rest were unexposed. Regarding the outcome variable, 1018 children were flagged as ASD only, 6300 as ID only, and 1939 children had ASD with ID. The details have been presented in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Study participants of the study analyzing the relationship of NSAID prescription during pregnancy with ASD and ID

4.3.3. Variables of interest:

The main exposure variable was 'NSAIDs during pregnancy' which is recorded as 'YES' if a woman received a supply of any Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs) in the Medicaid pharmacy file during the pregnancy period. All systemic prescription NSAID medications, including both COX-1 and COX-2 enzyme inhibitors,

were considered. Other demographic variables included mother's age, race, children's age, children's sex. Maternal Body mass index (BMI), Number of Ante natal care (ANC) visits, Birthweight, smoking status, gestational age, Kotelchuck index, gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, and infection during pregnancy. Among these maternal age, children's age, BMI, gestational age, and birthweight were recorded continuous variables. However, gestational age, BMI, and birthweight have also been analyzed as categorical variables. The other categorical variables were maternal race and Kotelchuck index. The other explanatory variables were binomial (Yes/No).

Our outcome variable was a categorical variable where the categories were ASD only, ID only, ASD and ID, and none. The ASD and the ID variables were based on a flag in the SCDE or the DDSN file, which was used to qualify for ASD or ID service. The flag for ASD and ID was assigned after extensive testing by psychologists, physicians, and other professionals. All children with ASD and ID do not receive SCDE or DDSN services, thus, we also used to Medicaid file to identify children with ASD and ID. ASD was determined from ICD-9 codes of 299.0 and 299.1 and ICD-10 codes of F84.0 to F84.9. On the other hand, Intellectual disability (ID) was determined from ICD codes 317.0-319.0 and ICD-10 codes of F70-F79.

4.3.4. Data analysis:

The baseline characteristics of the study participants were analyzed using descriptive statistics and the significant differences were determined by the chi-square test. Since the outcome variable is categorical, we used multinomial logistic regression models for unadjusted and adjusted analysis. However, we chose the confounders through utilization of directed acyclic graph (DAG) as shown in Figure 4.2. The variables required to adjust

were maternal age, race, preeclampsia, infection, gestational diabetes, smoking, and body mass index.



Figure 4.2: Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) to ascertain the relationship among the variables

Later, we conducted a sub-group analysis considering the outcome detected by SCDDSN and SCDE datasets. We considered this subgroup analysis because SCDDSN detects ASD based on DSM-5 definition and SCDE conduct screening for the children through administering questionnaire, both of which are more uniform in comparison to the simple use of ICD codes from Medicaid data. We also conducted a sensitivity analysis to check our findings in the method shown by VanderWeele and Arah considering Alcohol consumption as unmeasured confounder,(51) and calculated the E-value.(52) For the sensitivity analysis, we considered alcohol consumption as an unmeasured confounder. A meta-analysis showed that maternal alcohol use was associated with ID of their children (OR:1.63, 95% CI: 1.49-1.78).(39) On the other hand, a study conducted in South Africa identified migraine headache as an associated factor of alcohol use (OR: 1.61, 95% CI: 1.07-2.43).(53) We could not find any direct association of NSAID intake with alcohol use. Since, NSAID is widely used as a treatment of migraine attacks, we considered headache as a proxy variable for NSAID.(54, 55) On the other hand, regarding ASD, a multi-site case control study reported null effect of alcohol use with an OR of 0.80 (95% CI: 0.60-1.10).(56) The sensitivity analysis was conducted using Microsoft Excel 2016. We also calculated E-value using the following formula as demonstrated by VanderWeele and Ding.(52)

$$E$$
-value = OR + sqrt[$OR \times (OR-1)$]

All other analyses were performed using SAS statistical software, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

4.3.5. Ethical considerations:

The study data were linked by the SC Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office and provided to investigators as a deidentified dataset. Therefore, the University of South Carolina Institutional Review Board (IRB) reviewed the study and declared the deidentified data study had exempt status.

4.4. Results

Of the study participants, 2.5% had NSAID prescriptions (our main explanatory variable) during the pregnancy time. The mean mother's age was 24 years (SD: 5.4) and the mean children's age was 5 ± 1.4 years. Of the study participants, about 54% were Whites, 44% were African Americans, and about 2% were constituted by the other races. There were almost equal numbers of males (51%) and female (49%) among the children.

The mean birthweight was 3.16 ± 0.6 kilograms. Most (89%) of the children had a normal birthweight of more than 2500 grams while about 9% were of low birth weight (2000-2500 grams). The rest of 2% were of either extremely low birth weight or low birth weight babies. The mean gestational age was 38.3 ± 2.2 weeks. Most of the babies were born full term (88%) while about 2.6% were born before 32 weeks and the rest were born between 32 and 37 weeks of gestation. The mean BMI was 27.8 ± 7.4 kg/m2. About a third (30.6%) of the mothers had between 20-25 kg/m2 of BMI while 13.6% were underweight, 24% were overweight, and the rest were obese. Regarding the other risk factors, 5.8% had pre-eclampsia, 5.1% had gestational diabetes, 9.8% had infection, and 26.4% were smokers. Regarding Kotelchuck index, 24.5% had inadequate, 6.4% had intermediate, 25.2% had adequate, and the rest 45% had adequate plus index. Nearly all of the children were born from singleton pregnancy and about 2.8% were from multiple-birth pregnancies. The socio-demographic and clinical characteristics are presented according to the different categories of our outcome variables in Table 4.1.

Variables	ASD only (n=1018)	ID only (n=6 300)	ASD with ID $(n-1, 939)$	None (n-144 305)	p-value
Maternal age (years)	24.8 ± 5.7	24.5 ± 5.7	25.4 ± 5.9	(1-1+1,505) 24.0 ± 5.4	< 0.0001
Maternal race					
White	631 (62.0)	3,249 (51.6)	1,135 (58.5)	78,264 (54.2)	
African American	375 (36.8)	2,980 (47.3)	779 (40.2)	63,459 (44.0)	< 0.0001
Others	12 (1.2)	71 (1.1)	25 (1.3)	2,582 (1.8)	-
Children's age (years)	5.2 ± 1.4	5.0 ± 1.4	5.2 ± 1.4	5.0 ± 1.4	< 0.0001
Children's gender					
Male	798 (78.4)	3,786 (60.1)	1,508 (77.8)	72,168 (50.0)	<0.0001
Female	220 (21.6)	2,514 (39.9)	431 (22.2)	72,137 (50.0)	< 0.0001
Birthweight (kilograms)	3.2 ± 0.6	2.7 ± 0.9	3.0 ± 0.9	3,1 ± 0.6	< 0.0001
Normal	885 (86.9)	4,350 (69.1)	1590 (82.0)	130,215 (90.2)	
Extremely Low	7 (0.7)	500 (7.9)	65 (3.6)	619 (0.4)	-0.0001
Very Low	9 (0.9)	471 (7.5)	59 (3.0)	1,083 (0.8)	< 0.0001
Low	117 (11.5)	979 (15.5)	225 (11.6)	12,388 (8.6)	-
Gestational age (weeks)	38.1 ± 2.2	36.3 ± 4.3	37.5 ± 3.2	38.4 ± 1.9	< 0.0001
<32 weeks	24 (2.4)	1,122 (17.8)	148 (7.6)	2,734 (1.9)	
32-37 weeks	115 (11.3)	898 (14.3)	230 (11.9)	12,544 (8.7)	< 0.0001
>37 weeks	879 (86.3)	4,280 (67.9)	1,561 (80.5)	129,027 (89.4)	-
NSAID prescription	27 (2.7)	239 (3.8)	59 (3.0)	3,534 (2.5)	< 0.0001
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	28.4 ± 8.1	28.7 ± 7.9	29.0 ± 8.0	27.7 ± 7.4	< 0.0001

Table 4.1: Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the study participants

Normal	280 (27.5)	1,736 (27.6)	539 (27.8)	44,430 (30.8)	
Underweight	139 (13.7)	771 (12.2)	206 (10.6)	19,779 (13.7)	<0.0001
Overweight	235 (23.1)	1,567 (24.9)	450 (23.2)	35,080 (24.3)	<0.0001
Obese	364 (35.8)	2,226 (35.3)	744 (38.4)	45,016 (31.2)	
Preeclampsia	86 (8.5)	487 (7.7)	157 (8.1)	8,180 (5.7)	< 0.0001
Gestational Diabetes	59 (5.8)	383 (6.1)	143 (7.4)	7,279 (5.0)	< 0.0001
Infection	82 (8.1)	605 (9.6)	166 (8.6)	14,195 (9.8)	0.0610
Smoking	203 (20.0)	1,141 (18.1)	374 (19.3)	23,504 (16.3)	< 0.0001
Kotelchuck index					
Inadequate	177 (22.3)	1,319 (27.0)	329 (22.4)	27,981 (24.5)	
Intermediate	330 (6.7)	86 (5.9)	38 (4.8)	7,302 (6.4)	-0.0001
Adequate	196 (24.7)	987 (20.2)	331 (22.5)	29,067 (25.5)	<0.0001
Adequate +	383 (48.2)	2,258 (46.1)	724 (49.3)	49,738 (43.6)	
Plurality					
Singleton	983 (96.6)	5,825 (92.5)	1,849 (95.4)	140,458 (97.3)	
Twin	35 (3.4)	450 (7.1)	85 (4.4)	3,799 (2.6)	< 0.0001
Triplet	0 (0.0)	25 (0.4)	5 (0.3)	48 (0.03)	

Our main explanatory variable NSAID prescription was found to be associated with ID only in both unadjusted and adjusted analysis. The children with the mothers who had NSAID prescription were 52% more likely to have ID in comparison to the children whose mothers did not have NSAID prescription. Maternal age was associated with all three categories of the outcome variable. With each unit increase of age, the odds of ASD only increases by 4%, the odds of ID only increase by 2%, and the odds for ASD with ID also increases by 2%. After controlling for other variables, White race was a risk factor for development of ASD and ASD with ID. The odds of having ASD among the children of the mothers with preeclampsia were 33% higher than that of the children of the mothers without preeclampsia (p-value: <0.01) and the odds ratio for ASD with ID was 1.47 (pvalue = <0.01). The odds of ID only for the children of smoker mothers were 18% higher than that of non-smoker mothers' children while the odds for ASD with ID for smokers' children was 20% higher than the comparator. The gestational diabetes was associated with ASD only (p-value:0.03). Infection was not associated with any of the outcome variables with or without adjusting for the confounders. Regarding BMI, being in the obesity group for the mothers seem to be more at risk of having children with ASD only, ID only, or ASD with ID. The odds of having ID only among the overweight mothers were 11% higher than that of the mothers with normal BMI. The findings from unadjusted and adjusted analyses are presented in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2: Adjusted and Unadjusted odds ratios

Variables	ASI) only	ID	only	ASD with ID		
v ariables	UOR	AOR	UOR	AOR	UOR	AOR	
NSAID prescription	1.09	1.23	1.57***	1.52^{***}	1.25	1.08	
Mothers' age	1.03***	1.04^{**}	1.02^{***}	1.02^{***}	1.05^{***}	1.02^{***}	
Mothers' Race							
White	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	
African American	0.73***	0.87^{**}	1.13***	1.15^{***}	0.85^{**}	0.75^{***}	
Others	0.58	0.65^{*}	0.66^{**}	0.58^{**}	0.67^{*}	0.67	
Preeclampsia	1.54**	1.33**	1.39***	1.32^{***}	1.47^{***}	1.47^{**}	
Smoking	1.28^{**}	1.20^{**}	1.14^{**}	1.18^{***}	1.23**	1.20^{*}	
Gestational diabetes	1.16	1.20^{*}	1.22^{**}	1.10	1.50^{***}	1.00	
Infection	0.86	0.94	0.97	0.97	0.80	0.88	
Body Mass Index							
Normal	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Underweight	1.12	0.88	0.99	1.01	0.86	1.13	
Overweight	1.06	1.01	1.14**	1.11**	1.06	1.05	
Obese	1.28^{**}	1.26***	1.26***	1.17^{***}	1.36***	1.26**	

^{*}<0.0001, ^{**}<0.01, ^{*}<0.05

We have conducted a sub-group analysis considering the outcome detected by SCDDSN and SCDE datasets and found similar results with significant association of NSAID prescription with risk of ID. The sub-group analysis also did not show any association of our exposure variable with ASD or ASD with ID. (Supplementary material).We also conducted a sensitivity analysis considering alcohol use an unmeasured confounder. The sensitivity analysis for the association between NSAID and ID shows that the true odds ratio is 1.30 (95%CI: 1.14, 1.49) considering exposure-unmeasured confounder OR of 1.61 and unmeasured confounder-outcome OR of 1.63. When we considered ASD as the outcome variable during the sensitivity analysis the true OR we found was 1.35 (95% CI: 1.04-1.75) which means that if we could adjust for unmeasured confounder the mothers who used NSAID during pregnancy would have found to be at more risk of having children with ASD. Table 3 shows the sensitivity analysis:

Outcome Variable	Observed Exposure- Outcome OR	Exposure- Unmeasured confounder OR	Unmeasured confounder- Outcome OR	True OR	
Intellectual Disability	1.52	1.61	1.63	1.30	
	1.33 (LCI)	1.61	1.63	1.14	
	1.74 (UCI)	1.61	1.63	1.49	
Autism	1.23	1.61	0.80	1.35	
Spectrum	0.95 (LCI)	1.61	0.80	1.04	
Disorder	1.60 (UCI)	1.61	0.80	1.75	

Tε	able	4.3:	S	ensi	tıvı	ty	ana	lysı	S	w1th	ı 'a	lco.	hol	use	as	the	unmeasure	d con	tound	le
	11	4 0	0								6		. 1		,	4 1		1	C	1

The E-value was found to be 1.92. So, the observed OR between NSAID and ID of 1.52 could be explained by the alcohol use that was associated with both exposure and outcome by an OR of 1.92 folds each, above and beyond the measured confounders. The

E-value for NSAID and ASD was 2.04 when we considered 'alcohol use' as an unmeasured confounder.

4.5. Discussion

Overall, the prevalence of ASD only, ID only, and ASD with ID were 0.66%, 4.10%, and 1.26%, respectively. The prevalence of NSAID prescription was 3.8% among children with ID only which was significantly higher than the same of other categories. And the variables significantly associated with the ID only group were: NSAID prescriptions, mothers' age, race, BMI, smoking status, and preeclampsia. In addition, we also identified maternal age, race, preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, and obesity as risk factors for ASD, which have also been evident in many studies.(31-33, 37, 57, 58)

It is noteworthy that preeclampsia was positively associated with ASD only, ID only, and ASD with ID in our study. Other researchers have identified preeclampsia as a potential risk factor for ASD.(35, 59, 60) This is an important finding since the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends NSAIDs for pregnant women at risk for preeclampsia.(61) Thus, if our findings are replicated using other data sources the recommendation to reduce preeclampsia would have to be balanced by the need to reduce ASD or intellectual disability. The data reviewed in the USPSTF recommendation includes numerous studies about the association of NSAIDs and ASD, but it does not include any literature about the association of NASAIDs and ID, or ASD and ID.

The prevalence of ID in our study was similar to the reported ID prevalence by SC Autism and Developmental Disabilities Network.(23) The increased prevalence is likely due to the Katie Beckett Waiver in South Carolina Medicaid that allows children with ID to qualify for Medicaid without consideration of the parental income or assets.(62) Thus, among the children qualified for Medicaid in South Carolina, a higher-than-expected proportion have ID as their eligibility determinant, compared to children on Medicaid in other states who do not have the Katie Beckett waiver.(62) We found that the odds of having children with ID of the mothers who had NSAID prescription was 52% higher than that of the mothers who did not have any NSAID prescription during pregnancy. However, we did not find any association of NSAID prescription with ASD, and ASD with ID. A prospective cohort study involving 6,876 mothers suggested that prenatal exposure of NSAID prescription was associated with attention problems of the children.(57) Another study showed that consuming NSAIDs during pregnancy may affect children's brain.(63) However, there has not been many studies done on this topic and thus we cannot reach any conclusion yet.

Mothers' age has been found to be positively associated with all the outcome variable categories. Advanced maternal age is also an established risk factor for ASD and ID (20, 31, 33, 35-37, 39, 64-66). Similarly, ID of the children has also been associated with maternal age as evident by many studies across the world (20, 39, 59, 67). Maternal race has been identified as a significant risk factor for ASD, ID, and ASD with ID. In comparison to Whites, being African American seemed to be protective for ASD and ASD with ID which aligns with the findings of many other studies (68, 69). BMI is another risk factor that has been significantly associated with ASD only, ID only, and ASD with ID constituting 26%, 17%, and 26% higher odds than normal weighed mothers. Regarding the association between maternal BMI, there have been inconclusive findings reported by different studies (70-72). In our study, gestational diabetes was found to be associated with ASD only. A large population-based cohort study with more than 2.3 million individuals

found that there was strong relationship of Diabetes mellitus with ASD, ID, or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) (73). Unlike our study, Smoking was found to be associated with increased odds for all the outcome categories. Oother studies analyzing reported conflicting results for the association of smoking and ASD reported conflicting results (74-76). The subgroup analysis and sensitivity analysis for ID have endorsed our findings. However, when we conducted sensitivity analysis for ASD, we found significant association with NSAID while adjusting for unmeasured confounder 'alcohol use' which calls for further rigorous scientific study.

Strengths of this study include its large sample size and study design. Moreover, very few studies explored the association of NSAID prescription with ASD and ID, individually and collectively. The sensitivity analyses and calculation of E-value have also strengthened our study findings. The main limitation of our study lies in the unavailability of the exposure data for NSAID usage without prescription. However, a study reported that missing OTC drug exposure is not a large source of bias especially when the overall prevalence of drug usage is below 35%,(76) and several studies reported that the prevalence of OTC NSAID usage during pregnancy is well below that level of 35%.(77, 78) Despite this limitation, administrative pharmacy records are commonly used as a source for medication exposures and are not subject to recall bias. Finally, as is generally the case with medication studies outside a controlled experiment, we cannot confirm details about the women's NSAID-taking behaviors.

In conclusion, maternal exposure to prescription NSAIDs was associated with ID, but not ASD or ASD with ID. Our findings warrant the need for more specific research on both the biologic plausibility of NSAIDs being causally associated with ID and the generalizability of the effect of NSAIDs prescription during pregnancy on intellectual disability in the child, using other linked maternal-child datasets.

4.6. References

1. Matson JL, Shoemaker M. Intellectual disability and its relationship to autism spectrum disorders. Research in developmental disabilities. 2009 Nov 1;30(6):1107-14.

2. Lyall K, Croen L, Daniels J, Fallin MD, Ladd-Acosta C, Lee BK, Park BY, Snyder NW, Schendel D, Volk H, Windham GC. The changing epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders. Annual review of public health. 2017 Mar 20;38:81-102.

3. Anderson LL, Larson SA, MapelLentz S, Hall-Lande J. A systematic review of US studies on the prevalence of intellectual or developmental disabilities since 2000. Intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2019 Oct;57(5):421-38.

4. Coleman M, Gillberg C. The autisms. Oxford University Press USA; 2012 Jan 5.

5. Lai MC, Lombardo MV, and Baron-Cohen S. Autism. Lancet. 2014;383: 896–910.

6. Lai MC, Baron-Cohen S. Identifying the lost generation of adults with autism spectrum conditions. The lancet psychiatry. 2015 Nov 1;2(11):1013-27.

7. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington: American Psychiatric Association. 2013;21.

8. Downs A, Downs RC, Rau K. Effects of training and feedback on discrete trial teaching skills and student performance. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 May 1;29(3):235-46.

9. Lifshitz H, Merrick J, Morad M. Health status and ADL functioning of older persons with intellectual disability: Community residence versus residential care centers. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 Jul 1;29(4):301-15.

10. Matson JL, Smalls Y, Hampff A, Smiroldo BB, Anderson SJ. A comparison of behavioral techniques to teach functional independent-living skills to individuals with severe and profound mental retardation. Behavior modification. 1998 Jul;22(3):298-306.

11. Matson JL, Smiroldo BB, Bamburg JW. The relationship of social skills to psychopathology for individuals with severe or profound mental retardation. Journal of intellectual and developmental disability. 1998 Jan 1;23(2):137-45.

12. Matson JL, Dixon DR, Matson ML, Logan JR. Classifying mental retardation and specific strength and deficit areas in severe and profoundly mentally retarded persons with the MESSIER. Research in developmental disabilities. 2005 Jan 1;26(1):41-5.

13. Myrbakk E, von Tetzchner S. Psychiatric disorders and behavior problems in people with intellectual disability. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 Jul 1;29(4):316-32.

14. Thirion-Marissiaux AF, Nader-Grosbois N. Theory of Mind "emotion", developmental characteristics and social understanding in children and adolescents with intellectual disabilities. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 Sep 1;29(5):414-30.

15. Yalon-Chamovitz S, Weiss PL. Virtual reality as a leisure activity for young adults with physical and intellectual disabilities. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 May 1;29(3):273-87.

16. Zayac RM, Johnston JM. Contriving establishing operations: Responses of individuals with developmental disabilities during a learning task. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 May 1;29(3):202-16.

17. Lee LC, Harrington RA, Chang JJ, Connors SL. Increased risk of injury in children with developmental disabilities. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 May 1;29(3):247-55.

18. Elsabbagh M, Divan G, Koh YJ, Kim YS, Kauchali S, Marcín C, Montiel-Nava C, Patel V, Paula CS, Wang C, Yasamy MT. Global prevalence of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders. Autism research. 2012 Jun;5(3):160-79.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Data. Statistics on Autism Spectrum
 Disorder CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019.

20. Christensen DL, Braun KV, Baio J, Bilder D, Charles J, Constantino JN, Daniels J, Durkin MS, Fitzgerald RT, Kurzius-Spencer M, Lee LC. Prevalence and characteristics of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2012. MMWR surveillance summaries. 2018 Nov 16;65(13):1.

21. Baio J, Wiggins L, Christensen DL, Maenner MJ, Daniels J, Warren Z, Kurzius-Spencer M, Zahorodny W, Rosenberg CR, White T, Durkin MS. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2014. MMWR surveillance summaries. 2018 Apr 27;67(6):1. 22. Westerinen H, Kaski M, Virta LJ, Kautiainen H, Pitkälä KH, Iivanainen M. The nationwide register-based prevalence of intellectual disability during childhood and adolescence. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2017 Aug;61(8):802-9.

23. Tonnsen BL, Boan AD, Bradley CC, Charles J, Cohen A, Carpenter LA. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders among children with intellectual disability. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2016 Nov;121(6):487-500.

24. Doherty JL, Owen MJ. Genomic insights into the overlap between psychiatric disorders: implications for research and clinical practice. Genome medicine. 2014 Dec;6(4):1-3.

25. Matson JL, Nebel-Schwalm MS. Comorbid psychopathology with autism spectrum disorder in children: An overview. Research in developmental disabilities. 2007 Jul 1;28(4):341-52.

26. Lindgren KA, Folstein SE, Tomblin JB, Tager-Flusberg H. Language and reading abilities of children with autism spectrum disorders and specific language impairment and their first-degree relatives. Autism research. 2009 Feb;2(1):22-38.

27. Hurley AD, Levitas AS. The importance of recognizing autism spectrum disorders in intellectual disability. Mental health aspects of developmental disabilities. 2007 Oct 1;10(4):157.

28. Carminati GG, Gerber F, Baud MA, Baud O. Evaluating the effects of a structured program for adults with autism spectrum disorders and intellectual disabilities. Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders. 2007 Jul 1;1(3):256-65.

29. Gilchrist A, Green J, Cox A, Burton D, Rutter M, Couteur AL. Development and current functioning in adolescents with Asperger syndrome: A comparative study. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2001 Feb;42(2):227-40.

30. Noterdaeme M, Enders A. Autistic disorders and mental retardation. How to recognize and differentiate? Padiatrische praxis. 2008;72(1):39.

31. Bilder D, Pinborough-Zimmerman J, Miller J, McMahon W. Prenatal, perinatal, and neonatal factors associated with autism spectrum disorders. Pediatrics. 2009 May 1;123(5):1293-300.

32. Dodds L, Fell DB, Shea S, Armson BA, Allen AC, Bryson S. The role of prenatal, obstetric and neonatal factors in the development of autism. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2011 Jul;41(7):891-902.

33. Gardener H, Spiegelman D, Buka SL. Prenatal risk factors for autism: comprehensive meta-analysis. The British journal of psychiatry. 2009 Jul;195(1):7-14.

34. Gardener H, Spiegelman D, Buka SL. Perinatal and neonatal risk factors for autism: a comprehensive meta-analysis. Pediatrics. 2011 Aug 1;128(2):344-55.

35. Guinchat V, Thorsen P, Laurent C, Cans C, Bodeau N, Cohen D. Pre-, peri-and neonatal risk factors for autism. Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica. 2012 Mar;91(3):287-300.

36. Larsson HJ, Eaton WW, Madsen KM, Vestergaard M, Olesen AV, Agerbo E, Schendel D, Thorsen P, Mortensen PB. Risk factors for autism: perinatal factors, parental psychiatric history, and socioeconomic status. American journal of epidemiology. 2005 May 15;161(10):916-25.

37. Kolevzon A, Gross R, Reichenberg A. Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for autism: a review and integration of findings. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine. 2007 Apr 1;161(4):326-33.

38. Koskentausta T, Iivanainen M, Almqvist F. Risk factors for psychiatric disturbance in children with intellectual disability. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2007 Jan;51(1):43-53.

39. Huang J, Zhu T, Qu Y, Mu D. Prenatal, perinatal and neonatal risk factors for intellectual disability: a systemic review and meta-analysis. PloS one. 2016 Apr 25;11(4):e0153655.

40. Datta SS, Russell PS, Gopalakrishna SC. Burden among the caregivers of children with intellectual disability: associations and risk factors. Journal of learning disabilities. 2002 Dec;6(4):337-50.

41. Baumrucker EP, Herz EJ. Medicaid: An Overview. Congressional research services. 2014.

42. Morreale MC, English A. Eligibility and enrollment of adolescents in Medicaid and SCHIP: recent progress, current challenges. Journal of adolescent health. 2003 Jun 1;32(6):25-39.

43. Foster CC, Agrawal RK, Davis MM. Home health care for children with medical complexity: workforce gaps, policy, and future directions. Health affairs. 2019 Jun 1;38(6):987-93.

44. Moseley CA, Vulimiri M, Saunders RS, Bleser WK, Perrin EM, Armstrong SC, Wang GX, Ubel PA, McClellan M, Wong CA. Medicaid and CHIP child health beneficiary incentives: program landscape and stakeholder insights. Pediatrics. 2019 Aug 1;144(2).

45. Rubenstein E, Bishop L. Is the autism boom headed for Medicaid? Patterns in the enrollment of autistic adults in Wisconsin Medicaid, 2008–2018. Autism research. 2019 Oct;12(10):1541-50.

46. Newschaffer CJ, Falb MD, Gurney JG. National autism prevalence trends from United States special education data. Pediatrics. 2005 Mar 1;115(3):e277-82.

47. Rice C. Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorders: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, United States, 2006. MMWR surveillance summaries.
2009 Dec 18;58(10).

48. Fountain C, King MD, Bearman PS. Age of diagnosis for autism: individual and community factors across 10 birth cohorts. Journal of epidemiology & community health. 2011 Jun 1;65(6):503-10.

49. Landa RJ. Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders in the first 3 years of life. Nature Clinical practice neurology. 2008 Mar;4(3):138-47.

50. Charman T, Baird G. Practitioner review: Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder in 2-and 3-year-old children. Journal of child psychology and psychiatry. 2002 Mar;43(3):289-305.

51. VanderWeele TJ, Arah OA. Unmeasured confounding for general outcomes, treatments, and confounders: bias formulas for sensitivity analysis. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.). 2011 Jan;22(1):42.

52. VanderWeele TJ, Ding P. Sensitivity analysis in observational research: introducing the E-value. Annals of internal medicine. 2017 Aug 15;167(4):268-74.

53. Pengpid S, Peltzer K, Heever HV. Prevalence of alcohol use and associated factors in urban hospital outpatients in South Africa. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2011 Jul;8(7):2629-39.

54. Pardutz A, Schoenen J. NSAIDs in the acute treatment of migraine: a review of clinical and experimental data. Pharmaceuticals. 2010 Jun;3(6):1966-87.

55. Hamalainen ML, Hoppu K, Valkeila E, Santavuori P. Ibuprofen or acetaminophen for the acute treatment of migraine in children: a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled, crossover study. Neurology. 1997 Jan 1;48(1):103-7.

56. Singer AB, Aylsworth AS, Cordero C, Croen LA, DiGuiseppi C, Fallin MD, Herring AH, Hooper SR, Pretzel RE, Schieve LA, Windham GC. Prenatal alcohol exposure in relation to autism spectrum disorder: Findings from the study to explore early development (SEED). Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2017 Nov;31(6):573-82.

57. Markovic M, Swanson SA, Stricker BH, Jaddoe VW, Verhulst FC, Tiemeier H, El Marroun H. Prenatal exposure to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and neurodevelopmental outcomes in children. Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety. 2019 Apr;28(4):452-9.

58. Wang C, Geng H, Liu W, Zhang G. Prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal factors associated with autism: a meta-analysis. Medicine. 2017 May;96(18).

59. Griffith MI, Mann JR, McDermott S. The risk of intellectual disability in children born to mothers with preeclampsia or eclampsia with partial mediation by low birth weight. Hypertension in pregnancy. 2011 Feb 1;30(1):108-15.

60. Mann JR, McDermott S, Bao H, Hardin J, Gregg A. Pre-eclampsia, birth weight, and autism spectrum disorders. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2010 May;40(5):548-54.

61. Roberge S, Nicolaides K, Demers S, Hyett J, Chaillet N, Bujold E. The role of aspirin dose on the prevention of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction: systematic review and meta-analysis. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2017 Feb 1;216(2):110-20.

62. McDermott S, Royer J, Cope T, Lindgren S, Momany E, Lee JC, McDuffie MJ, Lauer E, Kurtz S, Armour BS. Using Medicaid data to characterize persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities in five US states. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2018 Jul;123(4):371-81.

63. Antonucci R, Zaffanello M, Puxeddu E, Porcella A, Cuzzolin L, Dolores Pilloni M, Fanos V. Use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in pregnancy: impact on the fetus and newborn. Current drug metabolism. 2012 May 1;13(4):474-90.

64. Matelski L, Van de Water J. Risk factors in autism: Thinking outside the brain. Journal of autoimmunity. 2016 Feb 1;67:1-7.

65. Yusuf ZI. Risk factors for Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in children with Down syndrome: A case control study [dissertation]. The University of Texas School of Public Health). Dallas, Texas: University of Texas; 2015.

66. Fang SY, Wang S, Huang N, Yeh HH, Chen CY. Prenatal infection and autism spectrum disorders in childhood: A population-based case–control study in Taiwan. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2015 Jul;29(4):307-16.

67. Bilder DA, Pinborough-Zimmerman J, Bakian AV, Miller JS, Dorius JT, Nangle B, McMahon WM. Prenatal and perinatal factors associated with intellectual disability. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2013 Mar;118(2):156-76.

68. Fairthorne J, de Klerk N, Leonard HM, Schieve LA, Yeargin-Allsopp M. Maternal race–ethnicity, immigrant status, country of birth, and the odds of a child with autism. Child neurology open. 2017 Jan 12;4:2329048X16688125.

69. Leonard H, Petterson B, Bower C, Sanders R. Prevalence of intellectual disability in Western Australia. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2003 Jan;17(1):58-67.

70. Wang Y, Tang S, Xu S, Weng S, Liu Z. Maternal body mass index and risk of autism spectrum disorders in offspring: a meta-analysis. Scientific reports. 2016 Sep 30;6(1):1-8.

71. Getz KD, Anderka MT, Werler MM, Jick SS. Maternal Pre-pregnancy Body Mass Index and Autism Spectrum Disorder among Offspring: A Population-Based Case–Control Study. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2016 Sep;30(5):479-87.

72. Lei XY, Li YJ, Ou JJ, Li YM. Association between parental body mass index and autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2019 Jul;28(7):933-47.

73. Chen S, Zhao S, Dalman C, Karlsson H, Gardner R. Association of maternal diabetes with neurodevelopmental disorders: autism spectrum disorders, attention-

deficit/hyperactivity disorder and intellectual disability. International journal of epidemiology. 2020 Nov 22.

74. Rosen BN, Lee BK, Lee NL, Yang Y, Burstyn I. Maternal smoking and autism spectrum disorder: a meta-analysis. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2015 Jun 1;45(6):1689-98.

75. Jung Y, Lee AM, McKee SA, Picciotto MR. Maternal smoking and autism spectrum disorder: meta-analysis with population smoking metrics as moderators. Scientific reports. 2017 Jun 28;7(1):1-0.

76. Kalkbrenner AE, Braun JM, Durkin MS, Maenner MJ, Cunniff C, Lee LC, Pettygrove S, Nicholas JS, Daniels JL. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and the prevalence of autism spectrum disorders, using data from the autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network. Environmental health perspectives. 2012 Jul;120(7):1042-8.

77. Yood MU, Campbell UB, Rothman KJ, Jick SS, Lang J, Wells KE, Jick H, Johnson CC. Using prescription claims data for drugs available over-the-counter (OTC). Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety. 2007 Sep;16(9):961-8.

78. Verstappen GM, Smolders EJ, Munster JM, Aarnoudse JG, Hak E. Prevalence and predictors of over-the-counter medication use among pregnant women: a cross-sectional study in the Netherlands. BMC public health. 2013 Dec;13(1):1-9.

79. Kristensen DM, Mazaud-Guittot S, Gaudriault P, Lesné L, Serrano T, Main KM, Jégou B. Analgesic use—prevalence, biomonitoring and endocrine and reproductive effects. Nature reviews endocrinology. 2016 Jul;12(7):381-93.
4.7. Supplementary material

Table 4.4: Supplementary table presenting sub-group analysis

Variables	ASD only		ID	only	ASD with ID	
	AOR	p-value	AOR	p-value	AOR	p-value
NSAID prescription	1.12	0.5261	1.50	< 0.0001	0.87	0.7288
Mothers' age	1.05	< 0.0001	1.02	< 0.0001	1.04	0.0013
Mothers' Race						
White	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-
Black	0.79	0.0002	1.13	< 0.0001	0.91	0.4627
Others	0.58	0.0440	0.68	0.0008	0.90	0.8093
Preeclampsia	1.29	0.0215	1.32	< 0.0001	1.82	0.0027
Smoking	1.18	0.0310	1.18	< 0.0001	0.93	0.6581
Gestational diabetes	1.21	0.0991	1.11	0.0450	0.91	0.7307
Infection	0.98	0.8411	0.96	0.2775	0.51	0.0144
Body Mass Index						
Normal	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-
Underweight	0.83	0.0801	1.00	0.9756	0.99	0.9640
Overweight	0.99	0.9525	1.10	0.0063	0.90	0.5285
Obese	1.25	0.0034	1.18	< 0.0001	1.16	0.3446

Chapter 5: Prenatal exposure to acetaminophen and risk of autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis²

²Chowdhury, MAK. To be Submitted to *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*.

5.1. Abstract

Introduction: Acetaminophen is the most commonly used medication during pregnancy. Recent studies suggest an association between acetaminophen usage during pregnancy and neurodevelopmental disorders in their children which has been biologically explained by the oxidative stress produced by the drug during pregnancy. Therefore, we conducted a systematic review to evaluate the literature examining the risk of autism among children of the mothers who had used acetaminophen during pregnancy.

Methods: We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) 2009 framework guideline and checklist to conduct this systematic review. We searched MEDLINE, Embase, and Cochrane databases for relevant studies up to September 2020. The review process was conducted by two researchers individually and any concern was sorted out with the help of a senior of the team. Finally, three studies met the inclusion criteria and were selected for narrative synthesis and meta-analysis. The risk of bias was assesses using a standardized tool. A Random effects model was utilized for meta-analysis since there was heterogeneity (I^2 : 94%).

Results: The review included 67,319 mother-child dyads in total. The exposure and outcome ascertainment differed among the studies. The follow up ranged from 5 years to 20 years. The pooled risk ratio for autism was 1.29 (95% CI: 1.17, 1.41).

Conclusion: We found a 29 percent evaluated risk for ASD. However, this systematic review warrants further investigation of the research question in order to establish the generalizability of the selected study results.

PROSPERO registration: Done in October 2020 (CRD42020213917)

5.2. Introduction

Acetaminophen (also known as 'Paracetamol', 'Panadol', or 'Tylenol') is an effective analgesic and antipyretic agent.(1-3) Among all the 'Over-the-counter (OTC)' drugs, acetaminophen is the most commonly used drug for fever and pain management (4, 5). Since acetaminophen is considered safe for pregnant women, it continues to be the most common medication used to relieve the aforementioned symptoms.(6, 7) Studies conducted in the United States and Europe suggest that about 50% of pregnant women use acetaminophen at least once during their pregnancy period (8). However, there has also been evidence of harmful effects on children due to maternal acetaminophen exposure, including increased risk for development of asthma,(9, 10) cryptorchidism,(11, 12) and neurodevelopmental disorders.(7, 13-17) Despite these reports on adverse impact of acetaminophen intake during pregnancy, in 2015, the U.S. Food and Drug administration (USFDA) released a safety announcement regarding potential limitation of those studies and continued with the previous recommendations for pain and fever management during pregnancy.(18)

Different studies reported different types of neurodevelopmental disorders associated with Acetaminophen exposure during fetal life that includes behavioral problems,(7, 19) low intelligence quotient (IQ),(15, 20, 21) Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD),(16, 17, 22) and Autism spectrum disorder (ASD).(23-26) The underlying pathophysiology regarding how acetaminophen affects fetal brain is still being explored both in animal models and humans.(12, 27-31) A study on in vitro developing mouse cortical neurons found a detrimental effect of acetaminophen on cortical neuron function.(27) Other rodent studies suggested that acetaminophen toxicity causes neuronal

apoptosis and consequently disruptive brain development through inhibition of fetal testosterone production.(30, 32) Another mechanism of pathogenesis indicated by several studies is through inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 enzyme which may alter brain functions.(31, 33, 34) These mechanisms produce free oxygen radicals which can cross the blood-placental barrier and may cause neuro-developmental disorders in the fetus.(28)

The impact of acetaminophen on ASD has only recently been explored,(35) but it is an important topic in public health since the prevalence of autism is increasing throughout the world.(36) There has been one systematic review and meta-analysis,(37) but in that review, the outcome was not autism exclusively, rather they included both ADHD, ASD, conduct disorders. Moreover, the authors included case-control studies in their review, and they reported ASD together with emotional problems. Furthermore, after the publication date of that meta-analysis, a few other publications described the relationship between acetaminophen and autism.(38-43) Therefore, we conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis, using articles published through September 2020, to assess the association between in-utero acetaminophen exposure and risk of autism.

5.3. Methods

5.3.1. Registration of the review

We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Metaanalysis (PRISMA) 2009 framework guideline and checklist.(44) According to the guideline of the PRISMA checklist, we have registered our systematic review protocol at the PROSPERO registry of systematic reviews in October 2020 (CRD42020213917).(45)

5.3.2. Eligibility criteria

We planned to review all the scientific articles, published in English, up to September 2020. Although the preferred study type was Randomized Controlled Trial (RCTs), we found no RCT of acetaminophen in pregnant women. Therefore, we only included cohort studies in our final selected articles. We excluded case-control studies to get similar measures of effect and biases. Across the analyses described in the collected studies, the effect measures for our outcome 'autism' included hazard ratios, risk ratios, incidence rate ratios, odds ratios, or coefficients. The exposure and comparison ascertainment did not consider the usage of any concomitant NSAID. There was no age, ethnicity, or socio-economic status preference for the study population. The Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcome (PICO) framework for our systematic review is given as Figure 5.1 below.





5.3.3. Data sources and Search strategy

The databases we used for our systematic review were MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Cochrane Reviews to identify all the available manuscript that studied the association between in-utero exposure of acetaminophen and risk of autism irrespective of study types. We identified the studies using the keywords and appropriate Medical Subject Heading (MeSH) terms: "autism", "ASD", "autism spectrum disorder", "acetaminophen", "paracetamol", "Tylenol", "pregnancy", and "prenatal" in different combinations. We also searched published systematic reviews, other online resources, and conference abstracts to identify all relevant studies. Finally, when appropriate and necessary, we contacted the authors of the final selected articles for clarification about methods [Personal correspondence].

5.3.4. Study selection and data extraction

Two investigators (MAKC and RDG) independently searched the databases for the selection of the articles. Although they independently screened titles, abstracts and full texts, any disagreement was resolved by consensus, or by consultation with the study supervisor (SM). After finalizing the articles, a standardized data extraction form was developed and piloted, based on the Cochrane data abstraction template.(46) The first author (MAKC) extracted the data and consulted with RDG and SM if there were any issues. The extractable data items were study title, publication year, population description, study setting, inclusion and exclusion criteria, methods of participant recruitment, study objective, study start and end date, study design, outcome measures, exposure, data analysis, bias assessment, and results.

5.3.5. Risk of bias assessment

The risk of bias was assessed both within and across the studies using utilized "Tool to Assess Risk of Bias in Cohort Studies" from Evidence Partners contributed by the CLARITY group at McMaster University and published by Evidence Partners(47) where we assessed the risk of bias analyzing 8 different questions. Again, two investigators independently filled out the forms relevant to study bias assessment and rated the studies as 'Good', 'Fair', or 'Poor'. Any inconsistency was resolved by consensus, or by consultation with the senior authors.

5.3.6. Synthesis of results

Primarily, the findings have been described as narrative synthesis with the explanation of the summary measures (Hazard ratios, Risk ratios, or Odds ratios). We also described how the authors obtained the effect measures with appropriate numerators and denominators where applicable.

5.3.7. Statistical analysis

We conducted the meta-analysis to get the pooled estimates using the Microsoft Excel 2016 as suggested by Neyeloff et al. (2012).(48) Heterogeneity was assessed using the I2 statistics, when I2 values of 75%, 50%, and 25% represented high, medium, and low heterogeneity, respectively. Forest plots were generated from the same software to illustrate our findings. Random effects models were used since there was high heterogeneity. Statistical significance was defined using a 2-sided alpha level of 0.05.

5.4. Results

We found 90 articles from MEDLINE (31), EMBASE (51), and Cochrane Reviews (8) when we applied our search terms in the respective databases. Two additional articles were identified from manual searches from conference proceedings and gray literature. After removal of duplications and articles with languages other than English, 68 articles were eligible for title and abstract screening. Based on our predefined eligibility criteria, 24 articles were selected for full text review. We excluded 21 articles for reasons related to article types, study design, inappropriate exposure and outcomes, and animal studies. We included 3 articles in this systematic review which encompassed 67,310 mother-child pairs among whom 460 children had autism. The selection process is depicted in Figure 5.2.





None of the selected studies was identified as "poor" after risk of bias assessment. The reviewers have identified all 3 studies between "good" and "fair" because of a few risks in exposure ascertainment, outcome assessment and cohort follow up duration. Moreover, we could not assess whether all the possible confounders have been considered in these studies. The details of risk of bias assessment are provided in Table 5.1.

Articles	Was selection of exposed and non-exposed cohorts drawn from the same population	Can we be confident in the assessment of exposure?	Can we be confident that the outcome of interest was not present at the study?	Did the study match for all variables that are associated with the outcome or adjust for them?	Can we be confident in the assessment of the presence or absence of prognostic factors?	Can we be confident in the assessment of outcome?	Was the follow up of cohorts adequate?	Were co-interventions similar between groups?
Avella-Garcia CB et al., 2016	Yes	Probably Yes	Yes	Probably Yes	Probably Yes	Yes	Probably Yes	Yes
Liew Z et al., 2016	Yes	Probably No	Yes	Probably Yes	Probably Yes	Probably Yes	Yes	Yes
Ji Y et al., 2016	Probably Yes	Yes	Yes	Probably Yes	Probably Yes	Probably Yes	Probably Yes	Yes

Table 5.1: Findings from risk of bias assessment

These cohort studies were conducted in three different countries in Europe and North America. One of the studies (Avella-Garcia, 2016) was conducted in four different Spanish cities (Asturias, Gipuzkoa, Sabadell, and Valencia)(16) while Ji et al. (2019) conduced their study in Boston, USA.(39) The other study utilized the Danish National Birth Cohort.(15) All those articles were published after 2015. However, the timelines for the studies were different from one another ranging from 1998 to 2018. The sample size also varied between the studies, ranging from 996 in study conducted in Boston, USA(39) to 64,322 from Danish National Birth Cohort(15). The duration of the cohort follow up for the studies were 20 years(39), 12.7 years(15), and about 5 years(16). In keeping with our research question, the exposure was acetaminophen in all these three articles although the method of ascertainment of exposure was not the same. Garcia et al. and Liew et al. interviewed the women prospectively utilizing a standard questionnaire (face-to-face and telephone interviews) whereas Ji et al. measured cord plasma metabolites of acetaminophen as the exposure status. The metabolites which were measured included unchanged acetaminophen, acetaminophen glucuronide, and 3-(N-acetyl-L-cystein-S-yl) acetaminophen. The authors of the papers utilized different approaches for outcome ascertainment. Garcia et al. ascertained the outcome of autism from the Childhood Autism Spectrum Test (CAST) score while the other two used International Classification of Diseases 9th and 10th version (ICD-9 and ICD-10) codes for autism. All the selected articles mentioned possible biases in their respective studies. The important components of the studies are summarized in Table 5.2.

|--|

Author	Journal & Publication year	Study site & Timeline	Study population	Exposure assessment	Outcome assessment	Bias ascertainment
Avella- Garcia CB et al.	International Journal of Epidemiology 2016	Spain 2004 - 2008	 The parent study had 2644 mother- child pairs from Spanish birth cohort. CAST score was available for 1467 children 	Interviewing participants – face to face	CAST13 scores	 Sensitivity analysis was conducted. No differential loss to follow up. Unmeasured genetic confounding Exposure misclassification
Liew Z et al.	International Society for Autism Research 2016	Denmark 1996 - 2002	 In total, 101,041 pregnancies were enrolled in Danish National Birth Cohort This study was limited to 64,322 children and their mothers 	Interviewing participants – telephone	ICD-9 & ICD-10 codes (Only hospital data)	 Large sample ensured generalizability. Multiple imputation for missing value Less chance of recall bias for exposure assessment Valid outcome assessment Unmeasured confounding

• H H Ji Y et JAMA USA contract al. 2020 1998 - 2018 • Contract Second	For this study, the Boston birth cohort enrolled 3183 mother-infant dyads. Of them, 996 had sufficient cord plasma sample for metabolite survey, and 66 had ASD	Cord plasma metabolites	ICD-9 & ICD-10 codes (Electronic Medical Records)	 Absence of true unexposed groups Unmeasured confounding There has been issues regarding generalizability
--	--	----------------------------	--	--

Despite having similar study design, and the same exposure and outcome, the selected studies used different measures of association in their analysis. Avella-Garcia et al. (2016) considered the outcome autism as continuous variables,(16) while in the Ji et al. paper the outcome was categorical.(39) In the Liew paper, the outcome was time to event.(15) Thus, for statistical analysis, the studies utilized linear regression, logistic regression, and Cox proportion hazard regression, respectively. The studies also included the variables adjusted for in the final model. Table 5.3 outlines the measures of association, analysis strategy, and the variables in the final model.

Articles	Measure of association	Analysis strategy	Variables adjusted for in the final model
Avella- Garcia, 2016	Incidence Risk ratio	 Linear regression Negative binomial regression 	• City, child gender, age at testing, gestational age at birth, and maternal social class, education, mothers' IQ, chronic illness, fever during pregnancy, urinary infection during pregnancy.
Liew, 2016	Hazard ratio	 Cox proportion hazard regression 	• Child's sex, birth year, maternal age at childbirth, parity, socioeconomic status, smoking, alcohol drinking during pregnancy, and maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index, self-reported maternal psychiatric illness
Ji, 2020	Odds ratio	• Adjusted logistic regression	• Maternal age at delivery, maternal race/ethnicity, maternal educational level, marital status, stress during pregnancy, smoking before or during pregnancy, alcohol use before or during pregnancy, maternal body mass index, parity, child's sex, delivery type, preterm birth, and low birth weight.

Table 5.3: Measures of association, analysis strategy, and variables adjusted for in the final model in the selected articles.

The study by Garcia et al., presented their results as beta coefficients and found no significant results overall regarding increase of the CAST score for detecting autism when adjusted for confounders. In a stratified analysis by sex, they reported significant result in for male children.(16) However, we calculated the crude Risk Ratio for this study and found that to be significant for males and females (1.34, 95% CI: 1.17, 1.53). In the Liew et al. paper the authors presented hazard ratios separately for ASD with or without hyperkinetic symptoms.(15) They reported significant results for the former and no association between acetaminophen exposure and ASD without hyperkinetic symptoms. Again, we calculated the crude RR which was 1.21 (1.07 - 1.37). The Ji paper reported their findings for acetaminophen metabolites separately. The authors presented adjusted Odds ratios for cord blood unchanged acetaminophen and cord acetaminophen burden having first tertile as the reference group since there were no true unexposed group.(39) In both these cases, the third tertile showed significant results. For cord acetaminophen glucuronide and cord 3-(N-acetyl-L-cystein-S-yl) acetaminophen, there were some cases for whom these metabolites were not detected, and the authors utilized this group as the reference category. The study reported significant finding for cord acetaminophen glucuronide, and our calculated crude RR was 1.34 (0.78 – 2.30). As shown in Figure 5.3, our meta-analysis suggests that acetaminophen use during pregnancy is significantly associated with an increased risk of ASD (RR = 1.29, 95% CI:1.17, 1.41, I²=94%).



Figure 5.3: Forest plot showing Risk ratios (RRs) and confidence intervals (CIs) from a random effects meta-analysis of 3 cohort studies on the risk for autistic spectrum disorder after exposure to acetaminophen during pregnancy.

5.5. Discussion

This systematic review and meta-analysis unique in a way that no other study, to our knowledge, has examined the association of acetaminophen exposure during pregnancy and children's ASD exclusively. However, there has been another article that examined the association of the same exposure with neurodevelopmental outcomes including ASD(37) up to January 2017, whereas we included studies up to October 2020. For the eligibility criteria, Masarwa, R., et al., selected both cohort and case-control study designs, and ADHD and ASD as outcomes. On the contrary, we included only cohort studies and ASD as the only outcome. In this way, we excluded three papers that were included by Masarwa et al.(37) For example, we excluded a study that reported the outcomes of psychomotor delays, behavioral problems, and temperament.(19) Our meta-analysis suggests that children of mothers who used acetaminophen during their pregnancy period have a 29% higher risk of ASD in comparison to children whose mothers did not use acetaminophen during pregnancy. Our study findings support the meta-analysis finding of Masarwa et al. that showed the RR of 1.19 (95% CI: 1.14, 1.25).(37) There have also been research reports that demonstrated the biological plausibility of this association either through neuro-disruptive mechanisms or oxidative stress in utero.(12, 13, 28, 30, 49, 50)

However, there are some limitations to our approach. Firstly, there were differences in exposure ascertainment. Two of the three selected articles used interviews for exposure ascertainment, one of which was face-to-face and the other was telephone interviews.(15, 16) This created a potential for bias since the validity depends upon how the questions are worded. But more importantly, the third article ascertained the exposure by biochemical measurement(39) using the cord plasma metabolites collected at birth. There are several issues regarding exposure ascertainment in this way since measuring once at birth only confirms exposure during peripartum period, since the half -life of acetaminophen is just a few hours.(51) Moreover, the acetaminophen metabolites are excreted through urine mostly within 24 hours.(51, 52) Thus, this exposure ascertainment by plasma biomarker estimation at birth will not provide an idea whether the mother was exposed to acetaminophen during the in-utero brain development of her child. The study did not measure acetaminophen sulfate, a major acetaminophen metabolite, which could have evaluated cord acetaminophen burden.(39, 53) For the other acetaminophen metabolites, they compared no detection of metabolites in the cord, and this does not represent the absence of exposure during the pregnancy period. Secondly, this study did not have a true comparator.(39) They categorized the unchanged cord acetaminophen into tertiles and presented their findings accordingly considering the lowest tertile as the reference. Thirdly, the outcome ascertained differed among the studies when one of the articles measured Childhood Autism Spectrum Test (CAST) scores while the others used international classification of Disease (ICD) codes. However, CAST scoring system has been regarded as a good predictor of autism.(54-56) A study conducted in UK by Williams et al. on 1,925 children reported sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 97% of this test although the positive predictive value was 50% only.(56) Another study conducted in China reported good test-retest reliability (kappa=0.64) with the cut-off score of 15 out of 39 which has been a well-accepted cut-off value now.(55) However, CAST scoring is still not widely used as a diagnostic tool, rather it is more used as a good screening tool.(54) However, despite this, CAST score is a better indicator of the outcome than the ICD codes since we do not get much information from the ICD codes regarding how the diagnosis was confirmed. Among the other two studies, one used only the hospital registry while the other used the physician diagnosed electronic medical registry. Finally, they presented three different effect measures with different statistical analyses strategies. Garcia et al. used linear regression and negative binomial regression and presented incidence risk ratio (IRR),(16) Liew et al. used Cox proportional hazard regression,(15) and Ji et al. utilized adjusted logistic regression.(39) Fourthly, the number of the papers included is very low which impacts the heterogeneity and may result in bias.(57).

The main strength of this study lies in its specificity of the research question and corresponding eligibility criteria. This is the first systematic review and meta-analysis that examined the association between maternal usage of acetaminophen during pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) through analyzing cohort studies only. We conducted an extensive search for available literature published till October 2020 and utilized standard methods for data extraction. We utilized Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews (PRISMA) flow diagram for selecting the articles.(44) Since the selected articles were heterogenous in nature, we applied random effects model to pool the results.

Our findings suggest a need for detailed, methodologically sound investigations of the risk of ASD due to acetaminophen use during pregnancy. Until a clear causal pathway is established, the findings of these studies should not be overstated since acetaminophen is one of the most widely used medicine across the globe.

5.6. References

1. Ameer B, Greenblatt DJ. Acetaminophen. Annals of internal Medicine. 1977 Aug 1;87(2):202-9.

2. Sutton E, Soyka LF. How safe is acetaminophen? Some practical cautions with this widely used agent. Clinical pediatrics. 1973 Dec;12(12):692-6.

3. Ogemdi IK. A Review on the Properties and Uses of Paracetamol. International journal of pharmacy and chemistry. 2019 Sep 21;5(3):31.

4. Werler MM, Mitchell AA, Hernandez-Diaz S, Honein MA. Use of over-the-counter medications during pregnancy. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2005 Sep 1;193(3):771-7.

5. Headley J, Northstone K, Simmons H, Golding J. Medication use during pregnancy: data from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 2004 Jul;60(5):355-61.

76

 Toda K. Is acetaminophen safe in pregnancy?. Scandinavian journal of pain. 2017 Oct 1;17(1):445-6.

7. Stergiakouli E, Thapar A, Smith GD. Association of acetaminophen use during pregnancy with behavioral problems in childhood: evidence against confounding. JAMA pediatrics. 2016 Oct 1;170(10):964-70.

Nordeng H. Drug utilisation studies in pregnancy. Drug Utilization Studies.
 Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. 2016 May.

9. Amberbir A, Medhin G, Alem A, Britton J, Davey G, Venn A. The role of acetaminophen and geohelminth infection on the incidence of wheeze and eczema: a longitudinal birth-cohort study. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2011 Jan 15;183(2):165-70.

10. Henderson AJ, Shaheen SO. Acetaminophen and asthma. Paediatric respiratory reviews. 2013 Mar 1;14(1):9-16.

11. Gurney J, Richiardi L, McGlynn KA, Signal V, Sarfati D. Analgesia use during pregnancy and risk of cryptorchidism: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Human reproduction. 2017 May 1;32(5):1118-29.

12. Kristensen DM, Hass U, Lesné L, Lottrup G, Jacobsen PR, Desdoits-Lethimonier C, Boberg J, Petersen JH, Toppari J, Jensen TK, Brunak S. Intrauterine exposure to mild analgesics is a risk factor for development of male reproductive disorders in human and rat. Human reproduction. 2011 Jan 1;26(1):235-44.

13. Ghanizadeh A. Acetaminophen may mediate oxidative stress and neurotoxicity in autism. Medical hypotheses. 2011 Dec 9;78(2):351-.

77

14. Liew Z, Ritz B, Rebordosa C, Lee PC, Olsen J. Acetaminophen use during pregnancy, behavioral problems, and hyperkinetic disorders. JAMA pediatrics. 2014 Apr 1;168(4):313-20.

15. Liew Z, Ritz B, Virk J, Olsen J. Maternal use of acetaminophen during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders in childhood: A Danish national birth cohort study. Autism research. 2016 Sep;9(9):951-8.

16. Avella-Garcia CB, Julvez J, Fortuny J, Rebordosa C, García-Esteban R, Galán IR, Tardón A, Rodríguez-Bernal CL, Iñiguez C, Andiarena A, Santa-Marina L. Acetaminophen use in pregnancy and neurodevelopment: attention function and autism spectrum symptoms. International journal of epidemiology. 2016 Dec 1;45(6):1987-96.

17. Thompson JM, Waldie KE, Wall CR, Murphy R, Mitchell EA, ABC Study Group. Associations between acetaminophen use during pregnancy and ADHD symptoms measured at ages 7 and 11 years. PloS one. 2014 Sep 24;9(9):e108210.

18. US Food and Drug Administration. FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA has reviewed possible risks of pain medicine use during pregnancy. FDA official site. 2015.

19. Brandlistuen RE, Ystrom E, Nulman I, Koren G, Nordeng H. Prenatal paracetamol exposure and child neurodevelopment: a sibling-controlled cohort study. International journal of epidemiology. 2013 Dec 1;42(6):1702-13.

20. Streissguth AP, Treder RP, Barr HM, Shepard TH, Bleyer WA, Sampson PD, Martin DC. Aspirin and acetaminophen use by pregnant women and subsequent child IQ and attention decrements. Teratology. 1987 Apr;35(2):211-9.

Liew Z, Ritz B, Virk J, Arah OA, Olsen J. Prenatal use of acetaminophen and child
 IQ. Epidemiology. 2016 Nov 1;27(6):912-8.

22. Liew Z, Bach CC, Asarnow RF, Ritz B, Olsen J. Paracetamol use during pregnancy and attention and executive function in offspring at age 5 years. International journal of epidemiology. 2016 Dec 1;45(6):2009-17.

23. Schultz ST, Gould GG. Acetaminophen use for fever in children associated with autism spectrum disorder. Autism-open access. 2016 Apr;6(2).

24. Saunders A, Woodland J, Gander S. A comparison of prenatal exposures in children with and without a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. Cureus. 2019 Jul;11(7).

25. Andrade C. Use of acetaminophen (paracetamol) during pregnancy and the risk of autism spectrum disorder in the offspring. The journal of clinical psychiatry. 2016 Feb 24;77(2):152-4.

26. Bauer AZ, Kriebel D. Prenatal and perinatal analgesic exposure and autism: an ecological link. Environmental health. 2013 Dec;12(1):1-3.

27. Schultz S, DeSilva M, Gu TT, Qiang M, Whang K. Effects of the Analgesic Acetaminophen (Paracetamol) and its para-Aminophenol Metabolite on Viability of Mouse-Cultured Cortical Neurons. Basic & clinical pharmacology & toxicology. 2012 Feb;110(2):141-4.

28. Parker W, Hornik CD, Bilbo S, Holzknecht ZE, Gentry L, Rao R, Lin SS, Herbert MR, Nevison CD. The role of oxidative stress, inflammation and acetaminophen exposure from birth to early childhood in the induction of autism. Journal of international medical research. 2017 Apr;45(2):407-38.

79

29. Morrison JL, Botting KJ, Darby JR, David AL, Dyson RM, Gatford KL, Gray C, Herrera EA, Hirst JJ, Kim B, Kind KL. Guinea pig models for translation of the developmental origins of health and disease hypothesis into the clinic. The journal of physiology. 2018 Dec;596(23):5535-69.

30. Kristensen DM, Lesné L, Le Fol V, Desdoits-Lethimonier C, Dejucq-Rainsford N, Leffers H, Jégou B. Paracetamol (acetaminophen), aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid) and indomethacin are anti-androgenic in the rat foetal testis. International journal of andrology. 2012 Jun;35(3):377-84.

31. Yamagata K, Andreasson KI, Kaufmann WE, Barnes CA, Worley PF. Expression of a mitogen-inducible cyclooxygenase in brain neurons: regulation by synaptic activity and glucocorticoids. Neuron. 1993 Aug 1;11(2):371-86.

32. Posadas I, Santos P, Blanco A, Muñoz-Fernández M, Ceña V. Acetaminophen induces apoptosis in rat cortical neurons. PloS one. 2010 Dec 10;5(12):e15360.

33. Shaw KN, Commins S, O'Mara SM. Deficits in spatial learning and synaptic plasticity induced by the rapid and competitive broad-spectrum cyclooxygenase inhibitor ibuprofen are reversed by increasing endogenous brain-derived neurotrophic factor. European journal of neuroscience. 2003 Jun;17(11):2438-46.

34. Dean SL, Knutson JF, Krebs-Kraft DL, McCarthy MM. Prostaglandin E2 is an endogenous modulator of cerebellar development and complex behavior during a sensitive postnatal period. European journal of neuroscience. 2012 Apr;35(8):1218-29.

35. Good P. Did acetaminophen provoke the autism epidemic. Alternative medicine review. 2009 Dec 1;14(4):364-72.

80

36. Idring S, Lundberg M, Sturm H, Dalman C, Gumpert C, Rai D, Lee BK, Magnusson C. Changes in prevalence of autism spectrum disorders in 2001–2011: findings from the Stockholm youth cohort. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2015 Jun 1;45(6):1766-73.

37. Masarwa R, Levine H, Gorelik E, Reif S, Perlman A, Matok I. Prenatal exposure to acetaminophen and risk for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autistic spectrum disorder: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression analysis of cohort studies. American journal of epidemiology. 2018 Aug 1;187(8):1817-27.

38. Bittker SS, Bell KR. Postnatal acetaminophen and potential risk of autism spectrum disorder among males. Behavioral sciences. 2020 Jan;10(1):26.

39. Ji Y, Azuine RE, Zhang Y, Hou W, Hong X, Wang G, et al. Association of Cord Plasma Biomarkers of In Utero Acetaminophen Exposure With Risk of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Autism Spectrum Disorder in Childhood. JAMA psychiatry. 2019:1-11.

40. Ji Y, Azuine RE, Zhang Y, Hou W, Hong X, Wang G, Riley A, Pearson C, Zuckerman B, Wang X. Association of cord plasma biomarkers of in utero acetaminophen exposure with risk of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and autism spectrum disorder in childhood. JAMA psychiatry. 2020 Feb 1;77(2):180-9.

41. Saugstad OD. Acetaminophen and the Developing Brain: Reason for Concern?. Neonatology. 2020;117(2):245-8.

42. Schultz S, Siniscalco D. Endocannabinoid system involvement in autism spectrum disorder: An overview with potential therapeutic applications. AIMS molecular science. 2019 Apr 29;6:27-37.

43. Staunton D, Afif EK. The unintended consequences of acetaminophen use for ductal closure in premature infants. Pediatric research. 2020 Jun;87(7):1153-4.

44. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int journal of surgery. 2010 Jan 1;8(5):336-41.

45. Schiavo JH. PROSPERO: an international register of systematic review protocols.Medical reference services quarterly. 2019 Apr 3;38(2):171-80.

46. Cochrane Collaboration. Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care(EPOC). Data Collection Form. EPOC resources for review authors. 2017.

47. Evidence Partners. Methodological resources Ontario, Canada: Systematic Review and Literature Review Software by Evidence Partners. 2021.

48. Neyeloff JL, Fuchs SC, Moreira LB. Meta-analyses and Forest plots using a microsoft excel spreadsheet: step-by-step guide focusing on descriptive data analysis. BMC research notes. 2012 Dec;5(1):1-6.

49. Colborn T. Neurodevelopment and endocrine disruption. Environmental health perspectives. 2004 Jun;112(9):944-9.

50. Becker KG, Schultz ST. Similarities in features of autism and asthma and a possible link to acetaminophen use. Medical hypotheses. 2010 Jan 1;74(1):7-11.

82

51. Prescott LF. Kinetics and metabolism of paracetamol and phenacetin. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 1980 Apr;10(S2):291S-8S.

52. Forrest JA, Clements JA, Prescott LF. Clinical pharmacokinetics of paracetamol. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 1982 Apr;7(2):93-107.

53. Mazaleuskaya LL, Sangkuhl K, Thorn CF, FitzGerald GA, Altman RB, Klein TE. PharmGKB summary: pathways of acetaminophen metabolism at the therapeutic versus toxic doses. Pharmacogenetics and genomics. 2015 Aug;25(8):416.

54. Allison C, Williams JO, Scott F, Stott C, Bolton P, Baron-Cohen S, Brayne C. The Childhood Asperger Syndrome Test (CAST) Test–retest reliability in a high scoring sample. Autism. 2007 Mar;11(2):173-85.

55. Sun X, Allison C, Auyeung B, Matthews FE, Baron-Cohen S, Brayne C. The Mandarin Chinese version of the childhood autism spectrum test (CAST): Test–retest reliability. Research in developmental disabilities. 2013 Oct 1;34(10):3267-75.

56. Williams J, Scott F, Stott C, Allison C, Bolton P, Baron-Cohen S, Brayne C. The CAST (Childhood Asperger Syndrome Test) test accuracy. Autism. 2005 Feb;9(1):45-68.

57. Thompson SG. Systematic Review: Why sources of heterogeneity in meta-analysis should be investigated. British medical journal. 1994 Nov 19;309(6965):1351-5.

83

Chapter 6: NSAID usage during pregnancy, mediated through birthweight, is associated with the development of intellectual disability: findings from prospective data.³

³Chowdhury, MAK. To be Submitted to *Neonatology*.

6.1. Abstract

Introduction: Although many risk factors have been identified for ID, the effect of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) usage during pregnancy was unexplored. We estimated direct and indirect effects of NSAID on ID while considering preeclampsia and birth weight as potential mediators.

Methods: We conducted this retrospective cohort study using the datasets from Medicaid, Department of Education, Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, and birth certificate from South Carolina between 2010-2017. We used multiple logistic regression to identify factors associated with ID. Subsequently, we conducted the mediation analyses using the SAS version 9.4.

Results: Out of 153,562 children born to Medicaid mothers during the study period, 2.5% of the mothers had NSAID prescription while 5.4% of the children were diagnosed with ID. The factors associated with ID were NSAID prescription during pregnancy, child's sex and birthweight, maternal age, race, BMI, smoking, gestational diabetes, Kotelchuck index, and multiple pregnancy. The odds of having a child with ID among the mothers who had an NSAID prescription during pregnancy was 27% higher than that among the mothers who did not have an NSAID prescription (aOR: 1.27, 95% CI: 1.12-1.45). We found a significant mediation effect of birthweight on ID. Very low birth weight (<1500 grams) mediated the association of NSAIDs on ID (OR:1.21, 95% CI: 1.06 – 1.40). The indirect effect was 1.12 (95% CI: 1.06-1.18) and 40.9% of the effects of NSAIDs on ID was mediated through very low birthweight. Similarly, when we categorized birthweight as low birth weight (>2500 grams) versus others, the direct effect was 1.42

(95% CI: 1.03-1.96) and the indirect effect was 1.10 (95% CI: 1.06-1.15) and 27.1% of the effects of NSAIDs on ID were mediated through birthweight.

Conclusion: The use of NSAIDs during pregnancy is associated with an increased risk for ID, partially mediated through birthweight. It is clinically relevant because NSAIDs are recommended for women at risk for preeclampsia by both the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology and the US Preventive Services Task Force.

6.2. Introduction

An intellectual disability (ID) is a neurodevelopmental disorders which has onset during the developmental period and is characterized by "developmental deficits that produce impairments of personal, social, academic or occupational functioning" according to Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, Fifth edition (DSM-5).(1) IDs are characterized by social, cognitive, and adaptive skill deficits which is often accompanied by stereotypies and challenging behaviors.(2-5) ID is the only condition, among the neurodevelopmental disorders, that demonstrates substantial deficit in in intellectual function although it shares many features with other disorders including communication disorders (language disorder, speech sound disorder, childhood-onset fluency disorder, social communication disorder), autism spectrum disorder (ASD), attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and motor disorders (developmental coordination disorder, stereotypic movement disorder, tic disorders).(6)

A US systematic review suggested that the prevalence of ID among children ranges between 1.1% to 1.34%.(7) Another study in Finland reported the prevalence to be 1.17%.(8) A study conducted among 2,208 children with both ASD and ID identified through the South Carolina Autism and Developmental Disabilities Network reported that the prevalence of ASD in people with ID to be 18.04% while the ASD rate in the general population was between 0.60% and 1.11%.(9) However, different epidemiological studies in United States show that the range of prevalence of ID vary widely depending on the denominator (or source of the underlying population including Medicaid insured mothers, school based counts, or service delivery systems), from 8.7 to 36.8 per 1,000.(10)

A systematic review and meta-analysis involving 17 studies showed that advanced maternal age, maternal black race, low maternal education, multi parity, maternal alcohol use, maternal tobacco use, maternal diabetes, preeclampsia, maternal epilepsy and maternal asthma, preterm birth, male sex and low birth weight were significantly associated with increased risk of ID(11), although some other studies also included antidepressant or antiepileptic drug exposure during pregnancy as risk factors for ID.(12-15)

NSAIDs have several effects including anti-inflammation, analgesic, antipyretic effects and inhibition of thrombocyte aggregation.(16) Aspirin, a very common NSAID, has been found to be preventive for preeclampsia with Odds Ratio of 0.86 (95% CI: 0.76, 0.96),(17) and has been recommended, since 2014, by the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) for pregnant women at risk for preeclampsia.(18) Moreover, preeclampsia is a known risk factor for ID, for instance, a meta-analysis involving 17 studies showed that the mothers having preeclampsia were at 33% more at risk of having children with ID in comparison to the mothers without preeclampsia (OR: 1.33; 95% CI:1.24-1.42).(11, 19)

NSAIDs have the potential to produce free oxygen radicals which can cross the blood brain barrier and may result in neurodevelopmental abnormalities in the offspring.(20, 21) However, no study reported an association of Non-Steroidal Antiinflammatory Drugs (NSAID) intake during pregnancy with ID. The aim of this paper was to study the impact of NSAID prescriptions during pregnancy with ID of the offspring, and the direct and indirect effects of preeclampsia and birthweight as potential mediators.

6.3. Materials and Methods

6.3.1. Study population

The analyses were conducted on the prospective data of 153,562 mother-child pairs from the South Carolina Medicaid data 2010-2017. SC Medicaid enrolls women up to 185% of the federal poverty level, during pregnancy and infancy.(22, 23) In addition, SC has the Katie Beckett Waiver that allows children to remain on Medicaid if they have a condition that requires high levels of care regardless of family income. (23, 24) Therefore, there is likely an overrepresentation of children with ID and other neurodevelopmental conditions in the study population. These data were linked to South Carolina Department of Education (SCDE) public school records, South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) service and support records and South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (SCDHEC) Vital Records of 2010-2017. The SCDE services children ages 3-22 in regular and special education, however some children in SC attend private school and others are home schooled. The SCDE data system allows us to access children with ID and ASD placements among those attending public school and those homeschool using SCDE endorsed curriculum. The decision to place a child in a special education placement is made by a team of educational professional with the results from formal psychological and medical testing. The DDSN is a state-based provider of disability testing and services for residents of SC at all ages for ID and other lifelong neurodevelopmental disabilities. To receive services and supports from DDSN there is extensive testing by a licensed psychological and a medical evaluation. Not all residents of SC with ID and ASD take advantage of this state service, thus there are children with ID who are not in the DDSN dataset. Finally, SCDHEC has the birth certificate for every live born child born in the state, and this system includes numerous demographic and medical variables about the mother and child at the time of birth.

6.3.2. Variables

Exposure variable: The main exposure variable was Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) prescriptions during the pregnancy. NSAID prescriptions have been ascertained from the pharmacy list in the Medicaid data. NSAIDs are a class of analgesic medications that are widely used globally to reduce pain, fever, and inflammation.(16) Most NSAIDs are over the counter medications that do not require a prescription, some NSAIDs are combined with prescription drug. SC Medicaid pays for both prescription and over the counter medication for members during pregnancy so NSAIDs would be recorded in the pharmacy list even if a prescription was not sent. They are also known as cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors since they work by inhibiting the activity of COX-1 and COX-2 enzymes.(25). Most NSAIDs are non-selective inhibiting both, whereas some others are selective to COX-2 only and are known as COX-2 inhibitors.(26) Non-selective NSAIDs include salicylates (Aspirin), Propionic acid derivatives (Ibuprofen, Naproxen, Ketoprofen, Oxaprozin), Acetic acid derivatives (Indomethacin, Ketorolac, Diclofenac, Aceclofenac), Enolic acid derivatives/Oxicams (Piroxicam, Tenoxicam, Phenylbutazone), Anthranilic acid derivatives/Fenamates (Mefenamic acid, Meclofenamic acid). On the other hand, selective COX-2 inhibitors/ Coxibs are Celecoxib, Rofecoxib, and Valdecoxib.(27) We have defined a mother exposed to NSAIDs if she had prescriptions of any type of NSAIDs during the pregnancy period and considered it as a binary variable (Yes/No).

Mediators: We considered preeclampsia as a potential mediator since we hypothesized that some of the effect of NSAIDs on ID could be mediated through the proinflammatory condition of preeclampsia. In 2014, during our study period, the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) made a B grade recommendation for 81 mg of Aspirin daily after 12 weeks of gestation, as preventive medication in women at risk for preeclampsia.(18) In our dataset, preeclampsia was a binary variable (Yes/No) obtained from SC birth certificates and Medicaid data. We also analyzed the data considering birthweight as a potential mediator since some research showed that NSAID usage during pregnancy is a risk factor for low birth weight,(28, 29) which in turn, is associated with ID.(19, 30) In our data, birthweight was a continuous variable which was later categorized to 'Normal' (>2500 grams), 'Low Birth Weight – LBW' (1500-2500 grams), and 'Very Low Birth Weight – VLBW' (<1500 grams). We conducted two mediation analyses for the mediator 'birthweight' considering this as binary variable, one as 'VLBW and others' and the other as 'LBW and others'.

Outcome variable: Intellectual disability (ID) has also been a binary variable where the variable was denoted as 'YES" when we detected Medicaid ICD-9 codes 317-319 or a specific genetic syndrome code 758.0-758.3, 759.81-759.89, 760.71, or ICD-10 codes of F70-F79. We also identified ID in public school special education records (SCDE) or the centralized state disability service agency dataset (SCDDSN). We considered IDs irrespective of having concurrent autism spectrum disorders. Covariates: The covariates of our analysis included maternal age, race, gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, body mass index (BMI), smoking status, Kotelchuck index, and plurality, and child's sex and birthweight. All these variables were determined either from Medicaid dataset or SC birth certificate dataset. Variables were dichotomous or categorical: race ('White' or 'Black'), age ('less than 30 years' and '30 years or more), Kotelchuck index (Inadequate and adequate), and child's sex (Male and Female).

6.3.3. Statistical analysis

The baseline characteristics of the study participants were analyzed using descriptive statistics and the significant differences were determined by the chi-square test for the categorical variables and t-test for continuous variables. Since the outcome variable is binary, we used logistic regression models for unadjusted and adjusted analysis. We also evaluated the total, direct, and indirect effects of NSAID usage during pregnancy by the mothers on ID of their children, with preeclampsia and birthweight as mediators, using the mediation macro in SAS version 9.4. With this method, we attempted to decompose the total effect of NSAID on ID into a direct effect (not mediated by preeclampsia or birthweight) and indirect effect (mediated by preeclampsia or birthweight).(31) Diagrammatic representations of these effects are described in the causal directed acyclic graph (DAG) in Figure 6.1 and 6.2.



C1 = Maternal age, race, gestational diabetes, smoking, BMI, Kotelchuck index, children's sex, plurality

Figure 6.1: DAG for the effect of NSAID on ID mediated by preeclampsia



C2 = Maternal age, race, gestational diabetes, smoking, BMI, Kotelchuck index, children's sex, plurality

Figure 6.2: DAG for the effect of NSAID on ID mediated by birthweight

We used the SAS macro developed by Valeri and VanderWeele(32,22) to evaluate the natural direct effect, natural indirect effect, and total effect of NSAID prescription during pregnancy on ID of the children with preeclampsia and birthweight as mediators from a cohort data.(34) We assumed that there were, first, no unmeasured confounding of exposure (NSAID prescription) and outcome (ID); second, no unmeasured confounding of mediators (preeclampsia or birthweight) on outcome (ID); third, no unmeasured confounding of the exposure–mediator relationship; fourth, that no exposure-outcome
confounder was affected by exposure; and finally, that the outcome was rare.(33,35). VanderWeele showed that under these assumptions, the odds ratio (OR) for total effects evaluating exposure and outcome in the presence of a mediator can be decomposed into ORs for direct and indirect effects and this OR approximates the relative risk.(35) We have presented our findings as natural direct effect (NDE) and natural indirect effect (NIE) which have also been decomposed the pure and total NDE and NIE, respectively. In our study, NDE was the effect of the exposure NSAID use in pregnancy on the outcome, ID, among mothers not having preeclampsia (or a normal weight baby), and NIE was the effect of preeclampsia (or low birthweight) on ID among mothers using NSAID including interaction between NSAID use and preeclampsia (low birthweight). We also estimated the pure indirect effect which was the effect of preeclampsia (or low birthweight) on ID when women did not take NSAIDs and the total direct effect which was the effect of NSAID use on ID among women with preeclampsia (or low birthweight babies) and the interaction between NSAID use and preeclampsia (or low birthweight). Finally, we measured the proportion of the effect mediated by using the following formula from VanderWeele and Vansteelandt (2010):(35):

Proportion mediated = [(NDE*(NIE-1)) / (NDE*NIE - 1)],

where, NDE = Natural Direct Effect and NIE = Natural Indirect Effect

6.3.4. Ethical consideration

The study data were linked by the SC Revenue and Fiscal Affairs (RFA) Office, which is the repository of state datasets that assigns a unique identifier to every person. RFA matched mothers and newborns and sent the study group a deidentified dataset. Therefore, the University of South Carolina Institutional Review Board (IRB) reviewed the study and declared the deidentified data study had exempt status.

6.4. Results

In this retrospective study of 153,562 mother-child pairs, 8,239 (5.4%) of the children were diagnosed as having ID. Among the mothers of the children, 3.859 (2.5%) had NSAID prescriptions during their pregnancy. Among the mothers who had NSAID prescription during pregnancy 6.8% had preeclampsia whereas this proportion was 5.8% among the rest of the mothers. However, when we considered the children with ID, this proportions get significantly higher (11.1% and 7.7% respectively). The characteristics of the study population by the status of intellectual disability are presented in Table 6.1.

Variables	Children with ID (n=8,239)	Children without ID (n=145,323)	Total (N=153,562)
Maternal age (years), mean ± SD	24.7 ± 5.8	24.0 ± 5.4	24.0 ± 5.4
Less than 30 years	6,598 (80.1)	121,824 (83.8)	128,422 (83.6)
30 years or more	1,641 (19.9)	23,499 (16.2)	25,140 (16.4)
Maternal race			
White	4,384 (53.2)	78,895 (54.3)	83,279 (54.2)
Black	3,759 (45.6)	63,834 (43.9)	67,593 (44.0)
Others	96 (1.2)	2,594 (1.8)	2,690 (1.8)
Children's age (years), mean \pm SD	5.1 ± 1.4	5.0 ± 1.4	5.0 ± 1.4
Children's gender			
Male	5,294 (64.3)	72,966 (50.2)	78,260 (51.0)
Female	2,945 (35.7)	72,357 (49.8)	75,302 (49.0)
Birthweight (kilograms), mean ± SD	2.8 ± 0.9	3.2 ± 0.6	3.2 ± 0.6
Normal (> 2500 gm)	5,940 (72.1)	131,100 (90.2)	137,040 (89.2)

<u>Table 6.1:</u>	Characte	eristics of	f the	study	partici	pants	[N =	153,562]

Low Birthweight	1,204 (14.6)	12,505 (8.6)	13,709 (8.9)
Very low birthweight	1,095 (13.3)	1,718 (1.2)	2,813 (1.8)
Gestational weeks, mean ± SD	36.6 ± 4.1	38.4 ± 1.9	38.3 ± 2.2
Preterm	2,398 (29.1)	15,417 (10.6)	17,815 (11.6)
Eull torm	5 941 (70 0)	120.006 (80.4)	135,747
Full term	3,841 (70.9)	129,900 (89.4)	(88.4)
NSAID prescription	298 (3.6)	3,561 (2.5)	3,859 (2.5)
BMI (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD	28.8 ± 8.0	27.7 ± 7.4	27.8 ± 7.6
Normal	3,252 (39.5)	64,628 (44.5)	67,880 (44.2)
Overweight or Obese	4,987 (60.5)	80,695 (55.5)	85,682 (55.8)
Preeclampsia	644 (7.8)	8,266 (5.7)	8,910 (5.8)
Gestational Diabetes	526 (6.4)	7,338 (5.1)	7,864 (5.1)
Infection	771 (9.4)	14,277 (9.8)	15,048 (9.8)
Smoking (n=153,433)	1,515 (18.4)	23,707 (16.3)	25,222 (16.4)
Kotelchuck index (n=121,246)			
Inadequate or intermediate	2,064 (32.4)	35,498 (31.0)	37,562 (31.0)
Adequate or more	4,300 (67.6)	79,384 (69.0)	83,684 (69.0)
Plurality			
Cinglaton	7 674 (02 1)	141 441 (07 3)	149,115
Singleton	7,074 (95.1)	141,441 (97.3)	(97.1)
Multiple	565 (6.9)	3,882 (2.7)	4,447 (2.9)

We found that along mothers with an NSAID prescription, maternal age, race, children's sex, BMI, smoking, gestational diabetes, birthweight, and multiple pregnancy were significantly associated with ID and hence, we considered them as confounders. In our study, after adjusting for the confounders, the odds of having a child with ID was 27% higher among the mothers who had NSAID prescription during pregnancy in comparison to the mothers without an NSAID prescription. The detailed finding for the multivariate analyses were provided in Table 6.2.

Variable	aOR (CI)	P-value
NSAID prescription	1.27 (1.12 - 1.45)	0.0002
Age: 30 years or more vs. others	1.22 (1.15 - 1.29)	< 0.0001
Race: White vs. Black	1.09 (1.04 - 1.15)	0.0002
Children's sex: Male vs. Female	1.87 (1.78 - 1.96)	< 0.0001
Preeclampsia	1.06 (0.97 - 1.16)	0.2000
BMI: Overweight / Obese vs. normal	1.14 (1.09 - 1.20)	< 0.0001
Smoking	1.10 (1.04 - 1.17)	0.0015
Gestational diabetes	1.23 (1.12 - 1.36)	< 0.0001
Birthweight		
Very Low birthweight vs. Normal	13.90 (12.77 - 15.13)	< 0.0001
Low birthweight vs Normal	2.11 (1.97 - 2.26)	< 0.0001
Adequate Kotelchuck index	0.90 (0.86 - 0.94)	< 0.0001
Multiple pregnancy	1.29 (1.17 - 1.44)	< 0.0001

Table 6.2: Factors associated with Intellectual Disability (Adjusted Odds ratios)

NSAID prescription increased the risk of ID by 27% (aOR 1.27, 95 % CI: 1.12, 1.45) after adjusting for the confounders. Table 6.3 shows the mediation analysis for the effects of NSAID prescription on ID mediated through preeclampsia and birthweight using the SAS mediation macro. The indirect effect through preeclampsia was not statistically significant, and therefore, we conclude that the effect of NSAID prescription on ID was a direct effect. When birthweight was categorized into 'VLBW and others', the direct effect was measured as OR of 1.21 (1.06-1.40) while the indirect effect was 1.12 (1.06-1.18). About 40% of the total effect was mediated through birthweight. When birthweight was categorized as 'LBW and others' the OR for direct effect was 1.42 (1.03-1.96) and the indirect effect was 1.10 (1.06-1.15). The percentage of mediated effect was 27.1% in the

latter case. In both the cases, the Pure Indirect Effect (PIE) and Total Natural Indirect Effect

(TNIE) were similar.

<u>Table 6.3: Total, direct, and indirect effects of NSAID prescription and intellectual</u> <u>disability mediated by preeclampsia and birthweight using SAS mediation macro (Odds</u> <u>Ratio scale)</u>

	TDE	TDE DIE		NHE	TE	%	
Mediator	IDE	PIE	NDE	NIE	IE	Mediated	
	1.20^{*}	1.00	1.20^{*}	1.00	1.20^{*}	0%	
Preeclampsia	(1.04-	(0.99-	(1.04-	(0.99-	(1.04-		
	1.38)	1.00)	1.38)	1.00)	1.38)	-	
VLBW vs. others	1.27^{**}	1.16^{***}	1.21**	1.12^{***}	1.41^{***}	40.9	
	(1.10-	(1.13-	(1.06-	(1.06-	(1.23-	$(17 \ 17 \ 76 \ 1)$	
	1.46)	1.20)	1.40)	1.18)	1.63)	(17.4-70.1)	
LBW vs. others	1.41*	1.09***	1.42^{*}	1.10^{***}	1.55**	27.1	
	(1.04-	(1.07-	(1.03-	(1.06-	(1.12-	(10, 0, 67, 2)	
	1.740)	1.11)	1.96)	1.15)	2.14)	(10.9-07.5)	

†TDE: Total Direct Effect; PIE: Pure Indirect Effect; NDE: Natural Direct Effect; NIE: Natural Indirect Effect; TE: Total Effect

6.5. Discussion

In our study, the adjusted odds ratio (aOR) for the association of NSAIDs with ID was 1.27 (1.12-1.45). The other risk factors identified in our study were advanced maternal age (>30 years), White race, male sex of the children, overweight or obesity, smoking, having gestational diabetes, adequate Kotelchuck index, multiple pregnancy and adequate Kotelchuck index. In our investigation of mediation by preeclampsia status and birthweight we found very different results. We did not identify mediation through preeclampsia, although 7.8% of the mothers of children with ID had preeclampsia and 5.7% of the mothers of children with ID had preeclampsia and 5.7% of the mothers of children with ID had preeclampsia however mediation by birthweight. The proportion of very low birthweight (VLBW) children in the ID group was 12.3% compared to 1.2% in the no ID group and the aOR for ID was 13.90 (12.77 - 15.13)

for the VLBW group. The total direct effect of NSAIDs on ID was 1.21 (1.06-1.40) and the indirect effect through VLBW was 1.12 (1.06-1.18). The Odds ratios for LBW (< 2500 grams vs. \geq 2500 grams) were 1.42 and the indirect effect was 1.10. Birthweight mediated 40.9% of the association of NSAIDs and VLBW, and 27.1% of the association between NSAIDs and LBW, respectively.

The prevalence of ID varies,(36) as evident by a meta-analysis of population-based studies(37) however the CDC, in collaboration with the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) reported ID prevalence among children ages 3-17 years during the period 2014-2016 was between 1.10-1.34%.(38) The higher prevalence of ID in our study may be due to the Katie Beckett Medicaid waiver which ensured qualifying children regardless of income are included in the Medicaid system, therefore disproportionately including more children with ID in both the numerator and the denominator.(23, 39)

We identified the same set of potential confounders as previous reports including maternal age,(11, 13, 40, 41) race,(11, 42, 43) child sex,(44, 45) maternal obesity or overweight,(46-48) maternal smoking,(49, 50), preeclampsia with ID, gestational diabetes,(11, 51, 52) multiple pregnancy,(53-55) and very low-birth-weight.(11, 41) A few studies have explored the association of NSAIDs with two other neurodevelopmental outcomes of attention deficit hyperactive disorder (ADHD) and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD),(56) but none with the ID outcome. We also looked for literature to identify studies regarding the effect of NSAID usage on other pregnancy outcomes and found that NSAID increases the risk of miscarriage and spontaneous abortion.(57-61) Thus, we can say the association of NSAID with ID or other neurodevelopmental outcomes in the child could have been higher if we took the pregnancy losses into account.

According to our study, NSAID use in the absence of preeclampsia and low birthweight (NDE) use was positively associated with ID, suggesting that NSAID use by mothers not at risk of preeclampsia may raise the risk of ID in the baby. Moreover, the Pure Indirect Effect (PIE: effect of birthweight when NSAID=0 for all mothers) and Natural Indirect Effect (NIE: effect of birthweight when NSAID=1 for all mothers) of birthweight on ID in both the categories we used as mediators, are similar. A possible explanation could be that NSAIDs prescribed to high-risk mothers had a beneficial effect on the preeclampsia and fetal survival, and surviving babies were at higher risk of ID. In this case a possible beneficial effect of NSAIDs on high-risk mothers would be underestimated. Another reason could be that there were unknown common causes of preeclampsia and ID, and birthweight and ID (unmeasured mediator-outcome confounding). Thus, NSAID use during pregnancy may have a harmful impact on ID on mothers without risk factors for preeclampsia or low birth weight. NSAIDs might, however, have a beneficial effect for mothers with risk factors for preeclampsia, the group for whom NSAIDs are recommended.

Our study had some limitations. Firstly, we used administrative data that did not include the frequency or timing of NSAID use, only the filling of a prescription for these drugs. Moreover, we did not have the actual data on frequency of NSAID usage with or without prescription. However, a study reported that missing OTC drug exposure is not a large source of bias.(62) Despite this limitation, administrative pharmacy records are commonly used as a source for medication exposure related studies and are not subject to recall bias. Finally, the omission of fetal deaths and still births bias the findings. We do not

know if the deaths were more prevalent among the NSAID exposed group which would bias the study to the null, and our results would be an underestimate of the true effect.

The main strength of our study was the large sample size and the ability to capture the key variables. Furthermore, to our knowledge, this is the first study exploring the association of NSAIDS with ID, using mediation through birthweight. This study could be used to develop an animal model and it should be replicated using additional data sources, so that we can establish the causal association of NSAIDs usage during pregnancy and ID.

6.6. References

1. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington: American Psychiatric Association. 2013;21.

2. Matson JL, Smiroldo BB, Bamburg JW. The relationship of social skills to psychopathology for individuals with severe or profound mental retardation. Journal of intellectual and developmental disability. 1998 Jan 1;23(2):137-45.

3. Matson JL, Shoemaker M. Intellectual disability and its relationship to autism spectrum disorders. Research in developmental disabilities. 2009 Nov 1;30(6):1107-14.

4. Lee LC, Harrington RA, Chang JJ, Connors SL. Increased risk of injury in children with developmental disabilities. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 May 1;29(3):247-55.

5. Downs A, Downs RC, Rau K. Effects of training and feedback on discrete trial teaching skills and student performance. Research in developmental disabilities. 2008 May 1;29(3):235-46.

6. Brue AW, Wilmshurst L. Essentials of intellectual disability assessment and identification. John Wiley & Sons; 2016 Apr 25.

7. Anderson LL, Larson SA, MapelLentz S, Hall-Lande J. A systematic review of US studies on the prevalence of intellectual or developmental disabilities since 2000. Intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2019 Oct;57(5):421-38.

8. Westerinen H, Kaski M, Virta LJ, Kautiainen H, Pitkälä KH, Iivanainen M. The nationwide register-based prevalence of intellectual disability during childhood and adolescence. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2017 Aug;61(8):802-9.

9. Tonnsen BL, Boan AD, Bradley CC, Charles J, Cohen A, Carpenter LA. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders among children with intellectual disability. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2016 Nov;121(6):487-500.

Boat TF, Wu JT. Mental disorders and disabilities among low-income children.
 2015. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2015 Oct 28.

11. Huang J, Zhu T, Qu Y, Mu D. Prenatal, perinatal and neonatal risk factors for intellectual disability: a systemic review and meta-analysis. PloS one. 2016 Apr 25;11(4):e0153655.

12. Viktorin A, Uher R, Kolevzon A, Reichenberg A, Levine SZ, Sandin S. Association of antidepressant medication use during pregnancy with intellectual disability in offspring. JAMA psychiatry. 2017 Oct 1;74(10):1031-8.

 Leonard H, De Klerk N, Bourke J, Bower C. Maternal health in pregnancy and intellectual disability in the offspring: a population-based study. Annals of epidemiology. 2006 Jun 1;16(6):448-54.

14. Rai D, Lee BK, Dalman C, Golding J, Lewis G, Magnusson C. Parental depression, maternal antidepressant use during pregnancy, and risk of autism spectrum disorders: population based case-control study. British medical journal. 2013 Apr 19;346.

15. Daugaard CA, Pedersen L, Sun Y, Dreier JW, Christensen J. Association of Prenatal exposure to Valproate and other antiepileptic drugs with intellectual disability and delayed childhood milestones. JAMA network open. 2020 Nov 2;3(11):e2025570-.

 Gøtzsche PC. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. British medical journal. 2000 Apr 15;320(7241):1058-61.

17. Coomarasamy A, Honest H, Papaioannou S, Gee H, Khan KS. Aspirin for prevention of preeclampsia in women with historical risk factors: a systematic review. Obstetrics & gynecology. 2003 Jun 1;101(6):1319-32.

18. Roberge S, Nicolaides K, Demers S, Hyett J, Chaillet N, Bujold E. The role of aspirin dose on the prevention of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction: systematic review and meta-analysis. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2017 Feb 1;216(2):110-20.

19. Griffith MI, Mann JR, McDermott S. The risk of intellectual disability in children born to mothers with preeclampsia or eclampsia with partial mediation by low birth weight. Hypertension in pregnancy. 2011 Feb 1;30(1):108-15.

20. Parker W, Hornik CD, Bilbo S, Holzknecht ZE, Gentry L, Rao R, Lin SS, Herbert MR, Nevison CD. The role of oxidative stress, inflammation and acetaminophen exposure from birth to early childhood in the induction of autism. Journal of international medical research. 2017 Apr;45(2):407-38.

21. Genc S, Kusku-Kiraz Z, Dervisoglu E, Oztop N, Dinccag N, Gurdol F. The relation of oxidative stress biomarkers with proinflammatory cytokines in gestational diabetes. Clinical investigation. 2017;7:44-8.

22. Baumrucker EP, Herz EJ. Medicaid: An Overview. Congressional research services. 2014.

23. Moseley CA, Vulimiri M, Saunders RS, Bleser WK, Perrin EM, Armstrong SC, Wang GX, Ubel PA, McClellan M, Wong CA. Medicaid and CHIP child health beneficiary incentives: program landscape and stakeholder insights. Pediatrics. 2019 Aug 1;144(2).

24. Foster CC, Agrawal RK, Davis MM. Home health care for children with medical complexity: workforce gaps, policy, and future directions. Health affairs. 2019 Jun 1;38(6):987-93.

Jackson LM, Hawkey CJ. COX-2 selective nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.
 Drugs. 2000 Jun;59(6):1207-16.

26. Deug RO, Graham GG. The Vascular Effects of Cox-2 Inhibitors. Australian Prescriber. 2004;27:142-5.

27. Frölich JC. A classification of NSAIDs according to the relative inhibition of cyclooxygenase isoenzymes. Trends in pharmacological sciences. 1997 Jan 1;18(1):30-4.

28. Nezvalová-Henriksen K, Spigset O, Nordeng H. Effects of ibuprofen, diclofenac, naproxen, and piroxicam on the course of pregnancy and pregnancy outcome: a prospective cohort study. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 2013 Jul;120(8):948-59.

29. Sujan AC, Quinn PD, Rickert ME, Wiggs KK, Lichtenstein P, Larsson H, Almqvist C, Öberg AS, D'Onofrio BM. Maternal prescribed opioid analgesic use during pregnancy and associations with adverse birth outcomes: a population-based study. PLoS medicine. 2019 Dec 2;16(12):e1002980.

30. Schieve LA, Tian LH, Rankin K, Kogan MD, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Visser S, Rosenberg D. Population impact of preterm birth and low birth weight on developmental disabilities in US children. Annals of epidemiology. 2016 Apr 1;26(4):267-74.

31. VanderWeele TJ. Mediation and mechanism. European journal of epidemiology.2009 May 1;24(5):217-24.

32. Valeri L, VanderWeele TJ. Mediation analysis allowing for exposure–mediator interactions and causal interpretation: theoretical assumptions and implementation with SAS and SPSS macros. Psychological methods. 2013 Jun;18(2):137.

 Valeri L, VanderWeele TJ. SAS macro for causal mediation analysis with survival data. Epidemiology. 2015 Mar 1;26(2):e23-4.

34. VanderWeele TJ. A three-way decomposition of a total effect into direct, indirect, and interactive effects. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.). 2013 Mar;24(2):224.

35. VanderWeele TJ, Vansteelandt S. Odds ratios for mediation analysis for a dichotomous outcome. American journal of epidemiology. 2010 Dec 15;172(12):1339-48.

36. McConkey R, Craig S, Kelly C. The prevalence of intellectual disability: A comparison of national census and register records. Research in developmental disabilities. 2019 Jun 1;89:69-75.

37. Maulik PK, Mascarenhas MN, Mathers CD, Dua T, Saxena S. Prevalence of intellectual disability: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. Research in developmental disabilities. 2011 Mar 1;32(2):419-36.

38. Zablotsky B, Black LI, Blumberg SJ. Estimated prevalence of children with diagnosed developmental disabilities in the United States, 2014-2016. National centre for statistics: Centers for disease control and prevention (CDC). 2017.

39. Morreale MC, English A. Eligibility and enrollment of adolescents in Medicaid and SCHIP: recent progress, current challenges. Journal of adolescent health. 2003 Jun 1;32(6):25-39.

40. Langridge AT, Glasson EJ, Nassar N, Jacoby P, Pennell C, Hagan R, Bourke J, Leonard H, Stanley FJ. Maternal conditions and perinatal characteristics associated with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. PloS one. 2013 Jan 7;8(1):e50963.

41. Bilder DA, Pinborough-Zimmerman J, Bakian AV, Miller JS, Dorius JT, Nangle B, McMahon WM. Prenatal and perinatal factors associated with intellectual disability. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2013 Mar;118(2):156-76.

42. Koskentausta T, Iivanainen M, Almqvist F. Risk factors for psychiatric disturbance in children with intellectual disability. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2007 Jan;51(1):43-53.

43. Larsson HJ, Eaton WW, Madsen KM, Vestergaard M, Olesen AV, Agerbo E, Schendel D, Thorsen P, Mortensen PB. Risk factors for autism: perinatal factors, parental psychiatric history, and socioeconomic status. American journal of epidemiology. 2005 May 15;161(10):916-25.

44. Zheng X, Chen R, Li N, Du W, Pei L, Zhang J, Ji Y, Song X, Tan L, Yang R. Socioeconomic status and children with intellectual disability in China. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2012 Feb;56(2):212-20.

45. Emerson E. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in children and adolescents with and without intellectual disability. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2003 Jan;47(1):51-8.

46. Jo H, Schieve LA, Sharma AJ, Hinkle SN, Li R, Lind JN. Maternal prepregnancy body mass index and child psychosocial development at 6 years of age. Pediatrics. 2015 May 1;135(5):e1198-209.

47. Neggers YH, Goldenberg RL, Ramey SL, Cliver SP. Maternal prepregnancy body mass index and psychomotor development in children. Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica. 2003 Jan 1;82(3):235-40.

48. Mann JR, McDermott SW, Hardin J, Pan C, Zhang Z. Pre-pregnancy body mass index, weight change during pregnancy, and risk of intellectual disability in children. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 2013 Feb;120(3):309-19.

49. Madley-Dowd P, Kalkbrenner AE, Heuvelman H, Heron J, Zammit S, Rai D, Schendel D. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and offspring intellectual disability: sibling analysis in an intergenerational Danish cohort. Psychological medicine. 2020 Oct 14:1-0.

50. Kalkbrenner AE, Braun JM, Durkin MS, Maenner MJ, Cunniff C, Lee LC, Pettygrove S, Nicholas JS, Daniels JL. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and the prevalence of autism spectrum disorders, using data from the autism and developmental

disabilities monitoring network. Environmental health perspectives. 2012 Jul;120(7):1042-8.

51. Li M, Fallin MD, Riley A, Landa R, Walker SO, Silverstein M, Caruso D, Pearson C, Kiang S, Dahm JL, Hong X. The association of maternal obesity and diabetes with autism and other developmental disabilities. Pediatrics. 2016 Feb 1;137(2).

52. Chen S, Zhao S, Dalman C, Karlsson H, Gardner R. Association of maternal diabetes with neurodevelopmental disorders: autism spectrum disorders, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and intellectual disability. International journal of epidemiology. 2020 Nov 22.

53. Guerra JV, Oliveira-Santos J, Oliveira DF, Leal GF, Oliveira JR, Costa SS, Krepischi AC, Vianna-Morgante AM, Maschietto M. DNA methylation fingerprint of monozygotic twins and their singleton sibling with intellectual disability carrying a novel KDM5C mutation. European journal of medical genetics. 2020 Mar 1;63(3):103737.

54. Pinto AM, Bianciardi L, Mencarelli MA, Imperatore V, Di Marco C, Furini S, Suppiej A, Salviati L, Tenconi R, Ariani F, Mari F. Exome sequencing analysis in a pair of monozygotic twins re-evaluates the genetics behind their intellectual disability and reveals a CHD2 mutation. Brain and development. 2016 Jun 1;38(6):590-6.

55. Paganini L, Hadi LA, Chetta M, Rovina D, Fontana L, Colapietro P, Bonaparte E, Pezzani L, Marchisio P, Tabano SM, Costanza J. A HS6ST2 gene variant associated with X-linked intellectual disability and severe myopia in two male twins. Clinical genetics. 2019 Mar;95(3):368-74.

56. Markovic M, Swanson SA, Stricker BH, Jaddoe VW, Verhulst FC, Tiemeier H, El Marroun H. Prenatal exposure to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and neurodevelopmental outcomes in children. Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety. 2019 Apr;28(4):452-9.

57. Antonucci R, Zaffanello M, Puxeddu E, Porcella A, Cuzzolin L, Dolores Pilloni M, Fanos V. Use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in pregnancy: impact on the fetus and newborn. Current drug metabolism. 2012 May 1;13(4):474-90.

58. Li DK, Liu L, Odouli R. Exposure to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs during pregnancy and risk of miscarriage: population based cohort study. British medical journal. 2003 Aug 14;327(7411):368.

59. Nielsen GL, Sorensen HT, Larsen H, Pedersen L. Risk of adverse birth outcome and miscarriage in pregnant users of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: population based observational study and case-control study. British medical journal. 2001 Feb 3;322(7281):266-70.

60. Nakhai-Pour HR, Broy P, Sheehy O, Bérard A. Use of nonaspirin nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs during pregnancy and the risk of spontaneous abortion. Cmaj. 2011 Oct 18;183(15):1713-20.

61. Daniel S, Koren G, Lunenfeld E, Bilenko N, Ratzon R, Levy A. Fetal exposure to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and spontaneous abortions. Canadian medical association journal. 2014;186(5):E177-E82.

62. Yood MU, Campbell UB, Rothman KJ, Jick SS, Lang J, Wells KE, Jick H, Johnson CC. Using prescription claims data for drugs available over-the-counter(OTC). Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety. 2007 Sep;16(9):961-8.

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

7.1. Summary of results

We found that the prevalence of ASD was 1.93% and the prevalence of ID was 5.4%. However, the prevalence of ASD only, ID only, and ASD with ID were 0.66%, 4.10%, and 1.26%, respectively. Of the study participants, 2.5% had NSAID prescriptions (our main explanatory variable) during the pregnancy time. Though we could not establish any association of NSAID prescription with ASD, we found that the children with the mothers who had NSAID prescription were 52% more likely to have ID in comparison to the children whose mothers did not have NSAID prescription. Black children were 13% less at risk of having ASD only while the White children 15% more likely to have ID only. Preeclampsia had similar effects on ASD and ID with the adjusted ORs of 1.33 (95% CI: 1.13-1.57) and 1.32 (95% CI: 1.20-1.45) respectively. Smoking also had similar effects on ASD and ID with the adjusted OR estimates of 1.20 (95% CI: 1.07-1.35) and 1.18 (95% CI: 1.10-1.26). Gestational diabetes has been identified as a risk factor for ASD only (aOR 1.20, p-value = 0.035). Obesity has also been found to be significantly associated with ASD (aOR 1.26, p-value = <0.0001) and ID (aOR 1.17, p-value = <0.0001). We have conducted a sub-group analysis considering the outcome detected by SCDDSN and SCDE datasets and found similar results with significant association of NSAID prescription with risk of ID. We also conducted a sensitivity analysis considering alcohol use an unmeasured confounder. The sensitivity analysis for the association between NSAID and ID shows that the true odds ratio is 1.30 (95%CI: 1.14, 1.49). When we considered ASD as the outcome

variable during the sensitivity analysis the true OR we found was 1.35 (95% CI: 1.04-1.75) which means that if we could adjust for unmeasured confounder the mothers who used NSAID during pregnancy would have found to be at more risk of having children with ASD.

Since we found an effect of NSAID prescription during pregnancy with ID of the children, we conducted a mediation analysis to measure the direct and indirect effects considering preeclampsia and birthweight as mediators separately. The indirect effect through preeclampsia was not statistically significant, and therefore, we concluded that the effect of NSAID prescription on ID was a direct effect. When birthweight was categorized into 'VLBW and others', the direct effect was measured as OR of 1.21 (1.06-1.40) while the indirect effect was 1.12 (1.06-1.18). About 40% of the total effect was mediated through birthweight. When birthweight was categorized as 'LBW and others' the OR for direct effect was 1.42 (1.03-1.96) and the indirect effect was 1.10 (1.06-1.15). The percentage of mediated effect was 27.1% in the latter case.

To ascertain the association of acetaminophen usage during pregnancy and ASD in the children, we opted for systematic review due to abundant usage of acetaminophen as Over-the-counter drugs. After applying our inclusion and exclusion criteria, we finally included three articles in this systematic review which encompassed 67,310 mother-child pairs among whom 460 children had autism.(52, 165, 166) These three cohort studies were conducted in three different countries in Europe and North America. The sample sizes varied between the studies, ranging from 996 to 64,322. The duration of the cohort followup for these studies were 20 years, 12.7 years, and about 5 years. The exposure ascertainment also differed between the studies. Garcia et al. and Liew et al. interviewed

the women prospectively utilizing a standard questionnaire (face-to-face and telephone interviews),(165, 166) whereas Ji et al. measured cord plasma metabolites of acetaminophen as the exposure status. (52) The authors of the papers also utilized different approaches for outcome ascertainment. Garcia et al. ascertained the outcome of autism from the Childhood Autism Spectrum Test (CAST) score(165) while the other two used International Classification of Diseases 9th and 10th version (ICD-9 and ICD-10) codes for autism.(52, 166) Despite having similar study design, and the same exposure and outcome, the selected studies used different measures of association in their analysis. Avella-Garcia et al. (2016) considered the outcome autism as continuous variables,(165) while in the Ji et al. paper the outcome was categorical.(52) In the Liew paper, the outcome was time to event. (166) The study by Garcia et al., presented their results as beta coefficients and found no significant results overall regarding increase of the CAST score for detecting autism when adjusted for confounders.(165) However, we calculated the crude Risk Ratio for this study and found that to be significant (1.34, 95% CI: 1.17, 1.53). Liew et al. (2016) reported significant results for ASD with hyperkinetic symptoms.(166) Again, we calculated the crude RR which was 1.21 (1.07 - 1.37). The Ji paper presented adjusted Odds ratios for cord blood unchanged acetaminophen and cord acetaminophen burden having first tertile as the reference group since there was no true unexposed group(52) and the crude RR was 1.34 (0.78 - 2.30). Our meta-analysis suggests that acetaminophen use during pregnancy is significantly associated with an increased risk of ASD (RR = 1.29, 95% CI:1.17, 1.41, I^2 =94%). However, as seen from the I^2 value, there was heterogeneity between the studies.

7.2. Discussion

The prevalence of autism in our study was 1.93% (N=153,562] which aligns the claim by Lyall et al. that the prevalence of autism was at least 1.5% in developed world.(6) Studies conducted in Asia, Europe, and North America reported prevalence of ASD between 1-2% (7). The prevalence of ASD among children aged 8 years was 1.85% as shown by autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network in 11 sites of United states.(8, 215) Our study findings are also in concordance with many studies which reported the prevalence to be between 1-2% in the USA.(7-9)

The prevalence of ID in our study was higher than the reported ID prevalence by SC Autism and Developmental Disabilities Network.(216) The increased prevalence is likely due to the Katie Beckett Waiver in South Carolina Medicaid that allows children with ID to qualify for Medicaid without consideration of the parental income or assets.(217) Thus, among the children qualified for Medicaid in South Carolina, a higherthan-expected proportion have ID as their eligibility determinant, compared to children on Medicaid in other states who do not have the Katie Beckett waiver.(217) However, a metaanalysis of population based studies showed that the prevalence of ID may vary largely.(218)

Like our study, advanced maternal age is an established risk factor for ASD.(10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 18) Similarly, ID of the children has also been associated with advanced maternal age as evident by many studies across the world.(8, 15, 219, 220) Maternal race has also been identified as a significant risk factor for ASD and ID. In comparison to Whites, being African American seemed to be protective for ASD which aligns with the findings of many other studies (113, 221). Similar result was found in a secondary data

analysis from the Pennsylvania Autism and Developmental Disabilities Surveillance Program (114). This might be due to underrepresentation of Blacks in relation to autism detection and treatment. (117, 222) However, we found the opposite result for ID when the Blacks seemed to be at more risk. In our study, the obese mothers were found to be at 26% and 17% more at risk of having children with ASD and ID respectively. Regarding the association between maternal BMI, there have been inconclusive findings reported by different studies.(142, 144, 223) Our finding suggests that there is a need for more concrete evidence to document the association of maternal BMI with ASD and ID. In our study gestational diabetes was found to be associated with ASD only. A large population-based cohort study with more than 2.3 million individuals found that there were strong relationship of Diabetes mellitus with ASD, ID, or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD).(224) Smoking has been another risk factor for both ASD and ID according to our findings although other studies analyzing the association of smoking and autism reported conflicting results (147-149). However, a California statewide cohort study found that smoking is also associated with ASD without ID.(225) Another study from intergenerational Danish cohort reported increased odds of ID among those exposed to maternal smoking in pregnancy after confounder adjustment. (226) Conversely, a metaanalysis of 15 epidemiological studies reported a null association.(147) It is noteworthy to note that we found that preeclampsia was positively associated with both ASD and ID.

Preeclampsia has been well established as a risk factor for ASD and ID.(15-17, 24, 219) This is an important finding since the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends NSAIDs for pregnant women at risk for preeclampsia.(194) Thus, if our findings are replicated using other data sources the recommendation to reduce

preeclampsia would have to be balanced by the need to reduce intellectual disability. The data reviewed in the USPSTF recommendation includes numerous studies about the association of NSAIDs and ASD, but it does not include any literature about the association of NASAIDs and ID, or ASD with ID.

We did not find an association of NSAIDs with ASD, but we did find an association of NSAIDs with ID, another lifelong disability. However, NSAIDs are potential risk factors for adverse maternal and fetal effects like prolongation of labor in mothers, spontaneous abortion/miscarriage, low birth weight, constriction of the ductus arteriosus, renal dysfunction, congenital cardiac malformations, orofacial clefts and hemostatic abnormalities in the fetus and neonates.(189-193) Moreover, a prospective cohort study involving 6,876 mothers suggested that prenatal exposure of NSAID prescription was associated with attention problems of the children.(227) Another study showed that consuming NSAIDs during pregnancy may affect children's brain.(228) On the other hand, we found that the odds of having children with ID of the mothers who had NSAID prescription was 52% higher than that of the mothers who did not have any NSAID prescription during pregnancy. A few studies have explored the association of NSAIDs with two other neurodevelopmental outcomes of attention deficit hyperactive disorder (ADHD) and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD),(227) but none with the ID outcome. We also looked for literature to identify studies regarding the effect of NSAID usage on other pregnancy outcomes and found that NSAID increases the risk of miscarriage and spontaneous abortion.(191, 192, 228-230) Thus, we can say the association of NSAID with ID or other neurodevelopmental outcomes in the child could have been higher if we took the pregnancy losses into account.

Later, we looked for the direct and indirect effects of NSAIDs on ID considering preeclampsia and birthweight as potential mediators. We identified birthweight as a potential mediator for the effect of NSAID on ID. Though no other study looked for this mediation effect, a study by Griffith et al. reported birthweight to be a mediator between the effect of preeclampsia on intellectual disability.(15) In our study, the Pure Indirect Effect and Natural Indirect Effect of birthweight on ID were similar. A possible explanation could be that NSAIDs prescribed to high-risk mothers had a beneficial effect on the preeclampsia and fetal survival, and surviving babies were at higher risk of ID. In this case a possible beneficial effect of NSAIDs on high-risk mothers would be underestimated. Another reason could be that there were unknown common causes of preeclampsia and ID, and birthweight and ID (unmeasured mediator-outcome confounding). Thus, NSAID use during pregnancy may have a harmful impact on ID on mothers without risk factors for preeclampsia or low birth weight. NSAIDs might, however, have a beneficial effect for mothers with risk factors for preeclampsia, the group for whom NSAIDs are recommended.

We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to ascertain the effect of NSAID on ASD. The narrative synthesis suggested that there was heterogeneity among the selected studies which was later supported by the meta-analysis with an I^2 of 94%. Our meta-analysis suggests that children of mothers who used acetaminophen during their pregnancy period have a 29% higher risk of ASD in comparison to children whose mothers did not use acetaminophen as medication during pregnancy. Our study findings support the meta-analysis finding of Masarwa et al. that showed the RR of 1.19 (95% CI: 1.14, 1.25).(231) There have also been research reports that demonstrated the biological

plausibility of this association either through neuro-disruptive mechanisms or oxidative stress in utero.(232-237)

7.3. Limitation of the study

The main limitation of our study lies in the unavailability of the exposure data for NSAID usage without prescription. However, a study reported that missing OTC drug exposure is not a large source of bias especially when the overall prevalence of drug usage is below 35%,(238) and a number of studies reported that the prevalence of OTC NSAID usage during pregnancy is well below that level of 35%.(239, 240) Despite this limitation, administrative pharmacy records are commonly used as a source for medication exposure related studies and are not subject to recall bias. The omission of fetal deaths and still births bias the findings. We do not know if the deaths were more prevalent among the NSAID exposed group which would bias the study to the null, and our results would be an underestimate of the true effect.

Regarding the limitation of the systematic review, firstly, there were differences in exposure ascertainment. The differences in exposure ascertainment could result in a potential for bias since the validity depends upon how the questions are worded. Moreover, one of the articles ascertained the exposure by biochemical measurement(52) using the cord plasma metabolites collected at birth. There are several issues regarding exposure ascertainment in this way since measuring once at birth only confirms exposure during peripartum period, since the half -life of acetaminophen is just a few hours.(241) Moreover, the acetaminophen metabolites are excreted through urine mostly within 24 hours.(241, 242) Secondly, the same study did not have a true comparator.(52) They categorized the unchanged cord acetaminophen into tertiles and presented their findings accordingly

considering the lowest tertile as the reference. For the other acetaminophen metabolites, they compared no detection of metabolites in the cord, and this does not represent the absence of exposure during the pregnancy period. Thirdly, the outcome ascertained differed among the studies when one of the articles measured Childhood Autism Spectrum Test (CAST) scores while the others used international classification of Disease (ICD) codes. However, CAST scoring system has been regarded as a good predictor of autism.(243-245) A study conducted in UK by Williams et al. on 1,925 children reported sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 97% of this test although the positive predictive value was 50% only.(245) However, CAST scoring is still not widely used as a diagnostic tool, rather it is more used as a good screening tool.(243) Among the other two studies, one used only the hospital registry while the other used the physician diagnosed electronic medical registry. Finally, they presented three different effect measures with different statistical analyses strategies. Garcia et al. used linear regression and negative binomial regression and presented incidence risk ratio (IRR),(165) Liew et al. used Cox proportional hazard regression, (166) and Ji et al. utilized adjusted logistic regression. (52) Fourthly, the number of the papers included was very low which impacts the heterogeneity and may have resulted in bias.(246)

7.4. Strengths of the study

Strengths of this study include its large sample size and study design. Moreover, to our knowledge, no other study explored the association of NSAID prescription with ASD and ID, individually and collectively. The sensitivity analyses and calculation of E-value have also strengthened our study findings. Moreover, the mediation analysis to answer our research question related to direct and indirect effects of NSAID on ID using two different mediators is also unique. The main strength of our systematic review lies in its specificity of the research question and corresponding eligibility criteria. This is the first systematic review and meta-analysis that examined the association between maternal usage of acetaminophen during pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) through analyzing cohort studies only. We conducted an extensive search for available literature published till October 2020 and utilized standard methods for data extraction. We utilized Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews (PRISMA) flow diagram for selecting the articles.(210)

7.5. Conclusion

Our study found that NSAID usage during pregnancy causes risk of intellectual disability of the children. The meta-analysis documented association between acetaminophen exposure during pregnancy and autism. We also identified birthweight as a mediator of NSAID's effect on development of ID. Our findings warrant the need for more specific research on both the biologic plausibility of NSAIDs being causally associated with ID and the generalizability of the effect of NSAIDs prescription during pregnancy on intellectual disability in the child, using other linked maternal-child datasets.

References

1.	Coleman M,	Gillberg C.	The autisms.	Oxford	University	Press	USA; 201	2 Jan 5.
----	------------	-------------	--------------	--------	------------	-------	----------	----------

2. Lai MC, Lombardo MV, and Baron-Cohen S. Autism. Lancet. 2014;383: 896–910.

3. Lai MC, Baron-Cohen S. Identifying the lost generation of adults with autism spectrum conditions. The lancet psychiatry. 2015 Nov 1;2(11):1013-27.

4. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington: American Psychiatric Association. 2013;21.

5. Elsabbagh M, Divan G, Koh YJ, Kim YS, Kauchali S, Marcín C, Montiel-Nava C, Patel V, Paula CS, Wang C, Yasamy MT. Global prevalence of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders. Autism research. 2012 Jun;5(3):160-79.

6. Lyall K, Croen L, Daniels J, Fallin MD, Ladd-Acosta C, Lee BK, Park BY, Snyder NW, Schendel D, Volk H, Windham GC. The changing epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders. Annual review of public health. 2017 Mar 20;38:81-102.

 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Data. Statistics on Autism Spectrum Disorder CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019.

8. Christensen DL, Braun KV, Baio J, Bilder D, Charles J, Constantino JN, Daniels J, Durkin MS, Fitzgerald RT, Kurzius-Spencer M, Lee LC. Prevalence and characteristics of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2012. MMWR surveillance summaries. 2018 Nov 16;65(13):1.

9. Baio J, Wiggins L, Christensen DL, Maenner MJ, Daniels J, Warren Z, Kurzius-Spencer M, Zahorodny W, Rosenberg CR, White T, Durkin MS. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2014. MMWR surveillance summaries. 2018 Apr 27;67(6):1.

10. Yusuf ZI. Risk factors for Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in children with Down syndrome: A case control study [dissertation]. The University of Texas School of Public Health). Dallas, Texas: University of Texas; 2015.

11. Gardener H, Spiegelman D, Buka SL. Prenatal risk factors for autism: comprehensive meta-analysis. The British journal of psychiatry. 2009 Jul;195(1):7-14.

12. Gardener H, Spiegelman D, Buka SL. Perinatal and neonatal risk factors for autism: a comprehensive meta-analysis. Pediatrics. 2011 Aug 1;128(2):344-55.

13. Kolevzon A, Gross R, Reichenberg A. Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for autism: a review and integration of findings. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine. 2007 Apr 1;161(4):326-33.

14. Larsson HJ, Eaton WW, Madsen KM, Vestergaard M, Olesen AV, Agerbo E, Schendel D, Thorsen P, Mortensen PB. Risk factors for autism: perinatal factors, parental psychiatric history, and socioeconomic status. American journal of epidemiology. 2005 May 15;161(10):916-25.

15. Griffith MI, Mann JR, McDermott S. The risk of intellectual disability in children born to mothers with preeclampsia or eclampsia with partial mediation by low birth weight. Hypertension in pregnancy. 2011 Feb 1;30(1):108-15.

16. Guinchat V, Thorsen P, Laurent C, Cans C, Bodeau N, Cohen D. Pre-, peri-and neonatal risk factors for autism. Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica. 2012 Mar;91(3):287-300.

17. Mann JR, McDermott S, Bao H, Hardin J, Gregg A. Pre-eclampsia, birth weight, and autism spectrum disorders. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2010 May;40(5):548-54.

Matelski L, Van de Water J. Risk factors in autism: Thinking outside the brain.
 Journal of autoimmunity. 2016 Feb 1;67:1-7.

19. Walker CK, Krakowiak P, Baker A, Hansen RL, Ozonoff S, Hertz-Picciotto I. Preeclampsia, placental insufficiency, and autism spectrum disorder or developmental delay. JAMA pediatrics. 2015 Feb 1;169(2):154-62.

20. Abdallah MW, Larsen N, Grove J, Nørgaard-Pedersen B, Thorsen P, Mortensen EL, Hougaard DM. Amniotic fluid inflammatory cytokines: potential markers of immunologic dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders. The world journal of biological psychiatry. 2013 Sep 11.

21. Bryn V, Aass HC, Skjeldal OH, Isaksen J, Saugstad OD, Ormstad H. Cytokine profile in autism spectrum disorders in children. Journal of molecular neuroscience. 2017 Jan 1;61(1):1-7.

22. Tsilioni I, Taliou A, Francis K, Theoharides TC. Children with autism spectrum disorders, who improved with a luteolin-containing dietary formulation, show reduced serum levels of TNF and IL-6. Translational psychiatry. 2015 Sep;5(9):e647-.

23. Young AM, Chakrabarti B, Roberts D, Lai MC, Suckling J, Baron-Cohen S. From molecules to neural morphology: understanding neuroinflammation in autism spectrum condition. Molecular autism. 2016 Dec;7(1):1-8.

24. Bilder D, Pinborough-Zimmerman J, Miller J, McMahon W. Prenatal, perinatal, and neonatal factors associated with autism spectrum disorders. Pediatrics. 2009 May 1;123(5):1293-300.

25. Dodds L, Fell DB, Shea S, Armson BA, Allen AC, Bryson S. The role of prenatal, obstetric and neonatal factors in the development of autism. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2011 Jul;41(7):891-902.

26. Zerbo O, Iosif AM, Walker C, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, Hertz-Picciotto I. Is maternal influenza or fever during pregnancy associated with autism or developmental delays? Results from the CHARGE (CHildhood Autism Risks from Genetics and Environment) study. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2013 Jan 1;43(1):25-33.

27. Abrahams BS, Geschwind DH. Advances in autism genetics: on the threshold of a new neurobiology. Nature reviews genetics. 2008 May;9(5):341-55.

28. Folstein SE, Rosen-Sheidley B. Genetics of austim: complex aetiology for a heterogeneous disorder. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2001 Dec;2(12):943-55.

29. Brimacombe M, Ming X, Parikh A. Familial risk factors in autism. Journal of child neurology. 2007 May;22(5):593-7.

30. Boukhris T, Sheehy O, Mottron L, Bérard A. Antidepressant use during pregnancy and the risk of autism spectrum disorder in children. JAMA pediatrics. 2016 Feb 1;170(2):117-24.

31. Sørensen MJ, Grønborg TK, Christensen J, Parner ET, Vestergaard M, Schendel D, Pedersen LH. Antidepressant exposure in pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders. Clinical epidemiology. 2013;5:449.

32. Sujan AC, Rickert ME, Öberg AS, Quinn PD, Hernández-Díaz S, Almqvist C, Lichtenstein P, Larsson H, D'Onofrio BM. Associations of maternal antidepressant use during the first trimester of pregnancy with preterm birth, small for gestational age, autism spectrum disorder, and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in offspring. Jama. 2017 Apr 18;317(15):1553-62.

33. Viktorin A, Uher R, Reichenberg A, Levine SZ, Sandin S. Autism risk following antidepressant medication during pregnancy. Psychological medicine. 2017 Dec;47(16):2787-96.

34. Brown HK, Ray JG, Wilton AS, Lunsky Y, Gomes T, Vigod SN. Association between serotonergic antidepressant use during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorder in children. Jama. 2017 Apr 18;317(15):1544-52.

35. Vargas DL, Nascimbene C, Krishnan C, Zimmerman AW, Pardo CA. Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. Annals of neurology 2005 Jan;57(1):67-81..

36. Jyonouchi H, Sun S, Le H. Proinflammatory and regulatory cytokine production associated with innate and adaptive immune responses in children with autism spectrum

disorders and developmental regression. Journal of neuroimmunology. 2001 Jan 11;120(1-2):170-9.

37. Jyonouchi H, Sun S, Itokazu N. Innate immunity associated with inflammatory responses and cytokine production against common dietary proteins in patients with autism spectrum disorder. Neuropsychobiology. 2002;46(2):76-84.

38. Singh VK. Plasma increase of interleukin-12 and interferon-gamma. Pathological significance in autism. Journal of neuroimmunology. 1996 May 1;66(1-2):143-5.

39. Croonenberghs J, Bosmans E, Deboutte D, Kenis G, Maes M. Activation of the inflammatory response system in autism. Neuropsychobiology. 2002;45(1):1-6.

40. Molloy CA, Morrow AL, Meinzen-Derr J, Schleifer K, Dienger K, Manning-Courtney P, Altaye M, Wills-Karp M. Elevated cytokine levels in children with autism spectrum disorder. Journal of neuroimmunology. 2006 Mar 1;172(1-2):198-205.

41. Ashwood P, Wakefield AJ. Immune activation of peripheral blood and mucosal CD3+ lymphocyte cytokine profiles in children with autism and gastrointestinal symptoms. Journal of neuroimmunology. 2006 Apr 1;173(1-2):126-34.

42. Chez MG, Burton Q, Dowling T, Chang M, Khanna P, Kramer C. Memantine as adjunctive therapy in children diagnosed with autistic spectrum disorders: an observation of initial clinical response and maintenance tolerability. Journal of child neurology. 2007 May;22(5):574-9.

43. Kałużna-Czaplińska J, Jóźwik-Pruska J, Chirumbolo S, Bjørklund G. Tryptophan status in autism spectrum disorder and the influence of supplementation on its level. Metabolic brain disease. 2017 Oct;32(5):1585-93.

44. Lintas C. Linking genetics to epigenetics: The role of folate and folate-related pathways in neurodevelopmental disorders. Clinical genetics. 2019 Feb;95(2):241-52.

45. Schmidt RJ, Niu Q, Eyles DW, Hansen RL, Iosif AM. Neonatal vitamin D status in relation to autism spectrum disorder and developmental delay in the CHARGE case– control study. Autism Research. 2019 Jun;12(6):976-88.

46. Zhang Z, Li S, Yu L, Liu J. Polymorphisms in vitamin D receptor genes in association with childhood autism spectrum disorder. Disease markers. 2018 Jan 11;2018.

47. Zhang Z, Yu L, Li S, Liu J. Association study of polymorphisms in genes relevant to vitamin B12 and folate metabolism with childhood autism spectrum disorder in a Han Chinese population. Medical science monitor: international medical journal of experimental and clinical research. 2018;24:370.

48. Chen J, Xin K, Wei J, Zhang K, Xiao H. Lower maternal serum 25 (OH) D in first trimester associated with higher autism risk in Chinese offspring. Journal of psychosomatic research. 2016 Oct 1;89:98-101.

49. Braun JM, Froehlich T, Kalkbrenner A, Pfeiffer CM, Fazili Z, Yolton K, Lanphear BP. Brief report: are autistic-behaviors in children related to prenatal vitamin use and maternal whole blood folate concentrations?. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2014 Oct 1;44(10):2602-7.

50. Schmidt RJ, Hansen RL, Hartiala J, Allayee H, Schmidt LC, Tancredi DJ, Tassone F, Hertz-Picciotto I. Prenatal vitamins, one-carbon metabolism gene variants, and risk for autism. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.). 2011 Jul;22(4):476.

51. Łukasik J, Patro-Gołąb B, Horvath A, Baron R, Szajewska H. Early life exposure to antibiotics and autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2019 Sep;49(9):3866-76.

52. Ji Y, Azuine RE, Zhang Y, Hou W, Hong X, Wang G, Riley A, Pearson C, Zuckerman B, Wang X. Association of cord plasma biomarkers of in utero acetaminophen exposure with risk of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and autism spectrum disorder in childhood. JAMA psychiatry. 2020 Feb 1;77(2):180-9.

53. Ambizas EM. Acetaminophen toxicity: what pharmacists need to know. US pharmacist. 2014;3:19.

54. Oberg AS, D'Onofrio BM, Rickert ME, Hernandez-Diaz S, Ecker JL, Almqvist C, Larsson H, Lichtenstein P, Bateman BT. Association of labor induction with offspring risk of autism spectrum disorders. JAMA pediatrics. 2016 Sep 1;170(9):e160965-.

55. Xiang AH, Wang X, Martinez MP, Walthall JC, Curry ES, Page K, Buchanan TA,
Coleman KJ, Getahun D. Association of maternal diabetes with autism in offspring. Jama.
2015 Apr 14;313(14):1425-34.

56. Tanne JH. Maternal obesity and diabetes are linked to children's autism and similar disorders. British medical journal. 2012.

57. Li M, Fallin MD, Riley A, Landa R, Walker SO, Silverstein M, Caruso D, Pearson C, Kiang S, Dahm JL, Hong X. The association of maternal obesity and diabetes with autism and other developmental disabilities. Pediatrics. 2016 Feb 1;137(2).

58. Dachew BA, Mamun A, Maravilla JC, Alati R. Pre-eclampsia and the risk of autism-spectrum disorder in offspring: meta-analysis. The British journal of psychiatry. 2018 Mar;212(3):142-7.

59. Maher GM, O'Keeffe GW, Dalman C, Kearney PM, McCarthy FP, Kenny LC, Khashan AS. Association between preeclampsia and autism spectrum disorder: a population-based study. Journal of child psychology and psychiatry. 2020 Feb;61(2):131-9.

60. Hill AP, Zuckerman KE, Fombonne E. Obesity and autism. Pediatrics. 2015 Dec 1;136(6):1051-61.

61. Patterson PH. Maternal infection and immune involvement in autism. Trends in molecular medicine. 2011 Jul 1;17(7):389-94.

62. Mahic M, Mjaaland S, Bøvelstad HM, Gunnes N, Susser E, Bresnahan M, Øyen AS, Levin B, Che X, Hirtz D, Reichborn-Kjennerud T. Maternal immunoreactivity to herpes simplex virus 2 and risk of autism spectrum disorder in male offspring. MSphere. 2017 Feb 22;2(1).

63. Mahic M, Che X, Susser E, Levin B, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Magnus P, Stoltenberg C, Chauhan L, Briese T, Bresnahan M, Surén P. Epidemiological and serological investigation into the role of gestational maternal influenza virus infection and autism spectrum disorders. Msphere. 2017 Jun 28;2(3).

64. Krakowiak P, Walker CK, Bremer AA, Baker AS, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, Hertz-Picciotto I. Maternal metabolic conditions and risk for autism and other neurodevelopmental disorders. Pediatrics. 2012 May 1;129(5):e1121-8.
65. Wing L. The definition and prevalence of autism: A review. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 1993 Jan;2(1):61-74.

66. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (Third Edition, revised) Washington: American psychiatric publishing. 1987.

67. Spitzer RL, Gibbon ME, Skodol AE, Williams JB, First MB. DSM-IV casebook: A learning companion to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. American psychiatric association; 1994.

68. Mamidala MP, Polinedi A, PTV PK, Rajesh N, Vallamkonda OR, Udani V, Singhal N, Rajesh V. Prenatal, perinatal and neonatal risk factors of Autism Spectrum Disorder: a comprehensive epidemiological assessment from India. Research in developmental disabilities. 2013 Sep 1;34(9):3004-13.

69. Maramara LA, He W, Ming X. Pre-and perinatal risk factors for autism spectrum disorder in a New Jersey cohort. Journal of child neurology. 2014 Dec;29(12):1645-51.

70. Williams K, Helmer M, Duncan GW, Peat JK, Mellis CM. Perinatal and maternal risk factors for autism spectrum disorders in New South Wales, Australia. Child: care, health and development. 2008 Mar;34(2):249-56.

71. Neale BM, Kou Y, Liu L, Ma'Ayan A, Samocha KE, Sabo A, Lin CF, Stevens C, Wang LS, Makarov V, Polak P. Patterns and rates of exonic de novo mutations in autism spectrum disorders. Nature. 2012 May;485(7397):242-5.

72. O'Roak BJ, Deriziotis P, Lee C, Vives L, Schwartz JJ, Girirajan S, Karakoc E, MacKenzie AP, Ng SB, Baker C, Rieder MJ. Exome sequencing in sporadic autism

spectrum disorders identifies severe de novo mutations. Nature genetics. 2011 Jun;43(6):585.

73. Sanders SJ, Murtha MT, Gupta AR, Murdoch JD, Raubeson MJ, Willsey AJ, Ercan-Sencicek AG, DiLullo NM, Parikshak NN, Stein JL, Walker MF. De novo mutations revealed by whole-exome sequencing are strongly associated with autism. Nature. 2012 May;485(7397):237-41.

74. Lyall K, Schmidt RJ, Hertz-Picciotto I. Maternal lifestyle and environmental risk factors for autism spectrum disorders. International journal of epidemiology. 2014 Apr 1;43(2):443-64.

75. Gillberg IC, Gillberg C. Autism in immigrants: a population-based study from Swedish rural and urban areas. Journal of intellectual disability research. 1996 Feb;40(1):24-31.

76. Saemundsen E, Juliusson H, Hjaltested S, Gunnarsdottir T, Halldorsdottir T, Hreidarsson S, Magnusson P. Prevalence of autism in an urban population of adults with severe intellectual disabilities–a preliminary study. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2010 Aug;54(8):727-35.

77. Volk HE, Lurmann F, Penfold B, Hertz-Picciotto I, McConnell R. Traffic-related air pollution, particulate matter, and autism. JAMA psychiatry. 2013 Jan 1;70(1):71-7.

78. Weisskopf MG, Kioumourtzoglou MA, Roberts AL. Air pollution and autism spectrum disorders: causal or confounded?. Current environmental health reports. 2015 Dec;2(4):430-9.

79. Raz R, Roberts AL, Lyall K, Hart JE, Just AC, Laden F, Weisskopf MG. Autism spectrum disorder and particulate matter air pollution before, during, and after pregnancy: a nested case–control analysis within the Nurses' Health Study II cohort. Environmental health perspectives. 2015 Mar;123(3):264-70.

80. Chaste P, Leboyer M. Autism risk factors: genes, environment, and geneenvironment interactions. Dialogues in clinical neuroscience. 2012 Sep;14(3):281.

81. Bolton P, Rutter M. Genetic influences in autism. International review of psychiatry. 1990 Jan 1;2(1):67-80.

82. Scherer SW, Dawson G. Risk factors for autism: translating genomic discoveries into diagnostics. Human genetics. 2011 Jul 1;130(1):123-48.

83. Muhle R, Trentacoste SV. Rapin. The genetics of autism. Pediatrics. 2004;113:72-86.

84. Bolton P, Macdonald H, Pickles A, Rios PA, Goode S, Crowson M, Bailey A, Rutter M. A case-control family history study of autism. Journal of child psychology and psychiatry. 1994 Jul;35(5):877-900.

85. Hallmayer J, Cleveland S, Torres A, Phillips J, Cohen B, Torigoe T, Miller J, Fedele A, Collins J, Smith K, Lotspeich L. Genetic heritability and shared environmental factors among twin pairs with autism. Archives of general psychiatry. 2011 Nov 7;68(11):1095-102.

86. Bailey A, Le Couteur A, Gottesman I, Bolton P, Simonoff E, Yuzda E, Rutter M. Autism as a strongly genetic disorder: evidence from a British twin study. Psychological medicine. 1995 Jan;25(1):63-77.

87. Ronald A, Hoekstra RA. Autism spectrum disorders and autistic traits: a decade of new twin studies. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric genetics.
2011 Apr;156(3):255-74.

88. Rutter M. Aetiology of autism: findings and questions. Journal of intellectual disability research. 2005 Apr;49(4):231-8.

89. Laumonnier F, Bonnet-Brilhault F, Gomot M, Blanc R, David A, Moizard MP, Raynaud M, Ronce N, Lemonnier E, Calvas P, Laudier B. X-linked mental retardation and autism are associated with a mutation in the NLGN4 gene, a member of the neuroligin family. The American journal of human genetics. 2004 Mar 1;74(3):552-7.

90. Jamain S, Quach H, Betancur C, Råstam M, Colineaux C, Gillberg IC, Soderstrom H, Giros B, Leboyer M, Gillberg C, Bourgeron T. Mutations of the X-linked genes encoding neuroligins NLGN3 and NLGN4 are associated with autism. Nature genetics. 2003 May;34(1):27-9.

91. Durand CM, Betancur C, Boeckers TM, Bockmann J, Chaste P, Fauchereau F, Nygren G, Rastam M, Gillberg IC, Anckarsäter H, Sponheim E. Mutations in the gene encoding the synaptic scaffolding protein SHANK3 are associated with autism spectrum disorders. Nature genetics. 2007 Jan;39(1):25-7.

92. Gauthier J, Spiegelman D, Piton A, Lafreniere RG, Laurent S, St-Onge J, Lapointe L, Hamdan FF, Cossette P, Mottron L, Fombonne É. Novel de novo SHANK3 mutation in autistic patients. American journal of medical genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics. 2009 Apr 5;150(3):421-4.

93. Moessner R, Marshall CR, Sutcliffe JS, Skaug J, Pinto D, Vincent J, Zwaigenbaum L, Fernandez B, Roberts W, Szatmari P, Scherer SW. Contribution of SHANK3 mutations to autism spectrum disorder. The American journal of human genetics. 2007 Dec 1;81(6):1289-97.

94. Newschaffer CJ, Fallin D, Lee NL. Heritable and nonheritable risk factors for autism spectrum disorders. Epidemiologic reviews. 2002 Dec 1;24(2):137-53.

95. Zhang X, Lv CC, Tian J, Miao RJ, Xi W, Hertz-Picciotto I, Qi L. Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for autism in China. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2010 Nov;40(11):1311-21.

96. Sullivan PF, Magnusson C, Reichenberg A, Boman M, Dalman C, Davidson M, Fruchter E, Hultman CM, Lundberg M, Långström N, Weiser M. Family history of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder as risk factors for autism. Archives of general psychiatry. 2012 Nov 1;69(11):1099-103.

97. Burd L, Severud R, Kerbeshian J, Klug MG. Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for autism. Journal of perinatal medicine. 1999 Jan 1;27(6):441-50.

98. Juul-Dam N, Townsend J, Courchesne E. Prenatal, perinatal, and neonatal factors in autism, pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified, and the general population. Pediatrics. 2001 Apr 1;107(4):e63-.

99. Cannell JJ. Autism and vitamin D. Medical hypotheses. 2008 Jan 1;70(4):750-9.

100. Grant WB, Soles CM. Epidemiologic evidence for supporting the role of maternal vitamin D deficiency as a risk factor for the development of infantile autism. Dermatoendocrinology. 2009 Jul 1;1(4):223-8.

101. Fujiwara T, Morisaki N, Honda Y, Sampei M, Tani Y. Chemicals, nutrition, and autism spectrum disorder: a mini-review. Frontiers in neuroscience. 2016 Apr 20;10:174.

102. Surén P, Roth C, Bresnahan M, Haugen M, Hornig M, Hirtz D, Lie KK, Lipkin WI, Magnus P, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Schjølberg S. Association between maternal use of folic acid supplements and risk of autism spectrum disorders in children. Jama. 2013 Feb 13;309(6):570-7.

103. Schmidt RJ, Tancredi DJ, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, Hartiala J, Allayee H, Schmidt LC, Tassone F, Hertz-Picciotto I. Maternal periconceptional folic acid intake and risk of autism spectrum disorders and developmental delay in the CHARGE (CHildhood Autism Risks from Genetics and Environment) case-control study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2012 Jul 1;96(1):80-9.

104. Castro K, Klein LD, Baronio D, Gottfried C, Riesgo R, Perry IS. Folic acid and autism: what do we know?. Nutritional neuroscience. 2016 Aug 8;19(7):310-7.

105. Onaolapo OJ, Onaolapo AY. Nutrition in autism spectrum disorders: A review of evidences for an emerging central role in aetiology, expression, and management. AIMS medical science. 2018 Jan 1;5:122-44.

106. Yaniv SS, Levy A, Wiznitzer A, Holcberg G, Mazor M, Sheiner E. A significant linear association exists between advanced maternal age and adverse perinatal outcome. Archives of gynecology and obstetrics. 2011 Apr;283(4):755-9.

107. Durkin MS, Maenner MJ, Newschaffer CJ, Lee LC, Cunniff CM, Daniels JL, Kirby RS, Leavitt L, Miller L, Zahorodny W, Schieve LA. Advanced parental age and the risk of

autism spectrum disorder. American journal of epidemiology. 2008 Dec 1;168(11):1268-76.

108. Parner ET, Baron-Cohen S, Lauritsen MB, Jørgensen M, Schieve LA, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Obel C. Parental age and autism spectrum disorders. Annals of epidemiology.
2012 Mar 1;22(3):143-50.

109. Sandin S, Hultman CM, Kolevzon A, Gross R, MacCabe JH, Reichenberg A. Advancing maternal age is associated with increasing risk for autism: a review and metaanalysis. Journal of the American academy of child & adolescent psychiatry. 2012 May 1;51(5):477-86.

110. Wu S, Wu F, Ding Y, Hou J, Bi J, Zhang Z. Advanced parental age and autism risk in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta psychiatrica scandinavica. 2017 Jan;135(1):29-41.

111. Lee BK, McGrath JJ. Advancing parental age and autism: multifactorial pathways.Trends in molecular medicine. 2015 Feb 1;21(2):118-25.

112. Becerra TA, von Ehrenstein OS, Heck JE, Olsen J, Arah OA, Jeste SS, Rodriguez M, Ritz B. Autism spectrum disorders and race, ethnicity, and nativity: a population-based study. Pediatrics. 2014 Jul 1;134(1):e63-71.

113. Fairthorne J, de Klerk N, Leonard HM, Schieve LA, Yeargin-Allsopp M. Maternal race–ethnicity, immigrant status, country of birth, and the odds of a child with autism. Child neurology open. 2017 Jan 12;4:2329048X16688125.

114. Sell NK, Giarelli E, Blum N, Hanlon AL, Levy SE. A comparison of autism spectrum disorder DSM-IV criteria and associated features among African American and white children in Philadelphia County. Disability and health journal. 2012 Jan 1;5(1):9-17.

115. Mandell DS, Wiggins LD, Carpenter LA, Daniels J, DiGuiseppi C, Durkin MS, Giarelli E, Morrier MJ, Nicholas JS, Pinto-Martin JA, Shattuck PT. Racial/ethnic disparities in the identification of children with autism spectrum disorders. American journal of public health. 2009 Mar;99(3):493-8.

116. Gourdine RM, Baffour TD, Teasley M. Autism and the African American community. Social work in public health. 2011 Jul 11;26(4):454-70.

117. Travers JC, Tincani M, Krezmien MP. A multiyear national profile of racial disparity in autism identification. The journal of special education. 2013 May;47(1):41-9.

118. Lim KH [Internet]. Preeclampsia. New York: Medscape [updated 2018 Nov 29; cited 2021 Feb 28]. Available from: <u>https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1476919-</u>overview.

119. Jenabi E, Karami M, Khazaei S, Bashirian S. The association between preeclampsia and autism spectrum disorders among children: a meta-analysis. Korean journal of pediatrics. 2019 Apr;62(4):126.

120. Maher GM, Dalman C, O'Keeffe GW, Kearney PM, McCarthy FP, Kenny LC, Khashan AS. Association between preeclampsia and autism spectrum disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: an intergenerational analysis. Acta psychiatrica scandinavica. 2020 Oct;142(4):348-50.

121. National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases [Internet]. Gestational diabetes. Maryland: National Institute of Health. [updated 2017 May; cited 2021 Feb 28]. Available from: <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/overview/what-is-diabetes/gestational/definition-facts</u>.

122. Sacks KN, Friger M, Shoham-Vardi I, Abokaf H, Spiegel E, Sergienko R, Landau D, Sheiner E. Prenatal exposure to gestational diabetes mellitus as an independent risk factor for long-term neuropsychiatric morbidity of the offspring. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2016 Sep 1;215(3):380-e1.

123. Wan H, Zhang C, Li H, Luan S, Liu C. Association of maternal diabetes with autism spectrum disorders in offspring: A systemic review and meta-analysis. Medicine. 2018 Jan;97(2).

124. Wang C, Geng H, Liu W, Zhang G. Prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal factors associated with autism: a meta-analysis. Medicine. 2017 May;96(18).

125. Xu G, Jing J, Bowers K, Liu B, Bao W. Maternal diabetes and the risk of autism spectrum disorders in the offspring: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2014 Apr;44(4):766-75.

126. Atladóttir HÓ, Thorsen P, Østergaard L, Schendel DE, Lemcke S, Abdallah M, Parner ET. Maternal infection requiring hospitalization during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorders. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2010 Dec 1;40(12):1423-30.

127. Goines PE, Croen LA, Braunschweig D, Yoshida CK, Grether J, Hansen R, Kharrazi M, Ashwood P, Van de Water J. Increased midgestational IFN-γ, IL-4 and IL-5

in women bearing a child with autism: a case-control study. Molecular autism. 2011 Dec;2(1):1-1.

128. Lee BK, Magnusson C, Gardner RM, Blomström Å, Newschaffer CJ, Burstyn I, Karlsson H, Dalman C. Maternal hospitalization with infection during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders. Brain, behavior, and immunity. 2015 Feb 1;44:100-5.

129. Zerbo O, Qian Y, Yoshida C, Grether JK, Van de Water J, Croen LA. Maternal infection during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorders. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2015 Dec;45(12):4015-25.

130. Fang SY, Wang S, Huang N, Yeh HH, Chen CY. Prenatal infection and autism spectrum disorders in childhood: A population-based case–control study in Taiwan. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2015 Jul;29(4):307-16.

131. Hornig M, Bresnahan MA, Che X, Schultz AF, Ukaigwe JE, Eddy ML, Hirtz D, Gunnes N, Lie KK, Magnus P, Mjaaland S. Prenatal fever and autism risk. Molecular psychiatry. 2018 Mar;23(3):759-66.

132. Stubbs EG, Ash E, Williams CP. Autism and congenital cytomegalovirus. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 1984 Jun;14(2):183-9.

133. Jiang HY, Xu LL, Shao L, Xia RM, Yu ZH, Ling ZX, Yang F, Deng M, Ruan B. Maternal infection during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain, behavior, and immunity. 2016 Nov 1;58:165-72.

134. Li YM, Ou JJ, Liu L, Zhang D, Zhao JP, Tang SY. Association between maternal obesity and autism spectrum disorder in offspring: a meta-analysis. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2016 Jan 1;46(1):95-102.

135. Surén P, Gunnes N, Roth C, Bresnahan M, Hornig M, Hirtz D, Lie KK, Lipkin WI, Magnus P, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Schjølberg S. Parental obesity and risk of autism spectrum disorder. Pediatrics. 2014 May 1;133(5):e1128-38.

136. Skalny AV, Skalnaya MG, Bjørklund G, Nikonorov AA, Tinkov AA. Mercury as a possible link between maternal obesity and autism spectrum disorder. Medical hypotheses. 2016 Jun 1;91:90-4.

137. Rivera HM, Christiansen KJ, Sullivan EL. The role of maternal obesity in the risk of neuropsychiatric disorders. Frontiers in neuroscience. 2015 Jun 18;9:194.

138. Edlow AG. Maternal obesity and neurodevelopmental and psychiatric disorders in offspring. Prenatal diagnosis. 2017 Jan;37(1):95-110.

139. Kong L, Norstedt G, Schalling M, Gissler M, Lavebratt C. The risk of offspring psychiatric disorders in the setting of maternal obesity and diabetes. Pediatrics. 2018 Sep 1;142(3).

140. Reynolds LC, Inder TE, Neil JJ, Pineda RG, Rogers CE. Maternal obesity and increased risk for autism and developmental delay among very preterm infants. Journal of perinatology. 2014 Sep;34(9):688-92.

141. Mehta SH, Kerver JM, Sokol RJ, Keating DP, Paneth N. The association between maternal obesity and neurodevelopmental outcomes of offspring. The Journal of pediatrics. 2014 Nov 1;165(5):891-6.

142. Lei XY, Li YJ, Ou JJ, Li YM. Association between parental body mass index and autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2019 Jul;28(7):933-47.

143. Andersen CH, Thomsen PH, Nohr EA, Lemcke S. Maternal body mass index before pregnancy as a risk factor for ADHD and autism in children. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2018 Feb;27(2):139-48.

144. Getz KD, Anderka MT, Werler MM, Jick SS. Maternal Pre-pregnancy Body Mass Index and Autism Spectrum Disorder among Offspring: A Population-Based Case–Control Study. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2016 Sep;30(5):479-87.

145. Tang S, Wang Y, Gong X, Wang G. A meta-analysis of maternal smoking during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorder risk in offspring. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2015 Sep;12(9):10418-31.

146. Lee BK, Gardner RM, Dal H, Svensson A, Galanti MR, Rai D, Dalman C, Magnusson C. Brief report: maternal smoking during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorders. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2012 Sep;42(9):2000-5.

147. Rosen BN, Lee BK, Lee NL, Yang Y, Burstyn I. Maternal smoking and autism spectrum disorder: a meta-analysis. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2015 Jun 1;45(6):1689-98.

148. Jung Y, Lee AM, McKee SA, Picciotto MR. Maternal smoking and autism spectrum disorder: meta-analysis with population smoking metrics as moderators. Scientific reports. 2017 Jun 28;7(1):1-0.

149. Kalkbrenner AE, Braun JM, Durkin MS, Maenner MJ, Cunniff C, Lee LC, Pettygrove S, Nicholas JS, Daniels JL. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and the prevalence of autism spectrum disorders, using data from the autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network. Environmental health perspectives. 2012 Jul;120(7):1042-8.

150. Tran PL, Lehti V, Lampi KM, Helenius H, Suominen A, Gissler M, Brown AS, Sourander A. Smoking during Pregnancy and Risk of Autism Spectrum Disorder in a Finnish National Birth Cohort. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2013 May;27(3):266-74.

151. Golding J, Ellis G, Gregory S, Birmingham K, Iles-Caven Y, Rai D, Pembrey M. Grand-maternal smoking in pregnancy and grandchild's autistic traits and diagnosed autism. Scientific reports. 2017 Apr 27;7(1):1-4.

152. Moore GS, Kneitel AW, Walker CK, Gilbert WM, Xing G. Autism risk in smalland large-for-gestational-age infants. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2012 Apr 1;206(4):314-e1.

153. Lampi KM, Lehtonen L, Tran PL, Suominen A, Lehti V, Banerjee PN, Gissler M, Brown AS, Sourander A. Risk of autism spectrum disorders in low birth weight and small for gestational age infants. The journal of pediatrics. 2012 Nov 1;161(5):830-6.

154. Schendel D, Bhasin TK. Birth weight and gestational age characteristics of children with autism, including a comparison with other developmental disabilities. Pediatrics. 2008 Jun 1;121(6):1155-64.

155. Leavey A, Zwaigenbaum L, Heavner K, Burstyn I. Gestational age at birth and risk of autism spectrum disorders in Alberta, Canada. The journal of pediatrics. 2013 Feb 1;162(2):361-8.

156. Joseph RM, Korzeniewski SJ, Allred EN, O'Shea TM, Heeren T, Frazier JA, Ware J, Hirtz D, Leviton A, Kuban K, Coster T. Extremely low gestational age and very low birthweight for gestational age are risk factors for autism spectrum disorder in a large cohort study of 10-year-old children born at 23-27 weeks' gestation. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2017 Mar 1;216(3):304-e1.

157. Christensen J, Grønborg TK, Sørensen MJ, Schendel D, Parner ET, Pedersen LH, Vestergaard M. Prenatal valproate exposure and risk of autism spectrum disorders and childhood autism. Jama. 2013 Apr 24;309(16):1696-703.

158. Bromley RL, Mawer G, Clayton-Smith J, Baker GA. Autism spectrum disorders following in utero exposure to antiepileptic drugs. Neurology. 2008 Dec 2;71(23):1923-4.

159. Di Martino A, Tuchman RF. Antiepileptic drugs: affective use in autism spectrum disorders. Pediatric neurology. 2001 Sep 1;25(3):199-207.

160. Evatt ML, DeLong MR, Grant WB, Cannell JJ, Tangpricha V. Autism spectrum disorders following in utero exposure to antiepileptic drugs. Neurology. 2009 Sep 22;73(12):997-.

161. Bromley RL, Mawer GE, Briggs M, Cheyne C, Clayton-Smith J, García-Fiñana M, Kneen R, Lucas SB, Shallcross R, Baker GA, Liverpool and Manchester Neurodevelopment Group. The prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders in children prenatally exposed to antiepileptic drugs. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery & psychiatry. 2013 Jun 1;84(6):637-43.

162. Rai D, Lee BK, Dalman C, Golding J, Lewis G, Magnusson C. Parental depression, maternal antidepressant use during pregnancy, and risk of autism spectrum disorders: population based case-control study. Bmj. 2013 Apr 19;346.

163. Hviid A, Melbye M, Pasternak B. Use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors during pregnancy and risk of autism. New England journal of medicine. 2013 Dec 19;369(25):2406-15.

164. Andrade C. Use of acetaminophen (paracetamol) during pregnancy and the risk of autism spectrum disorder in the offspring. The journal of clinical psychiatry. 2016 Feb 24;77(2):152-4.

165. Avella-Garcia CB, Julvez J, Fortuny J, Rebordosa C, García-Esteban R, Galán IR, Tardón A, Rodríguez-Bernal CL, Iñiguez C, Andiarena A, Santa-Marina L. Acetaminophen use in pregnancy and neurodevelopment: attention function and autism spectrum symptoms. International journal of epidemiology. 2016 Dec 1;45(6):1987-96.

166. Liew Z, Ritz B, Virk J, Olsen J. Maternal use of acetaminophen during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders in childhood: AD anish national birth cohort study. Autism research. 2016 Sep;9(9):951-8.

167. Seneff S, Davidson RM, Liu J. Empirical data confirm autism symptoms related to aluminum and acetaminophen exposure. Entropy. 2012 Nov;14(11):2227-53.

168. Bauer AZ, Kriebel D. Prenatal and perinatal analgesic exposure and autism: an ecological link. Environmental health. 2013 Dec;12(1):1-3.

169. Merrium-Webster.com [Internet]. Pro-inflammatory. Springfield, Massachusetts: Merriam-Webster, Inc. [updated 2021 Jan 20; cited 2021 Feb 28]. Available from: <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/pro-inflammatory#medicalDictionary</u>.

170. Ferrucci L, Corsi A, Lauretani F, Bandinelli S, Bartali B, Taub DD, Guralnik JM, Longo DL. The origins of age-related proinflammatory state. Blood. 2005 Mar 15;105(6):2294-9.

171. Esch T, Stefano G. Proinflammation: a common denominator or initiator of different pathophysiological disease processes. Medical science monitor. 2002 May 15;8(5):HY1-9.

172. Mor G, Cardenas I, Abrahams V, Guller S. Inflammation and pregnancy: the role of the immune system at the implantation site. Annals of the new york academy of sciences. 2011 Mar;1221(1):80..

173. Mor G, Abrahams VM. Immunology of implantation. Immunology and allergy clinics. 2002 Aug 1;22(3):545-65.

174. Bennett WA, Lagoo-Deenadayalan S, Stopple JA, Barber WH, Hale E, Brackin MN, Cowan BD. Cytokine expression by first-trimester human chorionic villi. American journal of reproductive immunology. 1998 Nov;40(5):309-18.

175. Formby B. Immunologic response in pregnancy: its role in endocrine disorders of pregnancy and influence on the course of maternal autoimmune diseases. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America. 1995 Mar 1;24(1):187-205.

176. Harmon AC, Cornelius DC, Amaral LM, Faulkner JL, Cunningham MW, Wallace K, LaMarca B. The role of inflammation in the pathology of preeclampsia. Clinical science.2016 Mar 1;130(6):409-19.

177. Genc S, Kusku-Kiraz Z, Dervisoglu E, Oztop N, Dinccag N, Gurdol F. The relation of oxidative stress biomarkers with proinflammatory cytokines in gestational diabetes. Clinical investigation. 2017;7:44-8.

178. Tournier C, Dong C, Turner TK, Jones SN, Flavell RA, Davis RJ. MKK7 is an essential component of the JNK signal transduction pathway activated by proinflammatory cytokines. Genes & development. 2001 Jun 1;15(11):1419-26.

179. Thanawongnuwech R, Thacker B, Halbur P, Thacker EL. Increased production of proinflammatory cytokines following infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae. Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology. 2004 Sep 1;11(5):901-8.

180. McHugh SL, Yamamoto Y, Klein TW, Friedman H. Murine macrophages differentially produce proinflammatory cytokines after infection with virulent vs. avirulent Legionella pneumophila. Journal of leukocyte biology. 2000 Jun;67(6):863-8.

181. Patrick LA, Smith GN. Proinflammatory cytokines: a link between chorioamnionitis and fetal brain injury. Journal of obstetrics and gynaecology Canada. 2002 Sep 1;24(9):705-9.

182. Dinarello CA. Proinflammatory cytokines. Chest. 2000 Aug 1;118(2):503-8.

183. Lafontan M. Fat cells: afferent and efferent messages define new approaches to treat obesity. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology. 2005 Feb 10;45:119-46.

184. Ellulu MS, Patimah I, Khaza'ai H, Rahmat A, Abed Y. Obesity and inflammation: the linking mechanism and the complications. Archives of medical science: AMS. 2017 Jun;13(4):851.

185. Gøtzsche PC. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Bmj. 2000 Apr 15;320(7241):1058-61.

Jackson LM, Hawkey CJ. COX-2 selective nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.
 Drugs. 2000 Jun;59(6):1207-16.

187. Day RO, Graham GG. The vascular effects of COX-2 selective inhibitors.

188. Frölich JC. A classification of NSAIDs according to the relative inhibition of cyclooxygenase isoenzymes. Trends in pharmacological sciences. 1997 Jan 1;18(1):30-4.

189. Østensen M. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs during pregnancy.Scandinavian journal of rRheumatology. 1998 Jan 1;27(sup107):128-32.

190. Ericson A, Källén BA. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in early pregnancy.Reproductive toxicology. 2001 Jul 1;15(4):371-5.

191. Li DK, Liu L, Odouli R. Exposure to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs during pregnancy and risk of miscarriage: population based cohort study. Bmj. 2003 Aug 14;327(7411):368.

192. Nakhai-Pour HR, Broy P, Sheehy O, Bérard A. Use of nonaspirin nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs during pregnancy and the risk of spontaneous abortion. Cmaj. 2011 Oct 18;183(15):1713-20.

193. Nezvalová-Henriksen K, Spigset O, Nordeng H. Effects of ibuprofen, diclofenac, naproxen, and piroxicam on the course of pregnancy and pregnancy outcome: a prospective

cohort study. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 2013 Jul;120(8):948-59.

194. Roberge S, Nicolaides K, Demers S, Hyett J, Chaillet N, Bujold E. The role of aspirin dose on the prevention of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction: systematic review and meta-analysis. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2017 Feb 1;216(2):110-20.

195. Society of General Internal Medicine (SGIM) [Internet]. Medicaid data. Alexandria, VA: sgim.org [updated 2021 Feb 22; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://www.sgim.org/communities/research/dataset-compendium/medicaid-data.

196. South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (SCDDSN) [Internet]. Autism. South Carolina: ddsn.sc.gov [updated 2021 ; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://ddsn.sc.gov/about-us/divisions/autism.

197. South Carolina Community Assessment Network (SCAN) [Internet]. SCAN Birth Certificate Data. South Carolina, USA: SC Department of Health and Environment Control [updated 2021 ; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

http://scangis.dhec.sc.gov/scan/bdp/tables/birthtable.aspx.

198. United States Census Bureau [Internet]. QuickFacts South Carollina. Maryland: census.gov [Updated 2020; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/SC.

199. South Carollina Department of Health and Human Services [Internet]. Getting Medicaid - Am I eligible?. SC, USA: scdhhs.gov. [Updated 2020; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from: <u>https://www.scdhhs.gov/income-limits</u>.

200. US Department of Health and Human Services [Internet]. HHS Poverty Guidelines for 2020. Washington, D,C, USA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [Updated 2020; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://aspe.hhs.gov/poverty-guidelines.

201. Baumrucker EP, Herz EJ. Medicaid: An Overview. Congressional research services. 2014.

202. DeLeire T, Lopoo LM, Simon KI. Medicaid expansions and fertility in the United States. National bureau of economic research; 2007 Feb 16.

203. Morreale MC, English A. Eligibility and enrollment of adolescents in Medicaid and SCHIP: recent progress, current challenges. Journal of adolescent health. 2003 Jun 1;32(6):25-39.

204. Fountain C, King MD, Bearman PS. Age of diagnosis for autism: individual and community factors across 10 birth cohorts. Journal of epidemiology & community health. 2011 Jun 1;65(6):503-10.

205. Landa RJ. Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders in the first 3 years of life. Nature Clinical practice neurology. 2008 Mar;4(3):138-47.

206. Charman T, Baird G. Practitioner review: Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder in 2-and 3-year-old children. Journal of child psychology and psychiatry. 2002 Mar;43(3):289-305.

207. Kotelchuck M. An evaluation of the Kessner adequacy of prenatal care index and a proposed adequacy of prenatal care utilization index. American journal of public health. 1994 Sep;84(9):1414-20.

208. Valeri L, VanderWeele TJ. SAS macro for causal mediation analysis with survival data. Epidemiology. 2015 Mar 1;26(2):e23-4.

209. VanderWeele TJ. A three-way decomposition of a total effect into direct, indirect, and interactive effects. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.). 2013 Mar;24(2):224.

210. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Int journal of surgery. 2010 Jan 1;8(5):336-41.

211. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination [Internet]. PROSPERO International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews. York, UK: University of York. [Updated 2020; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/Prospero/.

212. Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) [Internet]. Data collection form. EPOC resources for review authors 2017. Wiley. [Updated 2020; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://epoc.cochrane.org/resources/epoc-resources-review-authors.

213. Evidence Partners [Internet]. Methodological resources. Ontario, Canada: Systematic Review and Literature Review Software by Evidence Partners; [Updated 2020; cited 2021 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://www.evidencepartners.com/resources/methodological-resources/.

214. Neyeloff JL, Fuchs SC, Moreira LB. Meta-analyses and Forest plots using a microsoft excel spreadsheet: step-by-step guide focusing on descriptive data analysis. BMC research notes. 2012 Dec;5(1):1-6.

215. Maenner MJ, Shaw KA, Baio J. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2016. MMWR Surveillance Summaries. 2020 Mar 27;69(4):1.

216. Tonnsen BL, Boan AD, Bradley CC, Charles J, Cohen A, Carpenter LA. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders among children with intellectual disability. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2016 Nov;121(6):487-500.

217. McDermott S, Royer J, Cope T, Lindgren S, Momany E, Lee JC, McDuffie MJ, Lauer E, Kurtz S, Armour BS. Using Medicaid data to characterize persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities in five US states. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2018 Jul;123(4):371-81.

218. Maulik PK, Mascarenhas MN, Mathers CD, Dua T, Saxena S. Prevalence of intellectual disability: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. Research in developmental disabilities. 2011 Mar 1;32(2):419-36.

219. Huang J, Zhu T, Qu Y, Mu D. Prenatal, perinatal and neonatal risk factors for intellectual disability: a systemic review and meta-analysis. PloS one. 2016 Apr 25;11(4):e0153655.

220. Bilder DA, Pinborough-Zimmerman J, Bakian AV, Miller JS, Dorius JT, Nangle B, McMahon WM. Prenatal and perinatal factors associated with intellectual disability. American journal on intellectual and developmental disabilities. 2013 Mar;118(2):156-76.

221. Leonard H, Petterson B, Bower C, Sanders R. Prevalence of intellectual disability in Western Australia. Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology. 2003 Jan;17(1):58-67.

222. Hilton CL, Fitzgerald RT, Jackson KM, Maxim RA, Bosworth CC, Shattuck PT, Geschwind DH, Constantino JN. Brief report: Under-representation of African Americans in autism genetic research: A rationale for inclusion of subjects representing diverse family structures. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2010 May;40(5):633-9.

223. Wang Y, Tang S, Xu S, Weng S, Liu Z. Maternal body mass index and risk of autism spectrum disorders in offspring: a meta-analysis. Scientific reports. 2016 Sep 30;6(1):1-8.

224. Chen S, Zhao S, Dalman C, Karlsson H, Gardner R. Association of maternal diabetes with neurodevelopmental disorders: autism spectrum disorders, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and intellectual disability. International journal of epidemiology. 2020 Nov 22.

225. von Ehrenstein OS, Cui X, Yan Q, Aralis H, Ritz B. Maternal Prenatal Smoking and Autism Spectrum Disorder in Offspring: a California Statewide Cohort and Sibling Study. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2020 Aug 24.

226. Madley-Dowd P, Kalkbrenner AE, Heuvelman H, Heron J, Zammit S, Rai D, Schendel D. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and offspring intellectual disability: sibling analysis in an intergenerational Danish cohort. Psychological medicine. 2020 Oct 14:1-0.

227. Markovic M, Swanson SA, Stricker BH, Jaddoe VW, Verhulst FC, Tiemeier H, El Marroun H. Prenatal exposure to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and

neurodevelopmental outcomes in children. Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety. 2019 Apr;28(4):452-9.

228. Antonucci R, Zaffanello M, Puxeddu E, Porcella A, Cuzzolin L, Dolores Pilloni M, Fanos V. Use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in pregnancy: impact on the fetus and newborn. Current drug metabolism. 2012 May 1;13(4):474-90.

229. Nielsen GL, Sorensen HT, Larsen H, Pedersen L. Risk of adverse birth outcome and miscarriage in pregnant users of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: population based observational study and case-control study. British medical journal. 2001 Feb 3;322(7281):266-70.

230. Daniel S, Koren G, Lunenfeld E, Bilenko N, Ratzon R, Levy A. Fetal exposure to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and spontaneous abortions. Canadian medical association journal. 2014;186(5):E177-E82.

231. Masarwa R, Levine H, Gorelik E, Reif S, Perlman A, Matok I. Prenatal exposure to acetaminophen and risk for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autistic spectrum disorder: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression analysis of cohort studies. American journal of epidemiology. 2018 Aug 1;187(8):1817-27.

232. Ghanizadeh A. Acetaminophen may mediate oxidative stress and neurotoxicity in autism. Medical hypotheses. 2011 Dec 9;78(2):351-.

233. Kristensen DM, Lesné L, Le Fol V, Desdoits-Lethimonier C, Dejucq-Rainsford N, Leffers H, Jégou B. Paracetamol (acetaminophen), aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid) and indomethacin are anti-androgenic in the rat foetal testis. International journal of andrology. 2012 Jun;35(3):377-84.

234. Parker W, Hornik CD, Bilbo S, Holzknecht ZE, Gentry L, Rao R, Lin SS, Herbert MR, Nevison CD. The role of oxidative stress, inflammation and acetaminophen exposure from birth to early childhood in the induction of autism. Journal of international medical research. 2017 Apr;45(2):407-38.

235. Colborn T. Neurodevelopment and endocrine disruption. Environmental health perspectives. 2004 Jun;112(9):944-9.

236. Becker KG, Schultz ST. Similarities in features of autism and asthma and a possible link to acetaminophen use. Medical hypotheses. 2010 Jan 1;74(1):7-11.

237. Kristensen DM, Hass U, Lesné L, Lottrup G, Jacobsen PR, Desdoits-Lethimonier C, Boberg J, Petersen JH, Toppari J, Jensen TK, Brunak S. Intrauterine exposure to mild analgesics is a risk factor for development of male reproductive disorders in human and rat. Human reproduction. 2011 Jan 1;26(1):235-44.

238. Yood MU, Campbell UB, Rothman KJ, Jick SS, Lang J, Wells KE, Jick H, Johnson CC. Using prescription claims data for drugs available over-the-counter (OTC). Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety. 2007 Sep;16(9):961-8.

239. Verstappen GM, Smolders EJ, Munster JM, Aarnoudse JG, Hak E. Prevalence and predictors of over-the-counter medication use among pregnant women: a cross-sectional study in the Netherlands. BMC public health. 2013 Dec;13(1):1-9.

240. Kristensen DM, Mazaud-Guittot S, Gaudriault P, Lesné L, Serrano T, Main KM, Jégou B. Analgesic use—prevalence, biomonitoring and endocrine and reproductive effects. Nature reviews endocrinology. 2016 Jul;12(7):381-93.

241. Prescott LF. Kinetics and metabolism of paracetamol and phenacetin. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 1980 Apr;10(S2):291S-8S.

242. Forrest JA, Clements JA, Prescott LF. Clinical pharmacokinetics of paracetamol. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 1982 Apr;7(2):93-107.

243. Allison C, Williams JO, Scott F, Stott C, Bolton P, Baron-Cohen S, Brayne C. The Childhood Asperger Syndrome Test (CAST) Test–retest reliability in a high scoring sample. Autism. 2007 Mar;11(2):173-85.

244. Sun X, Allison C, Auyeung B, Matthews FE, Baron-Cohen S, Brayne C. The Mandarin Chinese version of the childhood autism spectrum test (CAST): Test–retest reliability. Research in developmental disabilities. 2013 Oct 1;34(10):3267-75.

245. Williams J, Scott F, Stott C, Allison C, Bolton P, Baron-Cohen S, Brayne C. The CAST (Childhood Asperger Syndrome Test) test accuracy. Autism. 2005 Feb;9(1):45-68.

246. Thompson SG. Systematic Review: Why sources of heterogeneity in meta-analysis should be investigated. British medical journal. 1994 Nov 19;309(6965):1351-5.